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Overview

Key grOup FigureS

revenue 

gross profit 

personnel expenses 

Operating profit before depreciation and amortization (eBitda) 

depreciation and amortization 

Operating profit (eBit) 

profit from ordinary business activities (eBt) 

net income after minority interest 

Cash flow

 

 

earnings per share**, undiluted (= diluted)

 

 

number of employees*** 

Of which temporary

404,348

97,447

39,484

57,830

7,547

50,282

53,377

29,207

44,396

[eur]

1.22

 [Qty.] 

1,111

(155)

2008

[EUR`000]

384,375

83,342*

31,759

53,895

6,793*

47,102*

50,322*

23,010*

38,655

[eur]

0.96*

 [Qty.] 

1,007

(148)

2007

[EUR`000]

* adjusted prior-year figures (see point 1.6.1 in notes to the consolidated financial statements) 
** number of shares: 24 million 
*** number of employees at end of year (active workforce)

oveRview1.
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report by the Supervisory Board

report by the Supervisory Board of CtS eventiM ag on the annual financial statements, the consoli-
dated financial statements and the management report for the company and the group as a whole for 
the financial year from 1 January 2008 to 31 december 2008.

i. Mr. edmund hug (Oberstenfeld), dr. peter haßkamp (Bremen) and prof. Jobst w. plog (hamburg) 
were the members of the Supervisory Board of the company during the reporting year. during the entire 
year, Mr. hug acted as Chairman and dr. haßkamp as vice-Chairman. no committees were formed.

ii. throughout the year, the Supervisory Board discharged its responsibilities as required by law and 
the articles of incorporation. it was regularly informed by the Management Board in writing, verbally, 
promptly and extensively about all issues relevant for corporate planning and strategic development, 
about the progress of business activities and the situation of the group, including risks and risk manage-
ment. the Supervisory Board provided the Management Board with regular advice concerning the man-
agement of the company, and monitored how the company and its group were managed. it ensured that 
management of the company was lawfully conducted, and was involved in all decisions of fundamental 
importance for the company. after thorough examination and consultation, the Supervisory Board sub-
mitted its opinion on the reports prepared and the resolutions proposed by the Management Board, to 
the extent that this was required by law and by provisions in the articles of incorporation. the activities 
of the Supervisory Board during the reporting year also included intensive involvement in acquisitions 
made by the company, consulting and deciding, where necessary, on giving consent to such measures. 
decisions were also taken using the written procedure, when so required. 

the Supervisory Board was kept informed by the Management Board not only at Supervisory Board 
meetings but also beyond such meetings – for example when transactions of special importance or 
urgency were being conducted. in the 2008 reporting year, the Supervisory Board met on 14 March 
(‘financial statements meeting’), 14 May, 3 September and on 13 november. the Management Board of 
the company also took part at these meetings and had an opportunity to comment on business activities 
of importance for the company. On the basis of the submitted reports and other information, the Super-
visory Board examined the general business development of the company and its various subsidiaries, 
in particular the achievement of the budgeted performance figures for revenue and earnings, as well as 
the growth of cash flow and the main projects carried out by the company and the group as a whole.

iii. at the annual Shareholders’ Meeting of the company held in Bremen on 15 May 2008, pricewater-
houseCoopers ag wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft in Osnabrück, a firm of public auditors, was chosen 
to audit the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements as at 31 december 
2008. the audit commission was duly granted by the Supervisory Board Chairman on behalf of all 
Supervisory Board members. 

the 2008 annual financial statements, the 2008 consolidated financial statements, the combined 
management report and the respective audit reports were submitted by the Management Board of the 
company to the Supervisory Board in timely manner, and were duly examined by the Supervisory Board. 

at the Supervisory Board meeting on 24 March 2009, the annual financial statements and the consoli-
dated financial statements for 2008, as well as the combined management report and the Management 
Board’s proposal for appropriation of profits, were discussed in detail with the Supervisory Board. the 
Supervisory Board was able to confer with the auditor, who also attended the meeting. 

the annual financial statements were prepared by the Management Board in compliance with the 
statutory regulations and were issued with an unqualified audit opinion by the auditor. 

RepoRt by the supeRvisoRy boARd

edmund hug 
Chairman

2.
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report by the Supervisory Board

having examined the auditor’s report, the Supervisory Board approves the annual financial statements 
as prepared by the Management Board, which are therefore formally adopted in accordance with § 172 
aktg (Stock Corporation act). the Supervisory Board also approves the consolidated financial state-
ments prepared by the Management Board for the 2008 financial year, to which no objections are raised. 
the Management Board’s proposal for appropriation of the balance sheet profit was reviewed and 
accepted by the Supervisory Board as according with the interests of the company and its shareholders.

iv. in accordance with § 312 aktg, the Management Board has prepared a report for the 1 January – 31 
december 2008 financial year on the relationships to affiliated companies, in which it is stated that, judg-
ing from the circumstances known at the time legal transactions requiring disclosure were conducted, 
the company received adequate consideration in each case and that no measures requiring disclosure 
were either effected or waived in the 2008 business year at the behest or in the interest of affiliated 
enterprises within the meaning of § 312 aktg.

the auditor provided the following unqualified audit opinion regarding the findings obtained during his 
audit of the report on dependencies: 

‘having audited and assessed the report in accordance with professional standards, we confirm that 

 (1) the disclosures of fact made in the report are true and correct, 

 (2) that the performance rendered by the company in connection with  
  the legal transactions detailed in the report are not unreasonably high.’

the Supervisory Board likewise examined the report on dependencies prepared by the Management 
Board and concurs with the audit findings. according to the conclusive findings of the Supervisory Board 
in the context of said examination, no objections are raised against the final declaration by the Manage-
ment Board contained in said report.

v. no changes were made to the composition of the Management Board during the reporting year.

vi. On 13 november 2008, the Supervisory Board and the Management Board issued their most 
recently updated joint declaration of compliance with the german Corporate governance Code, in 
accordance with § 161 aktg; this declaration was published on the company website at www.eventim.de. 

the Supervisory Board would like to thank the Management Board and all employees of the company 
for the work they performed during the 2008 financial year. 

March 2009 

prof. Jobst w. plogdr. peter haßkamp 
vice-Chairman

edmund hug 
Chairman
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Foreword by the Management Board

ladies and gentlemen,

2008 was our ninth year on the Frankfurt stock exchange and was characterised by a very difficult 
business climate. at present we are experiencing one of the worst financial crises of recent decades, the 
impacts of which have long been felt in the ‘real’ economy, and in which governments are compelled to 
put together enormous bail-out and fiscal stimulus packages. despite the crisis, CtS group managed 
even to exceed the record performance of the previous year and present the best figures ever achieved 
in the company’s history. 

 
MOre tiCKetS SOld than ever BeFOre

the ticketing business for music, cultural and sports events is booming even in the midst of financial 
crises, or, indeed, perhaps because of them. in total, more than 70 million tickets were sold in 2008 
using the systems developed and operated by the eventiM group – more tickets than ever before, in 
other words. we generated eur 404.4 million in revenue, an eBit of eur 50.3 million and an eBitda 
of eur 57.8 million, and are very satisfied with these results.

 
232 MilliOn viSitOrS tO Our weBSiteS

Our unique business model remains the cornerstone of our success – on the one hand, we are one of 
the major promoters of live entertainment, while on the other hand we are the leader of the european 
ticketing market. these two segments enable us to benefit from high synergy levels, an aspect that for 
years already has made CtS eventiM into a peerless success story. For anyone in germany and 
europe who is interested or involved in today’s entertainment industry, CtS eventiM is the dominant 
player that there is no getting around. Once again, our positive performance and growth is owed to our 
highly profitable ticket sales via the internet. in our view, this trend will also be the main driver of growth 
in the years ahead. we had over 232 million visitors to our websites in total last year, and the trend points 
clearly upwards. 

foRewoRd by the mAnAgement boARd

Klaus-peter Schulenberg 
Chief Executive Officer

3.
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Foreword by the Management Board

aCtivitieS in 18 COuntrieS

Our aim is to extend the strong market position we have meanwhile established in 18 countries, so we 
attach strong priority not only to organic growth, but also to geographic market expansion by making 
acquisitions and entering new partnerships. three examples from the year 2008 provide impressive 
confirmation of this strategy. we concluded a partnership agreement with the netherlands retail chain 
totaal gemak, with the anschutz entertainment group in germany, one of the world’s biggest concert 
and tour promoters, we signed an exclusive ticketing partnership, and with lippupiste Oy we took over 
one of the leading ticketing companies in Finland.

 
2009 will again See internatiOnal StarS playing in SOld-Out venueS

we are confident that we will continue to report encouraging news throughout the current year, because 
we expect a constantly high level of ticket demand for the concerts and tours offered by CtS even-
tiM. in 2009, a bevy of international stars, such as Bruce Springsteen, depeche Mode, Madonna, pink, 
aC/dC, elton John, tina turner and Coldplay, will be performing what are sure to be sold-out concerts in 
german halls and stadiums. Our programme is filled not only with numerous sports and cultural events, 
but also with major festivals that we ourselves organise.

 
targetS reMain aMBitiOuS

these events are the best foundation for setting ever-ambitious targets – the company is focused on 
rigorous expansion of internet ticketing and international expansion. i would like to thank you for the 
loyalty you have shown towards CtS eventiM along this exciting path and look forward to the 2009 
business year, which we are tackling with an optimistic frame of mind despite the current financial and 
economic crises.

Klaus-peter Schulenberg 
Chief Executive Officer
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CtS Shares

CtS ShareS – a SOlid inveStMent in diFFiCult tiMeS

the 2008 business year was a volatile one for CtS eventiM ag shares, not least on account of the 
various impacts of the international subprime crisis. as early as January, CtS shares reached just over 
eur 30. the interim high of more than eur 29 at the end of September was flanked by the two lows 
of around eur 20 and eur 19 that were seen in mid-July and late October, respectively. at the end of 
the year, the share price stabilised at just under eur 24. in the last analysis, however, CtS eventiM 
ag shares performed better than the SdaX index; in the last four months of 2008, especially, the shares 
managed to out-perform the index.

the CtS group maintained its consistent dividend policy in 2008 also. at the Shareholders’ Meeting on 
15 May 2008, the Management Board and Supervisory Board proposed that the same dividend of eur 
0.49 per share be paid again, as in 2007. this equates to a total distribution of eur 11.759 million for 
24 million no-par value bearer shares.

analyses of CtS eventiM ag are produced not only by the designated Sponsors – iCF Kursmakler 
ag on behalf of the dZ Bank and BayernlB – but also by the Berenberg Bank, Crédit agricole Cheu-
vreux, Morgan Stanley, dresdner Kleinwort, Sal Oppenheim, westlB, deutsche Bank and Citigroup. 
this means that CtS shares have unusually broad coverage. in the view of many analysts, the unique 
business model as well as the new, attractive and long-term partnerships make the shares an interesting 
and profitable investment.

Cts shARes4.
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CtS Shares

120 %

80 %

100 %

60 %

30 %

110 %

70 %

40 %

90 %

50 %

20 %

Jan 08 Feb 08 Mar 08 apr 08 May 08 Jun 08 Jul 08 aug 08 Sep 08 Oct 08 nov 08 dec 08 Jan 09 Feb 09

CtS SdaX

CtS ShareS (01.01.2008 until 28.02.2009 - indeXed)

Consolidated earnings per share

Cash flow 

high (Xetra) 

low (Xetra) 

year-ended-price (Xetra) 

Market capitalisation 

(based on year-ended-price) 

Shares outstanding on 31.12. 

Share capital after ipO

0.96* 

38,655,387

38.33

23.40

26.50

 

636,000,000

24,000,000

12,000,000

2007

[EUR]

1.22 

44,395,549

31.00

17.00

23.94

 

574,560,000

24,000,000

12,000,000

2008

[EUR]

type of shares 

Securities code 

iSin number 

Symbol 

First listed 

Stock exchange segment 

indices 

Sectoral index

no-par value ordinary bearer shares 

547030 

de 000 547 030 6 

evd 

01.02.2000 

prime Standard 

SdaX, prime all Share 

prime Media

* adjusted prior-year figures (see point 1.6.1 in notes to the consolidated financial statements) 
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Corporate governance report

CtS eventiM ag has always complied with nationally and internationally accepted standards of 
good and responsible enterprise management. For us, Corporate governance is a fundamental stand-
ard applying to all areas of the company. external directorships held by Management and Supervisory 
Board members are shown under points 18 and 19 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
related party disclosures are made under point 16 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
the Management Board provides the following report on corporate governance within the company – 
simultaneously on behalf of the Supervisory Board – in accordance with item 3.10 of the german Cor-
porate governance Code (gCgC):

 
1. COrpOrate gOvernanCe deClaratiOn purSuant tO § 161 aKtg

in the matter of compliance with the recommendations contained in the gCgC, the Supervisory Board 
and Management Board of the company submitted the following updated declaration of compliance in 
accordance with § 161 aktg on 13 november 2008, and made said declaration permanently available 
to shareholders on the company’s website:

‘CtS eventiM ag complies with the recommendations issued by the government Commission on the 
gCgC, in the version dated 6 June 2008, with the following exceptions:

in compliance with the regulations governing the prime Standard segment of the Frankfurt Stock 
exchange, interim reports are published within 60 days after the end of each reporting period (gCgC, 
item 7.1.2).

information relating to third-party companies in which the company participates is published only when 
such participations are included in consolidation (gCgC, item 7.1.4).

no Supervisory Board committees are formed because the Board consists of only three members 
(gCgC, items 5.3.1, 5.3.2 and 5.3.3).

performance-based compensation of Supervisory Board members has been waived for reasons of 
cost, since such a system would only make sense if accompanied by a substantial increase in the com-
pensation paid to Supervisory Board members (gCgC, item 5.4.5).

an age limit for Management Board members has not been specified by the Supervisory Board as yet 
(gCgC, item 5.1.2).

the d&O policies for the Management Board and Supervisory Board do not include any own-risk 
deductions to date (dCgK, item 3.8). these policies have been in place for several years and the com-
pany has no intentions of changing them.

although the agenda of the annual Shareholders’ Meeting and possibly some Management Board 
reports may be published on the internet in addition to the annual report, other documents pertaining 
to agenda items, such as contracts or annual financial statements, are not published in order to protect 
the company’s confidential information. these documents are made available to company shareholders 
only, in accordance with statutory requirements (gCgC, item 2.3.1).’

CoRpoRAte goveRnAnCe RepoRt  
foR Cts eventim Ag

5.
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Corporate governance report

2. OwnerShip OF COMpany ShareS Or FinanCial derivativeS relating  
 tO SuCh ShareS On the part OF ManageMent BOard and SuperviSOry  
 BOard MeMBerS

as at the closing date for the annual financial statements, 31 december 2008, members of the Man-
agement Board and Supervisory Board of CtS eventiM ag held the following quantities of no-par 
value bearer shares in the company (iSin de0005470306):

3. purChaSe Or Sale OF COMpany ShareS Or FinanCial derivativeS  
 relating tO SuCh ShareS By ManageMent BOard and SuperviSOry  
 BOard MeMBerS

during the period under review, executive officers of CtS eventiM ag engaged in the following trans-
actions involving no-par value bearer shares of the company (iSin de0005470306):

Members of the Management Board: 

 Klaus-peter Schulenberg (Chief Executive Officer)

 volker Bischoff 

 alexander ruoff 

 

Members of the Supervisory Board: 

 edmund hug (Chairman)

 dr. peter haßkamp 

 prof. Jobst w. plog

12,016,000

0

2,000

4,650

0

0

Number of 

shares

[Qty.]

50.067%

0.000%

0.008%

0.019%

0.000%

0.000%

share

[in %]

Transaction Trading day Number of units

71522.01.2008SaleSupervisory Board

Position

prof. Jobst w. plog

Name
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Corporate governance report

4. nOteS tO the ManageMent BOard COMpenSatiOn SySteM purSuant tO  
 iteM 4.2.3 gCgC and diSClOSureS On the individual COMpenSatiOn OF  
 ManageMent BOard MeMBerS, in aCCOrdanCe with the law gOvern- 
 ing SuCh diSClOSureS (vOrStandvergütungSOFFenlegungSgeSetZ)

the total amount of compensation paid to members of the CtS eventiM ag Management Board is 
disclosed annually in the notes to the annual financial statements of the company, and amounted in the 
2008 business year to eur 1.656 million. Compensation consists of fixed annual emoluments and a 
variable, performance-based payment. the agreed criteria for granting the variable component, and for 
the amount paid, are both revenue and eBit (earnings before interest and taxes), i.e. clearly defined, 
auditable and relevant success criteria that are continuously monitored by the Supervisory Board. the 
members of the Management Board also receive payments in kind, specifically in the form of an appro-
priate company car.

Stock options or similar components of compensation have not been contractually agreed and are 
not granted to members of the CtS eventiM ag Management Board, so no disclosures in this regard 
need be made. there are no contractual commitments regarding payments when Board membership 
ends. the amounts of compensation paid to the individual members of the Management Board and 
which must be disclosed by law are shown in the following table. 

Compensation paid to members of the CtS eventiM ag Management Board:

Klaus-peter Schulenberg 

volker Bischoff 

Christian alexander ruoff

Total

Name

600,000

250,000

250,000

1,100,000

Fixed salary

[EUR]

10,951

18,152

16,549

45,652

Benefits 

[EUR]

300,000

105,000

105,000

510,000

Management 

Bonus 

[EUR]

Total 

[EUR]

910,951

373,152

371,549

1,655,652
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Combined Management report

1. preliMinary StateMentS

in addition to standalone financial statements for CtS eventiM ag (hereinafter ‘CtS ag’) in accord-
ance with the accounting legislation in the german Commercial Code (handelsgesetzbuch - hgB), the 
Management Board has also prepared consolidated financial statements in accordance with the interna-
tional Financial reporting Standards (iFrS), complying thereby with all iFrSs and with interpretations 
of the international Financial reporting interpretations Committee (iFriC) as applicable in the european 
union (eu) on the balance sheet date. Consolidated financial statements reflecting applicable hgB 
principles were not prepared.

the management report of CtS ag and the group management report have been combined. unless 
stated otherwise, the information contained in this combined management report refers to the financial 
situation and business development of the group as a whole. information on the financial situation and 
business development of CtS ag as a standalone company are provided in separate sections or are 
shown by a reference to ‘CtS ag’. the accounting, valuation and consolidation methods are the same 
as those applied in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 december 2007. 

as at 31 May 2008, the purchase-price allocation relating to the acquisition of shares in ticketOne 
S.p.a., Milan, was finally completed within the stipulated 12-month period in accordance with iFrS 3.62. 
according to iFrS rules, the comparative figures for the reporting periods must be presented as if initial 
consolidation was already based on the final figures for the purchase price allocation. as a consequence, 
the comparative figures were adjusted with retroactive effect (refer to item 1.6.1 in the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements). the comparative figures in the income statement and the balance sheet 
relate to the adjusted consolidated financial statements as at 31 december 2007.

 
2. BuSineSS and MaCrOenvirOnMent 
2.1 MaCrOeCOnOMiC CliMate

in the course of 2008, the pressures being exerted on the german economy intensified significantly. 
a surprisingly strong first quarter was the only reason why the gross domestic product for 2008 still 
showed a price-adjusted increase of 1.3%. in the second half of 2008 the deceleration was mainly 
 attributable to the financial crisis. 

due to the fact that germany has shown considerable export strength over the present decade, while 
domestic demand has largely stagnated, the export ratio rose to just under 50% – a higher level than 
in other major economies. germany’s most important trading partners are especially hard hit by global 
recessionary trends, so their economic downturns are having adverse impacts on the german economy 
as a result of export weakness. the cooling of the global economy will lead to a substantial and possibly 
prolonged decline in the foreign demand so essential to the export-oriented german economy.

the economic recession and the turbulence prevailing on the international financial markets have 
started to affect the employment market. in december 2008, an increase in the seasonally adjusted 
unemployment figures was observed for the first time since February 2006. 

the downturn that took root in 2008 is set to continue in 2009. given the unfavourable climate for 
foreign trade, the real economy in germany is expected to suffer severe setbacks in the short term at 
least. a slight recovery is not anticipated until later in the year, although growth in the german economy 
will be weaker than its potential might suggest, thus leading to further declines in capacity utilisation. 

Combined mAnAgement RepoRt6.
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 Business output is expected to stagnate in 2009. the level of uncertainty in such forecasts is very high, 
with downward risks prevailing.

the current financial crisis had no noticeable impact on the performance of the CtS group in the fourth 
quarter of 2008. despite widespread consumer restraint, the ticketing segment, in particular, achieved 
revenue and eBit growth in the seasonally strong fourth quarter, just as in previous years. demand for 
live entertainment seems to be unbroken, even or precisely when the economy is going through difficult 
times. 

 
2.2 induStry-SpeCiFiC envirOnMent

the group operates in the leisure events market with its ticketing and live entertainment segments. 
CtS ag, the parent company of the group, operates in the field of ticketing and is the dominant player in 
that segment on account of its sheer importance for the ticketing segment. Statements made in respect 
of the ticketing segment therefore apply in particular to CtS ag as well.

Organising and executing events is the primary object of the live entertainment business. the situ-
ation in this industry is characterised by accelerated globalisation and monopolisation. Owing to its 
market position, the group is confronted in the live entertainment segment by very few competitors in 
germany, austria and Switzerland.

promoters of leisure events consider sales of their tickets to be the critical factor for their success. 
these sales activities are the basic object of the ticketing segment, which markets events (tickets) 
through its leading network platform (eventim.net), its in-house ticketing product (eventim.inhouse), a 
sports ticketing product (eventim.tixx) and a proprietary solution for ticket sales and admission control 
in stadiums and arenas. due to the networking and internationalisation of ticketing software at network, 
web and inhouse level, implemented in 2007, it has been possible since the preceding year that tick-
ets are offered across national boundaries in a standardised global ticketing system (global ticketing 
 System).

Besides the german market, the group also operates in the ticketing segment in other european 
countries (italy, Sweden, Croatia, the netherlands, austria, Finland, poland, russia, Switzerland, the 
Slovak republic, Slovenia, hungary, Bulgaria, romania, Bosnia-herzegovina and Serbia-Montenegro), 
where it competes with domestic and foreign network operators and ticketing software providers.

the events for which tickets are sold using the proprietary CtS ticketing software range from concerts 
of classical music, through rock and pop, plays, festivals, fairs and exhibitions to sports events, espe-
cially football. as the leading ticket supplier, the CtS group is superbly positioned in the market. that 
position has been reinforced and extended in the ticketing field by a broad distribution system featuring 
a full-coverage network of box offices, sales via call centres and internet ticket shops. By holding partici-
pations in leading german tour and concert promoters, the group’s position on these markets has been 
strengthened for the future as well.

the CtS group competes with national and regional network operators both in germany and abroad. 
the company enjoys competitive advantages over competitors, in that the CtS group operates with full 
geographic coverage in a variety of market segments using a networked ticketing system, and because 
it links all sales channels in a common database. another advantage lies in the group’s alliances with 
major promoters of live events, thus allowing a large number of different and attractive events to be 

17



Combined Management report

marketed though all the group’s sales channels. these competitive strengths were further enhanced in 
the 2008 business year by establishing and growing ticketing companies in other countries – also on the 
basis of the ticketing partnership deal signed in december 2007 with live nation worldwide inc. (here-
inafter: live nation), the world market leader in the live entertainment business.

 
2. 3 grOup BuSineSS perFOrManCe

in spite of the difficult economic climate, the CtS group grew with undiminished intensity during the 
past business year. Key performance figures are shown in the table below:

ticketing segment operations expanded both in germany and abroad during the 2008 reporting year, 
accompanied by substantial growth in internet sales, thus leading to the anticipated growth in revenue 
and earnings. 

hertha BSC, the german First-division football club, was acquired as a customer in the first half of 
2008. under the deal, the CtS group will manage the entire admission ticket system of that venerable 
club. 

totaal gemak, the netherlands chain of retail stores, signed a partnership deal with a member com-
pany of the CtS group. the link-up to the CtS platform means that consumers in the netherlands 
can now have access to CtS events throughout europe. tickets are also available in numerous totaal 
gemak stores. 

in the second half of 2008, CtS ag concluded a partnership agreement with the anschutz entertain-
ment group in germany (hereinafter: aeg). the american aeg is one of the world’s biggest tour and 
concert promoter, and the operator of numerous venues in the uSa and europe. the german opera-
tions of the aeg include major arenas (O2 world in Berlin and the Color line arena in hamburg), two 
teams in the german ice hockey league (del), namely eisbären Berlin and the hamburg Freezers, as 
well as the organisation and execution of events. Since august 2008, aeg has been selling tickets on a 
long-term basis and almost entirely via the systems provided by the CtS group. 

Revenue (before consolidation between segments) 

 ticketing 

 live entertainment 

 group 

EBIT

 ticketing 

 live entertainment 

 group 

Cash flow 

number of employees (at end of year)

120.1

288.0

404.3

34.6

15.7

50.3

44.4

1,111

2008 

[EUR million]

87.5

301.3

384.4

26.6

20.5

47.1

38.7

1,007

2007

[EUR million]
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european expansion included the establishment of CtS eventim Schweden aB, the Stockholm-based 
ticketing company. in Finland, shares in lippupiste Oy, tampere, were acquired.

in late September 2008, CtS ag extended the partnership it originally forged in 2002 with dertiCKet-
ServiCe Kt gmbh (dtS), a subsidiary of the M. duMont Schauberg group of companies and owner of 
the Kölnticket and rp-ticket brands. the long-term basis of the new agreement also gives both parties 
considerable scope for joint acquisition of major new customers in their respective additional segments. 
the partnership also secures market leadership for CtS in a key regional market in germany.

in October 2008, the CtS group was awarded the contract to provide ticketing services for the ‘van 
gogh and the colours of the night’ exhibition in amsterdam. From February to June 2009, the exhibition 
will show a unique selection of 55 works by the dutch painter, with amsterdam the only venue in europe 
where they can be seen. 

in the live entertainment segment, profits and margins were curtailed in comparison to the prior year 
not only by the fact that the 2007 business year was exceptionally successful, but also by start-up costs 
for new and wider-ranging types of events. notwithstanding these factors, however, the live entertain-
ment segment still managed to achieve its second-best net income for the year since the ipO in 2000.

the first quarter of 2008 saw the opening of the ‘tutankhamun – his grave and its treasures’ exhibition 
in Zurich. the exhibition represents a new type of ‘edutainment’ event, or entertainment married with a 
high level of academic information. in this case, the group is covering the entire value chain: namely the 
exhibition itself, the ticketing operation, the merchandise, catering, audio guides and the special events. 
Zurich was followed in the fourth quarter of 2008 by Brünn; other european venues are scheduled for 
the exhibition. 

in the third quarter of 2008, CtS ag signed a leasehold for ‘waldbühne Berlin’, one of europe’s best-
known open-air arenas. the contract commenced on 1 January 2009 for an initial four-year term. CtS 
ag has been one of the most important users of the venue for many years. in addition to the rock, pop 
and classical music events that are already successfully established there, the waldbühne will also be 
hosting new types of event and will significantly increase the total number of events per year. 

CtS ag, in a joint initiative with Free and hanseatic City of hamburg, Frank Otto and the hamburger 
Sparkasse ag (haspa), is supporting the continued existence of the Kontaktstudiengang popularmusik, 
a part-time higher degree course in pop music at the hamburg College of Music and theatre, com-
monly referred to as the ‘pop course’. in future, the ‘pop course’ will bear the name ‘eventiM popkurs 
hamburg’. 
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2.4 OrganiSatiOn and COrpOrate StruCture 
2.4.1 OrganiSatiOn

in addition to managing its own operative business, the most important tasks of CtS ag as parent 
company include corporate strategy, risk management and in some respects the financing of the CtS 
group.

according to the articles of incorporation, CtS ag as parent company has its registered office in 
Munich; the administrative head office is in Bremen.

the group companies are classified into two segments, namely ticketing and live entertainment.

the CtS group is managed decentrally to allow decisions to be made as close as possible to the mar-
ket. this means that the subsidiaries have considerable discretion in all market- and customer-related 
activities. the management and oversight structures as well as the compensation system are compliant 
with statutory requirements and are geared to long-term business success. For this reason, the compen-
sation packages for members of the Management Board are comprised of various components, specifi-
cally the non-performance-based fixed salary and additional benefits in the form of payments in kind and 
a performance-based bonus. the fixed salary and benefits are paid monthly. Benefits must be taxed as 
income by the individual Board member. the bonuses paid to each individual member are decided upon 
by the Supervisory Board on the basis of performance criteria. 

there are no contractual commitments regarding payments when Board membership ends. no loans 
are granted to Management Board members or their relatives.

reference is made to point 18 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and to point 4 in the 
Corporate governance report regarding details of individual compensation packages.

For the 2008 business year, the members of the Supervisory Board of CtS ag received emoluments 
totalling eur 80 thousand, as well as reimbursed expenses of eur 1 thousand.

 
2.4.2 ChangeS in grOup StruCture

in addition to CtS ag as parent company, the consolidated financial statements also include all 
 relevant participations.

in the 2008 reporting period, the following changes occurred in the group of entities included in con-
solidation.
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tiCKeting

in March 2008, the firm of ticket nord, herstellung und vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten gmbh, 
vienna, was renamed Ö-ticket nord west gmbh, vienna, and the firm of ticket express gesellschaft 
zur herstellung und zum vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten mbh, vienna (hereinafter: teX), sold 
a 49% interest in Ö-ticket nord west gmbh, vienna (formerly: ticket nord, herstellung und vertrieb 
elektronischer eintrittskarten gmbh, vienna). Since then, teX has held only 51% of the shares in that 
company.

in March and december 2008, CtS ag acquired in total 11% of shares in teX held by external share-
holders, and now holds 86% of the shares in said company.

in april and May 2008, CtS ag acquired an additional 6.6% of the shares in ticketOne S.p.a. (here-
inafter: ticketOne), an italian company domiciled in Milan, through an intermediate company and now 
holds 49.8% of the shares in ticketOne. 

in May 2008, CtS ag acquired the remaining 50% of shares in tSC eventiM ticket & touristik-
Service-Center gmbh, Bremen (hereinafter: tSC) and since then has held 100% of the shares in tSC.

in June 2008 CtS eventim Schweden aB was established on the basis of a shelf company and with its 
registered office in Stockholm. CtS ag holds 100% of the shares in this Swedish company.

in July and november 2008, teX acquired an additional 12.5% of the shares in ÖtS gesellschaft 
zum vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten mbh, Stainz, with the result that teX now holds 77.5% of the 
shares in said company.

in September 2008, CtS ag acquired 70% of the shares in lippupiste Oy (hereinafter: lippupiste), a 
Finnish company domiciled in tampere.

 
live entertainMent

in March 2008, FKp Scorpio Konzertproduktionen gmbh, hamburg, acquired the remaining 49% of 
shares in palazzo produktionen gmbh, hamburg (hereinafter: palazzo hamburg), and now owns 100% 
of that company.

in May 2008, eventiM popkurs hamburg gemeinnützige gmbh, a nonprofitmaking limited company, 
was established with its registered office in hamburg. CtS ag holds 100% of the shares in said com-
pany. 

due to its significant influence, greenfield Festival ag, hünenberg, was included in consolidation for 
the first time. in view of the 50% interest held by the group, the company is included at equity as an 
associated company in the consolidated financial statements.

21



Combined Management report

the corporate structure as at 31 december 2008 is shown in the following table:

gSO holding gmbh, Bremen

100.0 %

CTS EVENTIM AG, Munich

gSO gesellschaft für Software entwicklung 
und Organisation mbh & Co. Kg, Bremen

gSO verwaltungsgesellschaft mbh, Bremen

CtS eventim Sports gmbh, hamburg

tSC eventiM ticket & tourist- 
Service-Center gmbh, Bremen

ticket express gesellschaft zur  
herstellung und zum vertrieb  

elektronischer eintrittskarten mbh, vienna

Ö-ticket-Südost, gesellschaft zur  
herstellung und zum vertrieb elektronischer 

eintrittskarten mbh, wiener neustadt

Ö-ticket nord west gmbh, vienna

ÖtS, gesellschaft zum vertrieb elektronischer 
eintrittskarten mbh, Stainz

Ö-ticket-nordost eintrittskarten vertrieb 
gmbh, tulln

ticket express hungary Kft., Budapest

eventim Sports Consulting gmbh, Bremen

CtS eventim Solutions gmbh, Bremen

eventim online holding gmbh, Bremen

CtS eventim Schweiz ag, Basle

Zritel o.o.o., Moscow

Cardplus Oy, helsinki

CtS eventim Schweden aB, Stockholm

50.0 %

100.0 %

86.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

51.0 %

100.0 %

50.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

66.7 %

51.0 %

77.5 %

50.1 %

71.0 %

CtS eventim nederland B.v., amsterdam

teX hungary Kft., Budapest

71.0 %

100.0 %

rp-eventiM gmbh, düsseldorf

51.0 %

ticketOne S.p.a., Milan

49.8 %

t.O.S.t., ticketone Sistemi teatrali S.r.l., 
Milan

panischi S.r.l., Milan

60.0 %

100.0 %

MeduSa Music group gmbh, Bremen

eventiM popkurs hamburg  
gemeinnützige gmbh, hamburg

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur holding 
gmbh, Frankfurt am Main

dirk Becker entertainment gmbh,  
Cologne

peter rieger Konzertagentur holding,  
Cologne

Semmelconcerts veranstaltungs service 
gmbh, Bayreuth

argO Konzerte gmbh,würzburg

greensave gmbh, würzburg

FKp Scorpio Konzertproduktionen gmbh, 
hamburg

OCtOpuS gmbh agentur für  
Kommunikation, hamburg

Crp Konzertagentur gmbh, hamburg

palazzo produktionen gmbh, hamburg

palazzo produktionen gmbh, vienna

palazzo producties B.v., amsterdam

palazzo produktionen Berlin gmbh, 
hamburg

act entertainment ag, Basle

greenfield Festival ag, hünenberg

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur gmbh & 
Co. Kg, Frankfurt am Main

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur  
verwaltungs gmbh, Frankfurt am Main

peter rieger Konzertagentur 
gmbh & Co. Kg, Cologne

peter rieger verwaltungs gmbh, Cologne

lS Konzertagentur gmbh, vienna

pgM promoters group Munich  
Konzertagentur gmbh, Munich

94.4 %

51.0 %

100.0 %

73.0 %10.0 %

100.0 %

10.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

50.0 %

25.2 %

26.0 %

50.2 %

25.0 %

37.4 %

50.2 %

50.2 %

100.0 %

50.2 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

51.0 %

20.0 %

30.0 %

37.4 %

13.0 %

70.0 %100.0 %

Ticketing Live Entertainment

Show-Factory entertainment gmbh, Bregenz25.0 %

51.0 %

lippupiste Oy, tampere

100.0 %

40.3 %

29.7 %
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2.5 COrpOrate ManageMent

Company policy is focused on sustained growth in the value of the company. in order to manage the 
company according to value-based principles, a system of performance indicators is used to ensure 
efficient use of funds.

the key criteria for assessing the value growth of the operating business are the sustained increase 
of eBit (earnings Before interest and taxes), epS (earnings per Share) and cash flow. the group’s 
earning power is reflected in its ability to improve eBit and epS continuously by successfully expanding 
its business operations.

in 2008, as a result of its successfully implemented strategy of profitable growth, the group again 
achieved significant improvements in its key performance indicators relative to the prior year. at eur 
50.282 million, the group eBit was eur 3.180 million higher that the equivalent figure for the 2007 
business year (eur 47.102 million).

the aim of financial management is to ensure solvency and to maintain financial balance within the 
group. Cash reserves, in the form of overdraft facilities and cash, are held.

the CtS group manages its capital with the aim of maximising profits for shareholders by optimising 
the debt-to-equity ratio. the group companies operate under the going concern premise.

the capital structure of the CtS group comprises debt, cash and cash equivalents and the equity owed 
to investors in CtS ag. this shareholders’ equity is composed, specifically, of outstanding shares, the 
capital reserve, earnings reserve and minority interest.

a key variable used in capital risk management is the gearing ratio (according to iFrS), i.e. the ratio 
between net consolidated debt and group shareholders’ equity. risk considerations mean that the aim 
must be to have a healthy net debt/equity ratio.
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at the end of the year, the net debt/equity ratio was as follows:

net debt indicates the amount of debts a company has after all liabilities have been redeemed with 
current assets. the CtS group has more cash and cash equivalents than debt. the negative net debt/
equity ratio means that the group is de facto free of debt. the leverage of loan capital has positive 
effects on the return on equity.

 
2.6 reSearCh and develOpMent

in order to broaden the range of ticketing-related services, to tap into additional sources of revenue and 
to continue meeting the requirements of event promoters, box offices and internet customers, the ticket 
sales system is being constantly improved and expanded. the software development is predominantly 
carried out by development departments within the group. in the field of ticketing and software devel-
opment, the group has amassed a wealth of expertise. in order to tap into new markets, the group is 
planning further advancements in new technologies, such as chip tickets or mobile ticketing. research 
and development expenditure is mostly included in costs of sales, since these costs are for continuous 
improvement of the software. For this reason, no separate disclosure under research and development 
has been made.

 
3. earningS perFOrManCe, FinanCial pOSitiOn and CaSh FlOw 
3.1 eFFeCtS OF the FinanCial CriSiS On the earningS perFOrManCe,  
 FinanCial pOSitiOn and CaSh FlOw OF the CtS grOup and OF CtS ag

in the 2008 financial year, no significant negative impacts of the financial crisis were identified either 
in the CtS group or in CtS ag. Consumer demand for live entertainment seems to be unbroken, even 
or precisely when the economy is going through difficult times. due to the low requirement for external 
borrowing, changes in banks’ lending practices have not had any effects on the group. Since the CtS 
group and CtS ag pursue a very conservative strategy for monetary investments, there were no nega-
tive effects on earnings performance, cash flow or financial position. 

debts *) 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Net debts

Shareholders‘ equity **) 

net debts to shareholders‘ equity

30,016

-213,072

-183,056

125,437

-146%

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

22,743

-141,764

-119,021 

109,448

-109%

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

*)  debts are defined as non-current and current financial liabilities 
**) including minority interest 
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3.2 earningS perFOrManCe 
3.2.1 grOup earningS perFOrManCe (iFrS)

revenue

group revenue over the past seven years is shown in the following table:

revenue 

 

Cost of sales 

Gross profit

Selling expenses 

general administrative expenses 

Other operating income 

Other operating expenses 

Operating profit (EBIT)

Financial result 

Profit from ordinary business activities (EBT)

taxes 

Net income before minority interest

Minority interest

Net income after minority interest

404,348

-306,900

97,448

-29,915

-17,146

6,941

-7,046

50,282

3,096

53,378

-17,835

35,543

-6,336

29,207

384,375

-301,033

83,342

-23,250

-14,237

7,492

-6,245

47,102

3,220

50,322

-20,499

29,823

-6,813

23,010

19,973

-5,867

14,106

-6,665

-2,909

-551

-801

3,180

-124

3,056

2,664

5,720

477

6,197

[EUR`000]

5.2

1.9

16.9

28.7

20.4

-7.4

12.8

6.8

-3.9

6.1

-13.0

19.2

-7.0

26.9

[in %]

Change

01.01.2008- 

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

01.01.2007- 

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

384,375

404,348

in EUR`000

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

342,927

256,179

222,746

224,382

158,765
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group revenue increased by eur 19.973 million, or 5.2%, from eur 384.375 million in 2007 to eur 
404.348 million in 2008. revenue (before consolidation between segments) breaks down into eur 
120.130 million in the ticketing segment (prior year: eur 87.449 million) and eur 287.994 million in the 
live entertainment segment (prior year: 301.281 million).

the ticketing segment boosted revenue by 37.4% to eur 120.130 million (prior year: eur 87.449 
million), thus continuing its continuous growth in the 2008 business year. in the seasonally strong fourth 
quarter, especially, revenue significantly increased (by 50.6%) year-on-year owing to the launch, during 
the Christmas period, of pre-sales for major forthcoming tours (e.g. aC/dC ). the encouraging trend in 
this segment is powered not only by fast-growing internet sales but also by geographic expansion into 
other markets both in germany and abroad. around 232 million music and event fans (prior year: 164 
million) visited the group’s internet portals in 2008, particularly www.eventim.de and www.getgo.de, and 
bought around 9.6 million tickets in total (prior year: 7.1 million). this equates to a 35% year-on-year 
increase in internet ticket sales.

the live entertainment segment was highly successful in the 2008 reporting year. Compared to the 
previous record established in 2007, revenue decreased as expected by eur 13.287 million to eur 
287.994 million (down 4.4%). the prior year, 2007, saw an exceptionally strong boost to sales due to 
tours by herbert grönemeyer and genesis. in the 2008 business year, the absence of such mega-tours 
was somewhat compensated by better use of festival capacities and by concerts given by Madonna and 
Coldplay.

Of the eur 404.348 million in total group revenue in the reporting year, eur 325.686 million were 
generated in germany (prior year: eur 325.357 million), eur 39.163 million in austria (prior year: eur 
33.864 million), eur 4.992 million in the netherlands (prior year: eur 3.940 million), eur 641 thousand 
in hungary (prior year: eur 881 thousand), eur 3.219 million in russia (prior year: eur 2.782 million), 
eur 16.517 million in italy (prior year: eur 8.147 million), eur 12.880 million in Switzerland (prior year: 
eur 9.404 million) and eur 1.250 million in Finland (prior year: eur 0). 

 
grOSS prOFit

the gross margin achieved in the group as a whole and in the segments developed as follows:

group

ticketing

live entertainment

24.1%

 

55.9%

 

10.6%

2008 

[in %]

21.7%

 

57.3%

 

11.1%

2007

[in %]
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the consolidated gross margin increased as a result of the higher percentage share in consolidated 
gross profit now generated by the high-margin ticketing segment. gross margin in the ticketing seg-
ment showed a year-on-year decrease due, among other factors, to the implementation of the live 
nation project and to enlargement of the group of entities included in consolidation. in the live enter-
tainment segment, costs for new and wider-ranging types of event caused a reduction in margin in the 
2008 reporting period.

 
Selling eXpenSeS

the increase in selling expenses is mainly due to higher personnel expenses (up eur 2.522 million), 
to higher expenses for legal and consultancy services (up eur 777 thousand), to losses on receivables 
and allowances for doubtful accounts (up eur 1.030 million) and to advertising expenses (up eur 416 
thousand). as a percentage of revenue, selling expenses increased from 6.1% to 7.4%. 

 
general adMiniStrative eXpenSeS

the increase in general administrative expenses is mainly attributable to increased personnel expenses 
(up eur 1.307 million), legal and consultancy costs (up eur 254 thousand) and costs for temporary 
workers (up eur 206 thousand). the higher personnel expenses are particularly the result of acquisi-
tion-related changes in the scope of consolidation, of additional personnel recruited to implement the 
live nation project, and in the live entertainment segment from additional venues for events organised 
by the palazzo companies. as a percentage of revenue, general administrative expenses rose from 
3.7% to 4.2%.

 
Other Operating inCOMe

Other operating income decreased, mainly due to lower revenue from insurance compensation (down 
eur 615 thousand) and less other operating income (down eur 1.422 million). these decreases are 
offset by an increase in income from written-off liabilities (up eur 1.496 million).

 
Other Operating eXpenSeS

the increase in other operating expenses relates predominantly to expenses arising from currency 
translation (up eur 511 thousand) and expenses for third-party services (up eur 288 thousand).

 
Operating prOFit (eBit)

with an eBit margin of 12.4%, group eBit improved 6.8% from eur 47.102 million to eur 50.282 
million.

in the ticketing segment, the eBit figure rose significantly by eur 7.957 million from eur 26.633 mil-
lion to eur 34.590 million. a major contribution to earnings was again made by the further increase in 
ticket volumes sold through the internet platforms of the CtS group. the eBit margin fell slightly from 
30.5% to 28.8%, primarily due to additional companies being included in consolidation and to expenses 
incurred in implementing the partnership with live nation.

27



Combined Management report

the live entertainment segment achieved an eBit of eur 15.695 million (prior year: eur 20.459 
million), its second-best earnings figure since the ipO. the eBit margin came in at 5.5%, compared to 
6.8% the year before. Other factors accounting for this year-on-year drop in earnings and profit margin 
during the 2008 reporting period, besides the exceptional success achieved in the 2007 business year, 
were the start-up costs for new (‘edutainment’ event) and more wide-ranging types of events (expansion 
of event locations).

 
FinanCial reSult

the financial result, at eur 3.096 million (prior year: eur 3.220 million) includes eur 44 thousand in 
income from participations (prior year: eur 140 thousand), eur 172 thousand income from participa-
tions in associated companies (prior year: eur 17 thousand), eur 4.673 million in financial income 
(prior year: eur 4.475 million) and eur 1.793 million in financial expenses (prior year: eur 1.412 mil-
lion). distribution to minority interest (eur 93 thousand, prior year: eur 187 thousand) and the change 
in the present value of purchase price obligations in respect of put options (eur 904 thousand, prior 
year: eur 365 thousand) are stated as financial expenses in accordance with iaS 32.

 
taXeS

tax expenses fell in the 2008 business year by eur 2.664 million to eur 17.835 million. tax expenses 
comprise deferred taxes (eur 1.577 million, prior year: eur 1.531 million) and the tax expenses of the 
consolidated standalone companies (eur 16.258 million, prior year: eur 18.968 million). deferred tax 
income and tax expenses were formed on the basis of existing loss carry forwards and for temporary 
differences, and set-off against within tax expenses. positive net income generated by the standalone 
companies leads to deferred tax expenses via reductions in deferred tax assets. the taxation rate for 
the group as a whole decreased slightly in fiscal 2008 to 33.4% (prior year: 40.7%), partly due to the tax 
reform in germany. the increase in financial expenses, which according to iaS 32 is stated in the con-
solidated financial statements only, therefore causing no decrease in taxes, lead to an increase in the 
group taxation rate for fiscal 2008. the composition of taxes is shown in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements under point 4, taxes (11).

 
MinOrity intereSt

Minority interest decreased by eur 477 thousand to eur 6.336 million. lower earnings in the live 
entertainment segment were responsible for this decrease in minority interest.

according to iaS 32 rules, minority interests need not be recognised in companies with corresponding 
put options.

 
net inCOMe aFter MinOrity intereSt

the net income for the year increased by eur 6.197 million (up 26.9%) from eur 23.010 million to 
eur 29.207 million. the group earnings per share (epS) figure for the 2008 business year was eur 
1.22, up from eur 0.96 for the prior year. CtS ag, as a standalone company, accounts for eur 23.819 
million of the consolidated net income (prior year: eur 19.275 million).
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the CtS ag net income for the year in accordance with hgB, at eur 23.199 million (prior year: eur 
18.485 million), was adjusted, inter alia, by goodwill amortization that is eliminated under iFrS. the dis-
tributable earnings per share for the CtS ag standalone company were eur 0.97 in the 2008 business 
year (prior year: eur 0.77).

 
perSOnnel

due to larger workforces, personnel expenses increased by eur 7.725 million year-on-year from 
eur 31.759 million to eur 39.484 million. this increase in personnel expenses breaks down into eur 
5.643 million in the ticketing segment and eur 2.082 million in the live entertainment segment. the 
increase in personnel expenses in the ticketing segment results, inter alia, from changes in the scope of 
consolidation and from implementation of the live nation project. the increase in personnel expenses 
in the live entertainment segment is mainly attributable to additional venues for events organised by 
the palazzo companies.

Breakdown of employees by segment (year-end figures):

at the end of the business year, the group had a total of 1,111 employees (prior year: 1,007), of whom 
654 were employed in germany (prior year: 543), 165 in austria (prior year: 160), 11 in the netherlands 
(prior year: 2), 23 in Switzerland (prior year: 15), 126 in russia (prior year: 166), 98 in italy (prior year: 
108), 11 in hungary (prior year: 13), 16 in Finland (prior year: 0) and 7 in Sweden (prior year: 0). due 
to the greater number of companies included in consolidation, the size of the group workforce as at 31 
december 2008 was 23 more than a year before.

On average during 2008, the group had 76 more employees than in the 2007 business year.

 
develOpMent OF the tiCKeting and live entertainMent SegMentS 
 
tiCKeting

ticketing  

live entertainment 

Total

671

440

1,111

2008 

[Qty.]

654

353

1,007

2007

[Qty.]

revenue 

gross profit 

gross margin 

eBit 

eBitda

120.1

67.1

55.9%

34.6

40.1

2008 

[EUR million]

87.4

50.1

57.3%

26.6

32.0

2007

[EUR million]

99.3

62.8

63.2%

31.1

36.8

2006

[EUR million]

64.3

39.8

61.9%

19.3

23.6

2005

[EUR million]

42.1

23.1

54.7%

9.2

13.3

2004

[EUR million]

Ticketing
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Of the total revenue in this segment, eur 61.939 million (prior year: eur 43.047 million) were gener-
ated via the internet; this equates to internet revenue growth of 44%. revenue generated via the inter-
net accounted for 52% of total ticketing segment revenue in the 2008 business year (prior year: 49%).

 
live entertainMent

in the live entertainment segment, the second-best result since the ipO in 2000 was achieved, after 
the record performance in 2007. increased start-up costs for new and wider-ranging types of event led 
in the past business year to lower earnings and margin figures.

 
3.2.2 earningS perFOrManCe OF CtS ag (hgB)

revenue 

gross profit 

gross margin 

eBit 

eBitda

288.0

30.4

10.6%

15.7

17.7

2008 

[EUR million]

301.3

33.4

11.1%

20.5

21.8

2007

[EUR million]

247.2

26.2

10.6%

14.6

15.2

2006

[EUR million]

194.6

23.6

12.1%

13.5

13.9

2005

[EUR million]

183.4

21.0

11.5%

12.1

12.5

2004

[EUR million]

Live Entertainment

revenue 

 

Cost of sales 

Gross profit

Selling expenses 

general administrative expenses 

Other operating income 

Other operating expenses 

Operating profit (EBIT) 

 

Financial result 

Profit from ordinary business activities (EBT) 

 

taxes

Net income for the year

71,862

-30,503

41,359

-11,056

-4,625

2,821

-2,794

25,705

6,812

32,517

-9,318

23,199

54,882

-21,968

32,914

-10,235

-4,218

3,734

-2,430

19,765

8,362

28,127

-9,642

18,485

16,980

-8,535

8,445

-821

-407

-913

-364

5,940

-1,550

4,390

324

4,714

[EUR`000]

30.9%

38.9%

25.7%

8.0%

9.6%

-24.4%

15.0%

30.1%

-18.5%

15.6%

-3.4%

25.5%

[in %]

Change

01.01.2008- 

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

01.01.2007- 

31.12.2007 

[EUR`000]
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in the 2008 business year, CtS ag revenue increased markedly by eur 16.980 million, from eur 
54.882 million to eur 71.862 million. Continued fast growth in internet sales and a seasonally very 
strong fourth quarter were the key factors behind this encouraging revenue growth.

the gross margin came in at 57.6% (prior year: 60.0%). Margins were reduced by expenditures on 
implementing the partnership deal with live nation. 

Selling expenses rose slightly by eur 821 thousand from eur 10.235 million to eur 11.056 million. 
this means that selling expenses fell from 18.6% of revenue in 2007 to 15.4% in 2008.

the eur 407 thousand increase in general administrative expenses in the reporting year, to eur 
4.625 million, is attributable, inter alia, to higher personnel expenses and to legal and consultancy costs 
in connection with the live nation project.

the eur 913 thousand decrease in other operating income, to eur 2.821 million, was mainly due to 
lower income from the reversal of provisions (down eur 513 thousand), the reversal of allowances for 
doubtful accounts (down eur 193 thousand), from cancellation of liabilities and written-off receivables 
(down eur 142 thousand), from insurance compensation (down by eur 108 thousand ) and from 
foreign exchange gains (down by eur 81 thousand). the decrease is offset by eur 332 thousand in 
additional operating expenses passed on to third parties.

the eur 364 thousand increase in other operating expenses to eur 2.794 million results primarily 
from higher expenses for donations and third-party services. these are offset by a decline in transferred 
expenses and foreign exchange losses.

earnings before interest and taxes (eBit) amounted to eur 25.705 million (prior year: eur 19.765 
million). the eBit margin fell slightly to 35.8% (prior year: 36.0%).

the financial result dropped by eur 1.550 million from eur 8.362 million in 2007 to eur 6.812 million 
in 2008. the financial result includes eur 5.100 million in income in the form of dividends and trans-
ferred profits from participations (prior year: eur 6.746 million), eur 2.155 million in interest income 
(prior year: eur 1.662 million) and interest expenses of eur 442 thousand (prior year: eur 41 thou-
sand). interest expenses relate to long-term loans, the discounting of long-term loan receivables, and 
other financial expenses.

tax expenses fell by eur 324 thousand from eur 9.642 million to eur 9.318 million. the tax reform 
in germany led to a reduced taxation ratio.

at the end of the 2008 financial year, CtS ag had 142 employees on its payroll (prior year: 137). 
Compared to the previous year, personnel expenses increased by eur 453 thousand from eur 7.734 
million to eur 8.187 million, mainly due to implementation of the live nation project. 
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3.3 FinanCial pOSitiOn 
3.2.1 grOup FinanCial pOSitiOn (iFrS)

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

trade receivables 

receivables from affiliated companies 

inventories 

Other assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets 

property, plant and equipment 

goodwill 

deferred tax assets 

trade receivables and other assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

213,072

27,236

1,711

12,733

21,792

276,544

33,586

89,918

1,929

3,110

128,543

405,087

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

71,308

3,034

513

-461

-719

73,675

7,410

10,429

-2,039

2,397

18,197

91,872

Change 

[EUR`000]

52.6

6.7

0.4

3.1

5.4

68.2

8.3

22.2

0.5

0.8

31.8

100.0

 

[in %]

141,764

24,202

1,198

13,194

22,511

202,869

26,176

79,489

3,968

713

110,346

313,215

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

45.3

7.7

0.4

4.2

7.2

64.8

8.4

25.4

1.2

0.2

35.2

100.0

[in %]
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Current liabilities 

Short-term financial liabilities and current portion of 

long-term financial liabilities 

trade payables 

advance payments received 

provisions 

Other liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities 

Medium- and long-term financial liabilities 

Other liabilities 

pension provisions 

deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital 

Capital reserve 

earnings reserve 

Balance sheet profit 

treasury stock 

Minority interest 

Currency differences

Total shareholders’ equity

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities

5,026

33,126

84,086

8,425

119,874

250,537

24,990

1,052

2,247

824

29,113

24,000

23,311

119

72,445

-52

5,795

-181

125,437

405,087

2,094

6,802

31,340

-2,840

34,466

71,862

5,179

-1,050

-274

166

4,021

0

4

97

17,381

6

-1,358

-141

15,989

91,872

1.2

8.1

20.8

2.1

29.6

61.8

6.2

0.2

0.6

0.2

7.2

5.9

5.8

0.0

17.9

0.0

1.4

0.0

31.0

100.0

2,932

26,324

52,746

11,265

85,408

178,675

19,811

2,102

2,521

658

25,092

24,000

23,307

22

55,064

-58

7,153

-40

109,448

313,215

0.9

8.4

16.8

3.6

27.3

57.0

6.3

0.7

0.8

0.2

8.0

7.7

7.4

0.0

17.6

0.0

2.3

0.0

35.0

100.0

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

Change 

[EUR`000]

 

[in %]

31.12.2007

[EUR`000] [in %]
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the balance sheet total of the CtS group increased year-on-year by eur 91.872 million (up 29.3%) 
to eur 405.087 million. important balance sheet items, especially cash and cash equivalents, goodwill, 
advance payments received, other liabilities and shareholders’ equity increased relative to the prior year. 

Current assets rose by eur 73.675 million. this is attributable above all to a eur 71.308 million 
increase in cash and cash equivalents to eur 213.072 million. in the ticketing segment, the eur 
41.526 million increase in cash and cash equivalents consists mainly of ticket revenue from pre-sales 
for events in 2009 (ticket monies not yet invoiced), which are reported under other liabilities. liabilities 
from ticket revenue that have not yet been invoiced by the balance sheet date increased by eur 32.126 
million to eur 92.608 million. the eur 29.782 million increase in cash and cash equivalents in the live 
entertainment segment resulted primarily from pre-sales ticket revenues.

non-current assets, mainly property, plant and equipment and goodwill, rose eur 18.197 million to 
eur 128.543 million.

the eur 7.410 million increase in the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are attrib-
utable to eur 15.591 million in additions (including changes in the scope of consolidation) and eur 
11 thousand in foreign exchange differences, which exceeded depreciation and amortization, at eur 
7.551 million, and disposals, at eur 641 thousand. the eur 10.349 million in additions in the ticketing 
segment, (including changes in the scope of consolidation) are broken down into eur 8.086 million for 
intangible assets (customer base eur 1.595 million, software eur 5.495 million, trademark eur 996 
thousand), eur 2.091 million for fixed assets (mainly it hardware) and eur 172 thousand for financial 
assets. in the live entertainment segment, additions (including changes in the scope of consolidation) 
amounted to eur 5.242 million, of which eur 2.278 million were for intangible assets (including soft-
ware, distribution rights and trademark rights), eur 2.760 million for fixed assets and eur 204 thou-
sand for financial assets. investments made within the group were mainly financed from free cash flow 
and to a small extent by long-term loans.

the eur 10.429 million change in goodwill, within non-current assets, relates mainly to additions in the 
ticketing segment due to acquisitions during the 2008 business year. Of the change within the group, 
eur 1.391 million relates to put options recognised in accordance with iaS 32, which mainly result from 
a change in valuation on the balance-sheet date based on variable purchase price obligations. invest-
ments within the group were financed from free cash flow.

in accordance with iaS 36, existing intangible assets of indeterminate useful life and goodwill were 
reviewed in the 2008 financial year to determine whether they come under the new criteria as of the 
date on which they are first used. the review of useful lives and residual carrying values of all intangible 
assets led to the conclusion that no adjustments to goodwill were necessary.

assets tied up for the long term account for 31.7% of the balance sheet total (prior year: 35.2%) and is 
financed almost entirely with shareholders’ equity.
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Current liabilities increased by eur 71.862 million (up 40.2%). the main changes in current liabilities 
result from additions to trade liabilities (up eur 6.802 million), to advance payments received (up eur 
31.340 million) and to other liabilities (up eur 34.466 million). advance payments received by the live 
entertainment segment are reclassified to revenue when the respective events have taken place. the 
increased amount of other liabilities mainly include the liabilities, recorded in the ticketing segment, for 
ticket monies that have not yet been invoiced. 

non-current liabilities rose by eur 4.021 million, mainly due to an increase in medium- and long-term 
financial liabilities (up eur 5.179 million). the change in medium- and long-term financial liabilities 
results from increased external loans (up eur 4.095 million) in the ticketing segment, and from a vari-
able purchase price obligation, stated at present value, in connection with the acquisition of a newly con-
solidated subsidiary (up eur 3.701 million). this is offset by reduced liabilities from the recognition of 
put options (down eur 2.617 million). the decline in liabilities from the recognition of put options results 
from reclassification as current financial liabilities (down eur 2.304 million), since the put options may 
be exercised as from mid-2009. On the other hand, the liabilities from the recognition of put options were 
reduced by an acquisition of shares (down eur 1.379 million), which is offset, in turn, by an increase 
in the purchase price obligation from put options revalued at the balance sheet date (up eur 237 thou-
sand) and by compounding the liabilities from put options (up eur 829 thousand).

Shareholders’ equity rose by eur 15.989 million (refer to consolidated statement of changes in 
shareholders’ equity), mainly due to the eur 17.381 million change in balance sheet profit. the lat-
ter increased due to the eur 29.207 million in consolidated earnings in 2008, offset by the reduction 
in shareholders’ equity on account of the eur 11.759 million paid out as dividend. Minority interest 
decreased by eur 1.358 million from eur 7.153 million to eur 5.795 million. this change mainly 
results from proportional shares in the net income for 2008, minus distributions to minority interest in 
the 2008 business year, and from the effects of capital consolidation of companies newly consolidated 
in 2008. in accordance with iaS 32, the CtS group has applied said standard to equity instruments of 
minority shareholders holding put options. the put options held by certain minority shareholders are 
therefore disclosed under financial liabilities and not as minority interest.

the equity ratio (shareholders’ equity minus minority interest, divided by the balance sheet total) 
decreased from 32.7% to 29.5%. the main factor accounting for this lower equity ratio is the increase 
in the balance sheet total, due primarily to increased cash and cash equivalents resulting from advance 
payments received and ticket monies that have not yet been invoiced.
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3.3.2 FinanCial pOSitiOn OF CtS ag (hgB) 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

treasury stock 

trade receivables 

receivables from affiliated companies 

inventories 

prepaid expenses, accrued income  

and other assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets 

property, plant and equipment 

goodwill 

receivables from affiliated companies

Total non-current assets

Total assets

88,573

52

10,925

8,899

1,270

1,486

111,205

71,693

1,799

1,107

74,599

185,804

26,795

-6

1,684

1,590

682

-144

30,601

8,488

-327

1,107

9,268

39,869

47.7

0.0

5.9

4.8

0.7

0.8

59.9

38.5

1.0

0.6

40.1

100.0

61,778

58

9,241

7,309

588

1,630

80,604

63,205

2,126

0

65,331

145,935

42.3

0.0

6.3

5.0

0.4

1.2

55.2

43.3

1.5

0.0

44.8

100.0

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

Change 

[EUR`000]

 

[in %]

31.12.2007

[EUR`000] [in %]
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Current liabilities 

Short-term financial liabilities and current portion of 

long-term financial liabilities 

trade payables 

provisions 

accrued expenses, deferred income  

and other liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities 

Medium- and long-term financial liabilities 

Other liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital 

Capital reserve 

treasury stock reserve 

Balance sheet profit

Total shareholders’ equity

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities

500

5,455

9,671

66,771

82,397

4,500

1,051

5,551

24,000

23,821

52

49,983

97,856

185,804

500

1,765

1,804

20,911

24,980

4,500

-1,051

3,449

0

0

-6

11,446

11,440

39,869

0.3

2.9

5.2

35.9

44.3

2.4

0.6

3.0

12.9

12.8

0.0

27.0

52.7

100.0

0

3,690

7,867

45,860

57,417

0

2,102

2,102

24,000

23,821

58

38,537

86,416

145,935

0.0

2.5

5.4

31.5

39.4

0.0

1.4

1.4

16.4

16.4

0.0

26.4

59.2

100.0

the balance sheet total of CtS ag increased year-on-year by eur 39.869 million (up 27.3%) to eur 
185.804 million. the main changes on the assets side were the rise in cash and cash equivalents and 
property, plant and equipment, whereas the main changes on the equity and liabilities side concerned 
increases in other liabilities and shareholders’ equity.

Current assets increased by eur 30.601 million, or 38.0%, to eur 111.205 million. this change mainly 
arises from the eur 26.795 million increase in cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents 
consist to a large degree of ticket revenue from pre-sales for events in 2009 (ticket monies not yet 
invoiced), which are stated under other liabilities at eur 60.951 million (prior year: eur 40.368 million). 
the increase in ticket monies not yet invoiced is due to the pre-sales that were commenced in december 
2008 for some major tours, but for which the ticket monies will not be paid out until 2009.

non-current assets increased by eur 9.268 million or 14.2%, of which eur 8.488 million are property, 
plant and equipment. additions to property, plant and equipment, at eur 11.181 million, are offset by 
eur 2.683 million in depreciation and amortization and eur 10 thousand in disposals. Of the additions 
to property, plant and equipment, eur 6.589 million relate to investments in financial assets involving 
the acquisition of shares in subsidiaries. additions to intangible assets amount to eur 4.083 million and 
result primarily from further development of the global ticketing System (eur 3.162 million). invest-
ments in operating and office equipment amounted to eur 509 thousand, of which eur 274 thousand 

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

Change 

[EUR`000]

 

[in %]

31.12.2007

[EUR`000] [in %]
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were for it hardware for the box offices connected to the CtS ticketing software system. the cash 
outflows for investments in property, plant and equipment were financed from free cash flow and by 
long-term loans.

Current liabilities rose by eur 24.980 million, mainly due to an increase in other liabilities relating to 
ticket monies not yet invoiced (up eur 20.584 million). in addition, trade liabilities rose by eur 1.765 
million and provisions by eur 1.804 million.

long-term liabilities increased by eur 3.449 million. a eur 4.500 million increase in medium- and 
long-term financial obligations is offset by a reduction in liabilities relating to the acquisition of distribution 
rights, on account of scheduled repayment of eur 1.051 million.

Shareholders’ equity rose by eur 11.440 million to eur 97.856 million. this increase resulted from the 
net income for the year, at eur 23.199 million, offset by the eur 11.759 million dividend for the 2007 
business year that was adopted at the annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2008. 

the equity ratio was 52.7%, compared to 59.2% the previous year. the main factor behind this lower 
equity ratio is the increase in the balance sheet total, due primarily to increased cash and cash equiva-
lents resulting from ticket monies that have not yet been invoiced.

the return on equity (net income for the year divided by shareholders’ equity) is 23.7%, compared to 
21.4% in 2007. 

 
3.4 FinanCial pOSitiOn 
3.4.1 grOup FinanCial pOSitiOn (iFrS)

the amount of cash and cash equivalents shown in the cash flow statement is equal to the cash and 
cash equivalents in the balance sheet.

Cash flow from operating activities is derived indirectly from the consolidated net income for the year, 
whereas cash flow from investing and financing activities is calculated on the basis of payments.

Cash flow from:

 Operating activities 

 investing activities 

 Financing activities  

Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

105,778 

-19,374 

-15,096 

71,308 

141,764 

213,072 

01.01.2008- 

31.12.2008

[EUR`000]

23,962 

-18,757 

-17,036 

-11,831 

153,595 

141,764 

81,816 

-617 

1,940 

83,139 

-11,831 

71,308 

01.01.2007- 

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

Change 

[EUR`000]
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Cash flow from operating activities increased year-on-year by eur 81.816 million from eur 23.962 
million to eur 105.778 million. this increase in cash flow from operating activities results primarily from 
the eur 79.914 million change in liabilities. the increase in liabilities is attributable, above all, to the 
increase in advance payments received by the live entertainment segment, at eur 58.372 million, in 
ticketing segment liabilities for ticket monies that have not yet been invoiced, at eur 9.824 million, and 
in other liabilities, at eur 7.766 million. 

Cash outflow for investing activities increased by eur 617 thousand to eur 19.374 million and reflects 
the growth strategy of the CtS group. the eur 617 thousand increase mainly results from higher 
investments in intangible assets (software and rights), at eur 4.340 million, and in fixed assets (for new 
types of event), at eur 824 thousand; these increases were offset by reduced investment in connection 
with the acquisition of consolidated companies, at eur 3.935 million.

Cash outflow for financing activities decreased year-on-year by eur 1.940 million to eur 15.096 mil-
lion. this reduced cash outflow was principally due to external borrowing and less redemption of finan-
cial loans (up eur 6.799 million). these effects were offset by an absence of proceeds from additions 
to shareholders’ equity by minority interest and by larger distributions of profit to minority interest (down 
eur 4.860 million). the dividend paid to shareholders was about the same as the year before, at eur 
11.759 million. 

as at the balance sheet date, the CtS group had eur 213.072 million in cash and cash equivalents 
(prior year: eur 141.764 million). Cash and cash equivalents in the ticketing segment are offset by eur 
92.608 million in payment obligations for ticket monies that have not yet been invoiced (prior year: eur 
60.482 million), and are reported under other liabilities.

with its current funds, the group is able to meet its financial commitments at all times and to finance 
its planned investments and ongoing business operations from its own funds.

 
3.4.2 FinanCial pOSitiOn CtS ag (hgB)

Cash flow from:

 Operating activities 

 investing activities 

 Financing activities  

Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

44,214 

-10,660 

-6,759 

26,795 

61,778 

88,573 

01.01.2008- 

31.12.2008

[EUR`000]

29,051 

-21,095 

-12,161 

-4,205 

65,983 

61,778 

15,163 

10,435 

5,402 

31,000 

-4,205 

26,795 

01.01.2007- 

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

Change 

[EUR`000]
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Cash flow from operating activities amounts to eur 44.214 million, compared to eur 29.051 million in 
the prior year. this year-on-year increase in cash flow in the 2008 business year resulted mainly from a 
higher amount of other liabilities in respect of ticket monies for advance ticket sales for events in 2009 
(up eur 10.190 million) and from greater net income for the year (up eur 4.714 million).

Cash outflow for financing activities fell eur 10.435 million to eur 10.660 million. this fall of eur 
10.435 million is mainly the result of eur 13.145 million less investment in acquiring shares in  subsidiaries.

Cash outflow for financing activities decreased year-on-year by eur 5.402 million to eur 6.759 mil-
lion, principally due to external borrowing (up eur 5.0 million).

as at the balance sheet date, the cash and cash equivalents held by CtS ag total eur 88.573 million 
(prior year: eur 61.778 million). Cash and cash equivalents consist mainly of ticket revenue from pre-
sales for events in 2009 (tickets monies not yet invoiced), which amount to eur 60.951 million (prior 
year: eur 40.368 million) and are stated under other liabilities.

 
4. BrieF aSSeSSMent OF the BuSineSS year

CtS ag and the group as a whole achieved very successful results in the year under review. the 
key figures in the ticketing segment once again reached even better values. as expected, the live 
entertainment segment fell behind the record figures of the year before, but was still able to achieve the 
second-best result since the ipO. with these segment results, the CtS group fully fulfilled the target 
of improving on the prior year’s performance. this means that, even in times of economic and financial 
crisis, the CtS group achieved yet another improvement in its financial figures.

the group and CtS ag continued to implement their growth strategy continuously through organic 
growth, targeted acquisitions and a broader portfolio of services. this positive trend in the operative 
business was spurred by the growth in internet business, combined with tours by pop and rock stars of 
national and international fame that attracted both public and media attention.

 
5. apprOpriatiOn OF earningS By CtS ag

in the 2007 financial year, CtS ag generated net income (according to hgB) of eur 18.485 million. 
the Shareholders’ Meeting on 15 May 2008 passed a resolution to distribute a total dividend of eur 
11.759 million (eur 0.49 per share) to the shareholders. distribution was effected on 16 May 2008, and 
the remaining balance sheet profit of eur 26.778 million was carried forward to the new account.

in the 2008 financial year, CtS ag generated eur 23.199 million in net income (calculated according 
to hgB). the Management Board and Supervisory Board propose to the Shareholders’ Meeting that a 
dividend of eur 14.639 million (eur 0.61 per share) be distributed and that the remaining eur 8.560 
million be carried forward to the new account.
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6. dependenCieS repOrt FOr CtS ag

according to § 17 (1) aktg, a dependent relationship exists at the closing date with the majority share-
holder, Mr. Klaus-peter Schulenberg (the controlling company), and with companies with which he is 
associated. in accordance with § 312 aktg, a report shall be submitted which shall also be presented for 
review to the Supervisory Board and the auditor:

the report pursuant to § 312 aktg finishes with the following statement by the Management Board:

‘Judging from the circumstances known to the Management Board at the time legal transactions 
requiring disclosure were conducted, the company received adequate consideration in each case. no 
measures or legal transactions with third parties requiring disclosure were either effected or waived in 
the business at the behest of or in the interest of the controlling company or an affiliated company within 
the meaning of § 312 aktg.’

 
7. eventS aFter the BalanCe Sheet date

the following special events have occurred since the balance sheet date:

in October 2008, the CtS group was awarded the contract to provide ticketing services for the ‘van 
gogh and the colours of the night’ exhibition in amsterdam. From February to June 2009, the exhibition 
will show a unique selection of 55 works by the dutch painter, with amsterdam the only venue in europe 
where they can be seen. the van gogh Museum expects at least 800,000 visitors, two thirds of them 
from abroad. 

at the end of 2008, the CtS group signed a leasehold for ‘waldbühne Berlin’, one of europe’s best-
known open-air arenas. the contract will commence on 1 January 2009 for an initial four-year term.

in mid-February 2009, the planned merger of live nation and ticketmaster entertainment was 
announced. this merger is subject to approval by the antitrust agency and to the granting of consent 
by the shareholders. it is currently assumed that the planned merger in case of realization will not have 
any material impact on the existing ticketing partnership agreements between live nation and the CtS 
group. 

there are no other events requiring disclosure.

 
8. riSK repOrt 
8.1 riSK pOliCieS and riSK ManageMent SySteM

the group’s risk policy is geared towards systematic and continuous growth in shareholder value. the 
reputation of CtS ag and the group, as well as the individual brands are of great importance for the 
group.

reasonable, transparent and manageable risks are accepted if these are related to the expansion 
and exploitation of the group’s core competencies. the associated rewards must entail an appropriate 
increase in shareholder value.
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the Management Board is broadly guided by the following principles of risk policy:

 a) achieving business success invariably involves risk,

 b) no action or decision may involve a risk to the company as a going concern,

 c) risks in respect of earnings must be associated with corresponding returns,

 d) risks, to the extent that they are economically acceptable, must be hedged accordingly and

 e) residual risks must be controlled by means of the risk management system.

in order to identify, assess, manage and document risks at an early stage, the group operates a sys-
tematic and appropriate risk management system which is tightly integrated with business workflows.

Quarterly risk reports and an internal reporting system ensure that top management is promptly 
informed about potential risks affecting future development. risk management instruments, such as a 
reporting system with consolidated budget calculations, monthly financial statements and regular review 
meetings, are also used to identify and analyse the various risks, and to inform top management about 
the course of business in the individual entities. the risk management process is supported systemically 
by dedicated software – the ‘risk compass’.

thus, the risk management system operated by CtS ag not only serves the purpose of detecting exis-
tential risks at an early stage, as required by the german law governing enterprise control and transpar-
ency (Kontrag), but also detects any risks which might materially impair the earnings performance of 
the group. in preparing the annual financial statements, sufficient precautions were taken to cover for 
all discernible risks in the ongoing business, to the extent that the conditions for taking account of such 
risks in the financial statements have been met.

risk is transferred to insurers by taking out insurance policies with appropriate amounts of coverage. 
these policies mainly cover property damage and third-party liability claims. Some specific operational 
risks are also covered by insurance policies.

in addition, corporate management receives extensive advice from both internal and external experts 
when important decisions are being taken.

the auditor evaluates the efficiency of the risk management system and reports on his findings to the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board after completing his audit of the annual financial state-
ments. these findings are then used to further improve the early detection and management of risks.
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8.2 riSK CategOrieS

the CtS group classifies risks into four categories:

 1. Strategic risks

 2. Market risks

 3. performance risks

 4. Financial market risks

Of all the identified risks facing the group, the general and specific risks that, from today’s perspective, 
may have a significant adverse impact on the financial position, cash flow and earnings performance 
are briefly described below.

 
8.2.1 StrategiC riSKS

riSKS relating tO Future MaCrOeCOnOMiC trendS

given the current financial crisis, weaker global economic growth must be expected for the foreseeable 
future. the german Council of economic advisers expects the german economy to stagnate in 2009, or 
even to suffer a decline in economic output. if the turbulence on the financial markets does not abate and 
decisive action is not taken to combat the global downturn, the financial situation of private households 
and hence the demand for leisure events may be adversely affected.

however, past business trends have shown that such macroeconomic outlooks do not necessarily 
have an impact on the events market.

 
induStry, MarKet and COMpetitiOn

the group currently commands a leading market position in ticket sales. it is not certain that this mar-
ket position can be maintained. in providing their services, the group companies compete with regional 
and supraregional providers both in germany and abroad, as well as with direct ticket sales by event 
promoters. however, efforts are being made to expand on the company’s position as market leader 
by offering a range of special services, such as an exclusive pre-sale service on the group’s internet 
portals, the option of booking specific seats via the internet, or by launching the new ‘ticketdirect’ home 
printing solution.

risks also ensue from intensified globalisation and/or monopolisation on the entertainment market.
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8.2.2 MarKet riSKS

prOduCtS, ServiCeS and innOvatiOn

Further development of the CtS ticketing software (global ticketing System) occurs in a context of 
very rapid changes in the information technology field, involving a constant flow of new industry stand-
ards, new products and new services. there is no certainty that the CtS group will be able to launch 
new technologies in a timely manner and without impairing the speed and responsiveness of the system.

the group’s business operations and the shareholder value of its assets in the ticketing sector depend 
significantly on promoters selling their admission tickets via the CtS sales network and providing a 
certain proportion of the available tickets. the group believes that event promoters will continue to use 
these services in future, on account of the diversified structure of products and their distribution. this 
risk is minimised by acquiring interests in various well-known concert promoters at regional and supra-
regional level.

the group’s business operations and the shareholder value of its assets in the live entertainment 
industry are dependent to a significant degree on promoters continuing to offer artists of national and 
international renown, thus ensuring high attendance rates at events.

the CtS group will respond to any competitive and price-related pressures arising by new industry-
specific or customer-specific services and sales initiatives.

 
8.2.3 perFOrManCe riSKS

StaBility and reliaBility OF the it inFraStruCture Being uSed

the availability and reliability of the software and hardware used in germany and other countries is a 
key prerequisite for business success, in that any malfunctioning or failures may cause sustained dam-
age to the group’s internal and external processes or to the services it performs for its customers.

these risks are countered with many measures that are defined in a security policy adopted by the 
Management Board.

 
purChaSing

Being an it-based service provider, operator and supplier of ticketing systems and a promoter of live 
events, the CtS group works together with very different suppliers. potential risks in this area are coun-
tered by establishing quality standards in the supply and procurement process, and by procedures for 
tendering and project costing.

 
perSOnnel riSKS

the financial successes achieved to date are attributable in large measure to the activity and special 
commitment of certain key people with important leadership roles. Financial success will continue to 
depend on these managers remaining in the employ of the group, and on whether the group can con-
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tinue to recruit new, highly skilled personnel in germany and abroad. the management development 
programme provides dedicated support for, and advancement of management potential, as well as 
incentive systems.

 
8.2.4 FinanCial MarKet riSKS

CaSh FlOw riSKS

Cash flow is planned and managed to ensure permanent solvency and financial flexibility. Monies 
generated by advance ticket sales are deposited in separate service accounts until accounting for the 
respective event has been completed. Standard credit agreements with various banks are in place, but 
to a minor extent only. the extension risk is minimised by varying credit terms. due to the global bank-
ing crisis, taking out loans will be more difficult in the future, or will involve substantial surcharges, even 
when creditworthiness is excellent.

 
deFault riSKS

there are credit or default risks to the extent that a debtor is no longer able to settle the debt. the maxi-
mum default risk is equal in theory to the fair value of all receivables, minus payables owed to the same 
debtor if set-off is possible. in the annual financial statements of CtS ag and the group, allowances for 
doubtful accounts were made to offset identified default risks.

 
FOreign eXChange riSKS

the foreign exchange risks to which the group is exposed ensue from investments, financing activities 
and operating activities. within the group, some contracts with performers as well as licensing agree-
ments are transacted in foreign currencies.

 
taXeS

different opinions on fiscal matters may lead to subsequent tax demands being imposed that have 
adverse impacts on the financial situation. a fiscal audit of the group is currently being conducted in 
respect of the years 2000 to 2004.

 
litigatiOn and ClaiMS FOr daMageS

pending litigation and damages claims are reported under point 12 in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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8.3  nO riSKS tO the COntinued eXiStenCe OF CtS ag and the grOup  
 aS a gOing COnCern

an overview of risks shows that the group is mainly exposed to market and performance risks. the 
Management Board currently assumes that the risks are limited and transparent on the whole and that 
they do not jeopardise CtS ag and the group as a going concern. nor are there any identifiable risks 
that might jeopardise their continued existence as a going concern.

 
9. ManageMent BOard repOrt purSuant tO § 120 (3) SentenCe 2 aKtg, On  
 the diSClOSureS Made in aCCOrdanCe with §§ 289 (4) and 315 (4) hgB

the registered capital of CtS ag is eur 24,000,000, divided into 24,000,000 no-par value bearer 
shares. each share entitles the bearer to one vote.

the Management Board of the Company is not aware of any restrictions on voting rights or on the 
transfer of shares.

Mr. Klaus-peter Schulenberg, Bremen, holds 50.067% of the voting rights. the Company has no 
knowledge of any other shareholdings, direct or indirect, that exceed 10% of the voting rights.

Shares with special controlling rights (‘golden shares’) do not exist.

there are no special procedures for monitoring voting rights in the event that employees hold shares 
in the Company’s capital.

appointment and dismissal of Management Board members is governed by §§ 84 and 85 aktg and by 
§ 5 iii 3 of the Company’s articles of incorporation, according to which the members of the Management 
Board are appointed (and dismissed) by the Supervisory Board for a maximum of five years. re-appoint-
ments are permissible. according to § 5 i of the articles, the Management Board comprises two or more 
persons; the number of members is determined by the Supervisory Board, which may also nominate a 
member of the Management Board as its Chairman pursuant to § 84 aktg.

according to § 179 (1) aktg, the articles of incorporation may be amended by a shareholder resolution, 
which requires a majority equal to at least three-quarters of the registered capital present at voting (§ 
179 (2) aktg). § 8 (8) of the CtS ag articles of incorporation avail of the option provided for in § 179 (2) 
aktg, and defines that resolutions may be adopted with a simple majority of votes cast and, if a majority 
of share capital is required, with a simple majority of the share capital. Shareholder resolutions for which 
a qualified majority of votes or share capital is required by law, are adopted at the Shareholders’ Meeting 
by a two-thirds majority unless otherwise stipulated by mandatory statutory provisions.

the Management Board has been authorised to increase the registered capital by up to eur 12,000,000 
by 31 July 2009, contingent on Supervisory Board approval, by issuing up to 12,000,000 new bearer 
shares against cash contributions or contributions in kind (approved capital, 2004).

the Management Board has also been authorised to increase the share capital by up to eur 360,000, 
contingent on Supervisory Board approval, by issuing up to 360,000 bearer shares to holders exercis-
ing options issued under the Stock Option plan on the basis of the authorisation granted on 21 January 
2000 (‘contingent capital 2001/1’).
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the Management Board has also been authorised to issue stock options and convertible bonds to a 
total value of up to eur 275 million and with a maximum term of 20 years, conditional on Supervisory 
Board approval, by 14 May 2013, to grant the holders option and conversion rights to up to 11,000,000 
new no-par bearer shares in the company, equal to share capital of up to eur 11,000,000, and to 
exclude shareholders, within legally permitted limits, from subscribing to the convertible bonds under 
certain conditions. in view of the possible issue of shares to holders of option and conversion rights on 
the basis of this authorisation, an additional eur 11,000,000 in contingent capital has been created 
(‘contingent capital 2008’). 

the company is authorised to purchase, by 14 november 2009 and as treasury stock, up to 10% of 
the 24,000,000 no-par value bearer shares forming the registered share capital of the company, at the 
price and subject to the conditions defined in the authorisation resolution dated 15 May 2008, and to 
use these treasury shares for certain purposes, partially also with exclusion of subscription rights for 
shareholders.

no disclosures need to be made regarding material agreements concluded by the Company which are 
contingent on a change of control following a takeover bid, or regarding the effects ensuing therefrom.

there are no compensation agreements with members of the Management Board or employees that 
shall take effect in the event of a takeover bid.

 
10. OutlOOK

in the years ahead, the CtS group will continue to maintain its basic strategic direction as leader of 
the european ticketing market. 

Of the many opportunities available, some of those which are especially important for both CtS ag 
and the group are highlighted below. 

priorities are the development of new technologies and products, expansion of internet ticketing, 
organic growth and the systematic acquisition of companies in other european countries. despite 
anticipated consumer restraint in 2009, it is still expected that there will be positive stimuli for business 
growth and further improvements in performance figures. Just when the economy is going through a dif-
ficult patch, demand for top-class live entertainment seems to be unbroken. there is also a continuous 
increase in demand for online ticket buying.

the unique CtS business model is a key success factor. the combination of live entertainment and 
ticketing safeguards the group’s market leadership. in the live entertainment segment, the group has 
an excellent basis in its subsidiaries and participations. with world-class tours and events, this segment 
will continue to profit from the marketing operations of the ticketing segment, which leads the field, and 
vice versa. 

with its exclusive presales service, reservation of specific seats via the internet, print-at-home solu-
tions, the mobile access control system ‘eventim.access mobile’, and tailored products for corporate 
customers, among other products, the CtS group is already an acknowledged leader. the group is 
superbly positioned throughout europe and see various opportunities for intensifying its growth. 
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if business expectations and strategic plans based on an event market that is independent of ups and 
downs in the economy come to fruition, further business advancement can be expected in 2009 and 
2010. global uncertainties brought about by the financial and economic crises may nevertheless have 
negative impacts on the event market and hence on the business development of the CtS group. 

the amount of dividend in the future will be based on earnings and on the strategic development of 
the group. 

 
FOrward-lOOKing StateMentS

in addition to historical financial data, this report may contain forward-looking statements using terms 
such as ‘believe’, ‘assume’, ‘expect’ and the like. Such statements may deviate, by their very nature, 
from actual future events or developments.

 
Bremen, 13 March 2009

CtS eventiM aktiengesellschaft

the Management Board
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Consolidated Financial Statements 2008

ConsolidAted finAnCiAl stAtements 2008

CONSOLIdATEd BALANCE ShEET AS AT 31 dECEMBER 2008 (IFRS)

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

trade receivables 

receivables from affiliated companies 

inventories 

receivables from income tax 

Other assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets 

Fixed assets 

intangible assets 

Financial assets 

investments stated at equity 

loans 

trade receivables 

receivables from affiliated companies 

Other assets 

goodwill  

deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

31.12.2008

[EUR]

141,764,029

24,202,044

1,197,624

13,193,872

3,991,762

18,519,660

202,868,991

7,795,323

15,051,394*

998,334

32,816

2,298,373

602

662,784

49,347

79,488,696*

3,968,358*

110,346,027

313,215,018

31.12.2007

[EUR]

213,072,414

27,235,993

1,710,616

12,732,614

6,974,903

14,817,696

276,544,236

9,165,178

21,176,175

1,155,619

224,484

1,864,798

1,329,820

1,716,063

63,704

89,917,550

1,929,144

128,542,535

405,086,771

ASSETS

 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6)

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

(10) 

(11) 

(12) 

(13) 

(14) 

(15) 

(16)

* adjusted prior-year figures (see point 1.6.1 in notes to the consolidated financial statements)

7.
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Current liabilities 

Short-term financial liabilities and current portion  

of long-term financial liabilities 

trade payables 

payables to affiliated companies 

advance payments received 

Other provisions 

tax provisions 

Other liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Medium- and long-term financial liabilities 

Other liabilities 

pension provisions 

deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital 

Capital reserve 

earnings reserve 

Balance sheet profit 

treasury stock 

Minority interest 

Currency differences

Total shareholders’ equity

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities

31.12.2008

[EUR]

2,932,391

26,036,589

286,860

52,746,177

1,121,725

10,143,003

85,408,291

178,675,036

19,810,751

2,102,000

2,521,589

658,180*

25,092,520

24,000,000

23,306,832

22,296

55,063,582*

-57,638

7,152,876

-40,486

109,447,462

313,215,018

31.12.2007

[EUR]

5,026,156

31,692,689

1,432,502

84,085,940

1,159,968

7,265,149

119,874,519

250,536,923

24,989,406

1,052,324

2,247,016

824,047

29,112,793

24,000,000

23,310,940

118,626

72,445,380

-52,070

5,794,783

-180,604

125,437,055

405,086,771

ShAREhOLdERS’ EQUITy ANd LIABILITIES

(17) 

(18) 

(19) 

(20) 

(21) 

(22) 

(23)

(24) 

(25) 

(26) 

(27)

 

(28)

* adjusted prior-year figures (see point 1.6.1 in notes to the consolidated financial statements)
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CONSOLIdATEd INCOME STATEMENT FOR ThE PERIOd FROM  
1 JANUARy TO 31 dECEMBER 2008 (IFRS)

revenue 

Cost of sales 

Gross profit

Selling expenses 

general administrative expenses 

Other operating income 

Other operating expenses 

Operating profit (EBIT)

income / expenses from companies in which participations are held 

income / expenses from investments stated at equity 

Financial income 

Financial expenses 

Profit from ordinary business activities (EBT)

taxes 

Net income before minority interest

Minority interest 

Net income after minority interest

 earnings per share (in eur); undiluted (= diluted) 

 average number of shares in circulation; undiluted (= diluted)

01.01.2008- 

31.12.2008

[EUR]

384,375,097

-301,032,724*

83,342,373

-23,249,929*

-14,237,453*

7,492,475

-6,245,170

47,102,296

139,917

17,263

4,475,296

-1,412,572

50,322,200

-20,498,781*

29,823,419

-6,813,184

23,010,235

0,96*

24,000,000

01.01.2007- 

31.12.2007

[EUR]

404,347,753

-306,900,351

97,447,402

-29,914,455

-17,146,159

6,941,325

-7,045,616

50,282,497

44,080

172,206

4,671,834

-1,793,434

53,377,183

-17,834,712

35,542,471

-6,335,823

29,206,648

1,22

24,000,000

(1) 

(2)

 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6)

 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

(10)

 

(11)

 

(12)

* adjusted prior-year figures (see point 1.6.1 in notes to the consolidated financial statements)
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Status 01.01.2007 

Currency  

differences 

Change in scope 

of consolidation 

purchase  

treasury stock 

allocation to  

earnings reserve 

Change in  

minority interest 

put option 

distribution 

net income  

Status 31.12.2007

Currency  

differences 

Change in scope 

of consolidation 

Change in  

treasury stock 

allocation to  

capital reserve 

allocation to  

earnings reserve 

Change in  

minority interest 

put option 

distribution 

net income 

Status 31.12.2008

Share capital

[EUR]

Total share-
holders’ equity

[EUR]

Currency  
differences

[EUR]

Minority  
interest

[EUR]

Treasury stock

[EUR]

Balance  
sheet profit

[EUR]

Earnings 
reserve

[EUR]

Capital reserve

[EUR]

24,000,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

24,000,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

24,000,000

0

0

0

0

22,296

0

0

0

22,296

 

0

0

0

0

96,330

0

0

0 

118,626

0

0

0

-57,638

0

0

0

0

-57,638

0

0

5,568

0

0

0

0

0

-52,070

741

-41,227

0

0

0

0

0

0

-40,486

-140,118

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-180,604

23,302,357

0

4,475

0

0

0

0

0

23,306,832

0

0

0

4,108

0

0

0

0

23,310,940

43,813,348

0

0

0

0

0

-11,760,000

23,010,235*

55,063,582*

0

0

0

0

-65,916

0

-11,758,934

29,206,648

72,445,380

4,128,607

0

89,508

0

0

620,704

-4,499,127

6,813,184

7,152,876

0

-429,600

0

0

0

74,744

-7,339,060

6,335,823

5,794,783

95,245,053

-41,227

93,983

-57,638

22,296

620,704

-16,259,127

29,823,419

109,447,462

-140,118

-429,600

5,568

4,108

30,414

74,744

-19,097,994

35,542,471

125,437,055

CONSOLIdATEd STATEMENT OF ChANGES IN ShAREhOLdERS’ EQUITy (IFRS)

* adjusted prior-year figures (see point 1.6.1 in notes to the consolidated financial statements)
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CONSOLIdATEd CASh FLOw STATEMENT FOR ThE PERIOd FROM  
1 JANUARy TO 31 dECEMBER 2008 (IFRS)

A. Cash flow from operating activities 

 net income after minority interest 

 Minority interest 

 depreciation and amortization on property, plant and equipment 

 appreciation on property, plant and equipment 

 additions to pension provisions 

 deferred tax expenses / income

 Cash flow 

 Other cash-neutral expenses / income

 Book profit / loss from disposal of intangible and fixed assets 

 interest income 

 interest expenses 

 income tax expenses 

 interest received 

 interest paid 

 income taxes paid 

 increase / decrease in inventories; payments on account 

 increase / decrease in receivables and other assets 

 increase / decrease in provisions 

 increase / decrease in liabilities 

 Cash flow from operating activities 

B. Cash flow from investing activities 

 payments for investments in intangible assets 

 payments for investments in fixed assets 

 payments for investments in financial assets 

 proceeds from sales of fixed assets 

 proceeds from sales of financial assets 

 proceeds from sales of shares in consolidated companies 

 payments for acquisition of consolidated companies

 Cash flow from investing activities 

C. Cash flow from financing activities 

 proceeds from equity increase by minority interest 

 payments for redemption of financing loans 

 proceeds from borrowing financing loans 

 distribution of profits to minority interest 

 distribution of profits to shareholders

 Cash flow from financing activities 

d. Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

E. Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

F. Composition of cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(3)

01.01.2008- 

31.12.2008

[EUR]

23,010,235* 

6,813,184 

7,286,448* 

-129,850 

144,614 

1,530,756* 

38,655,387 

125,537 

-13,191 

-3,899,093 

903,464 

18,968,028 

3,749,071 

-240,720 

-16,327,252 

5,468,350 

-6,479,850* 

-2,339,059 

-14,608,411* 

23,962,261 

-3,497,987 

-3,891,186 

-789,667 

36,363 

606,871 

0 

-11,221,506 

-18,757,112 

2,177,030 

-2,709,745 

0 

-4,743,263 

-11,760,000 

-17,035,978 

-11,830,829 

153,594,858 

141,764,029 

141,764,029 

141,764,029 

01.01.2007- 

31.12.2007

[EUR]

29,206,648 

6,335,823 

7,550,677 

0 

-274,573 

1,576,974 

44,395,549 

712,133 

-14,701 

-4,246,173 

1,790,202 

16,257,737 

4,182,477 

-755,600 

-22,000,608 

492,090 

-3,231,658 

2,891,488 

65,305,742 

105,778,678 

-7,837,667 

-4,715,219 

-204,885 

176,800 

475,323 

17,805 

-7,286,325

-19,374,168 

0 

-910,449 

5,000,000 

-7,426,742 

-11,758,934 

-15,096,125 

71,308,385 

141,764,029 

213,072,414

213,072,414 

213,072,414 

the following cash flow statement states the flow of funds from operating activities, investing activities 
and financing activities of the group, and the resultant change in cash and cash equivalents:

* adjusted prior-year figures (see point 1.6.1 in notes to the consolidated financial statements)
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nOteS tO the COnSOlidated FinanCial StateMentS FOr the FinanCial BuSineSS 
year FrOM 1 January – 31 deCeMBer 2008 (iFrS)

 
1. prinCipleS 
1.1 StruCture and BuSineSS OperatiOnS OF the grOup

the company is registered as CtS eventiM ag (hereinafter: CtS ag), dingolfingerstrasse 6, 
d-81673 Munich, germany, in the Commercial register at Munich local Court under no. hrB 156963. 
the company’s head office is in Bremen, germany. Shares in CtS ag are traded under securities code 
547030 in the SdaX segment of the Frankfurt Stock exchange.

the objects of the company in the ticketing segment are the production, sale, brokering, distribution 
and marketing of tickets for concerts, theatre, art, sports and other events in germany and abroad, par-
ticularly in the Federal republic of germany and other european countries, in particular by using elec-
tronic data processing and modern communication and data transmission technologies. Further objects 
of the company are the production, sale, brokering, distribution and marketing of merchandising articles 
and travel, as well as direct marketing activities of all kinds. the company competes for the provision of 
its services not only with regional and supraregional providers of similar services in germany and other 
countries, but also with regional enterprises and with direct ticket selling by the respective promoters. 
the objects of the live entertainment segment, in addition, are the planning, preparation and execution 
of events, in particular music events and concerts, and the marketing of music productions.

the annual financial statements of CtS ag and the consolidated financial statements of CtS ag, bear-
ing the unqualified audit opinion of pricewaterhouseCoopers aktiengesellschaft wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft, Osnabrück, are published in the electronic Federal gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

these consolidated financial statements and the summarised combined management report were 
approved by the Management Board of CtS ag on 13 March 2009, for presentation to the Supervisory 
Board.

 
1.2 aCCOunting prinCipleS

these consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the international Financial 
reporting Standards (iFrS), in the form applicable within the european union (eu), and in accordance 
with the supplementary accounting regulations pursuant to § 315a (1) of the german Commercial Code 
(hgB). all iFrSs issued by the international accounting Standards Board (iaSB) and applicable when 
these consolidated financial statements were prepared have been adopted by the european Commis-
sion for use in the eu. the consolidated financial statements were prepared on the basis of historical 
purchase and production costs, limited by the recognition of financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, which are carried at fair value.

the layout of the balance sheet conforms to iaS 1. a distinction is made in the balance sheet between 
current and non-current assets and liabilities, some of which are disclosed in detail in the notes, accord-
ing to time to recovery or settlement. the layout of the income statement is based on the ‘cost of sales’ 
method. expenses incurred are set in relation to the revenues generated and are classified according to 
their function as costs of sales, selling expenses or general administrative expenses.

the consolidated financial statements are denominated in euros.
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1.3 new aCCOunting StandardS iSSued But nOt yet appliCaBle

the iaSB and the international Financial reporting interpretations Committee (iFriC) have adopted 
additional standards and interpretations that are not yet mandatory for the 2008 financial year and which 
have not been applied to the consolidated annual financial statements as at 31 december 2008. appli-
cation of these iFrSs is conditional on the eu granting them recognition, which in some cases has yet 
to occur.

 • Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements: Capital Disclosures’  
  (applicable on or after 1 January 2009)

 • IAS 23 ‘Borrowing costs’ (applicable on or after 1 January 2009)

 • IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ (applicable on or after 1 July 2009)

 • Amendments to IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ and IAS 1  
  ‘presentation of Financial assets’ (applicable on or after 1 January 2009)

 • Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’  
  (applicable on or after 1 July 2009)

 • IFRS 1 ‘First time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’ and IAS 27  
  ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ (applicable on or after 1 January 2009)

 • IFRS 1 ‘First time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’  
  (applicable on or after 1 July 2009)

 • IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment – Vesting conditions and cancellation’  
  (applicable on or after 1 January 2009)

 • IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ (applicable on or after 1 July 2009)

 • IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ (applicable on or after 1 January 2009)

 • Various - Annual Improvement Projects 2008  
  (applicable on or after 1 January and 1 July 2009)

 • IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’ (applicable on or after 1 January 2010)

 • IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ (applicable on or after 1 July 2008)

 • IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements  
  and their interaction’ (applicable on or after 1 January 2009)

 • IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’  
  (applicable on or after 1 January 2009)

 • IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’  
  (applicable on or after 1 October 2008)
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 • IFRIC 17 ‘Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners’ (applicable on or after 1 July 2009)

 • IFRIC 18 ‘Transfer of Assets from Customers’ (applicable on or after 1 July 2009)

Standards that are not applicable until after the balance sheet date have not been prematurely applied. 
the impacts on the financial position, cash flow and earnings performance of the CtS group as a result 
of such premature application of standards are under examination.

 
1.4 interpretatiOnS and aMendMentS OF puBliShed StandardS  
 with MandatOry appliCatiOn in 2008

the following interpretations and amendments are applicable for the first time to the 2008 financial 
year: 

 • Amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and IAS 39  
  ‘Financial instruments: recognition and Measurement’: ‘reclassification of Financial assets’

 • IFRIC 11: ‘IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions’

in the 2008 financial year, there were no items or transactions that come under the newly applicable 
accounting standards referred to above. the application of these standards therefore has no impacts on 
the financial position, cash flow and earnings performance of the CtS group.

 
1.5 diSClOSureS COnCerning COnSOlidatiOn prinCipleS

all relevant subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements. Some smaller regional 
subsidiaries, in both the ticketing segment and the live entertainment segment, have not been included 
in the consolidated financial statements because of their insignificance for establishing a fair view of 
the group’s overall financial position, cash flow and earnings performance. the revenue of capitalised 
participations not included in the consolidated financial statements due to insignificance are less than 
1% of group revenue.

as a basic principle, the financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with uniform accounting and valuation methods.

the balance sheet date of the consolidated companies is identical to that of the parent company.

Capital consolidation is effected using the purchase accounting method by offsetting the carrying 
amount of the participation against the revalued shareholders’ equity of the subsidiary at the time of 
acquisition (‘purchase accounting’). the purchase costs of the acquisition are equal to the fair value of 
the transferred assets and debts assumed at the time of transaction, plus the costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition. assets, debts and contingent liabilities which can be identified in the context of a 
corporate merger are recognised at their respective fair values when first included in consolidation. any 
amount by which the purchase costs exceed the group’s share in the fair value of net assets is recog-
nised as goodwill. according to iFrS 3 and iaS 36, goodwill must be reviewed annually with regard to 
carrying value and any indications of impairment. purchase costs for shares in subsidiaries newly con-
solidated in 2008, including contributions to capital, amounted to eur 8.209 million.
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Consolidation is carried out as at the time of acquisition, when control is acquired, or when the mini-
mum significance levels for inclusion in consolidation are exceeded.

participations in companies over which a significant influence can be exercised are valued by the 
equity method; a significant influence can be exercised if the share of voting rights is between 20% and 
50% (‘associated companies’). investments valued at equity are carried at the proportionate adjusted 
interest in the investee’s equity. Changes in the proportionate equity value with effects on net income 
are included in the income statement as income or loss from investments stated at equity. if the group’s 
share in losses from an associated company is equal to or greater that the group’s share in that com-
pany, the group does not post any further losses unless it has entered into obligations in respect of the 
associated company, or has made payments for the associated company.

revenues, interim results, expenses and income, as well as receivables and payables are eliminated 
between consolidated companies.

 
1.6 BuSineSS COMBinatiOnS 
1.6.1 BuSineSS COMBinatiOnS in the tiCKeting SegMent

ChangeS in the grOup OF COnSOlidated entitieS

in March 2008, ticket nord, herstellung und vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten gmbh, vienna, 
changed its name to Ö-ticket nord west gmbh, vienna. in a share purchase agreement concluded on 
6 March 2008, the firm of ticket express gesellschaft zur herstellung und zum vertrieb elektronischer 
eintrittskarten mbh, vienna (hereinafter: teX), sold a 49% interest in Ö-ticket nord west gmbh, 
vienna (formerly: ticket nord, herstellung und vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten gmbh, vienna), for 
eur 15 thousand. Since then, teX has held only 51% of the shares in that company. the inclusion of 
the new shareholder will lead to an expansion of ticketing operations in the tyrol and vorarlberg region.

with notarial contracts dated 19 March 2008 and 23 december 2008, CtS ag acquired in total 11% of 
shares in teX, previously held by external shareholders, and since that date has therefore held 86% of 
the shares in said company. the price paid for the shares was eur 400 thousand. 

in contracts concluded on 28 april 2008 and 6 May 2008, CtS ag acquired a further 6.6% of the 
shares in ticketOne S.p.a. (hereinafter: ticketOne), through an intermediate company from two minority 
shareholders, for eur 2.280 million, and now holds 49.8% of the shares in that company. 

in a share acquisition agreement dated 22 May 2008, CtS ag acquired the remaining 50% of shares 
in tSC eventiM ticket & touristik-Service-Center gmbh, Bremen (hereinafter: tSC) for eur 1.00 and 
since then has held 100% of the shares in said company. 

Stockholm-based CtS eventim Schweden aB (hereinafter: eventim Schweden) was established on 
the basis of a shelf company with effect from 11 June 2008. eventim Schweden was formed in the 
course of implementing the partnership with live nation. CtS ag holds 100% of the shares in eventim 
Schweden. Since initial consolidation, the company has generated no significant revenues as yet, and 
negative earnings of eur 337 thousand.
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in contracts dated 25 July and 14 november 2008, teX acquired an additional 12.5% of the shares in 
ÖtS gesellschaft zum vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten mbh, Stainz, for eur 59 thousand, with 
the result that teX now holds 77.5% of the shares in that company. 

in a contract dated 22 September 2008, CtS ag acquired 40.35% of the shares in lippupiste Oy 
(hereinafter: lippupiste), a Finnish company domiciled in tampere. Concurrently, in another contract 
dated 22 September 2008, 100% of the shares in Cardplus Oy (hereinafter: Cardplus) were acquired, a 
helsinki-based holding company whose investments are confined to a 29.65% stake in lippupiste. this 
means that CtS ag holds a total 70% of the shares in lippupiste, for an investment of eur 5.156 mil-
lion. in the year 2012, CtS ag will take over the remaining 30% of shares at a variable purchase price; 
as at the balance sheet date, this variable purchase price obligation was carried at eur 3.701 million. 
established in 2002, lippupiste (‘ticket point’) is one of Finland’s two leading providers of ticketing serv-
ices. in 2007, lippupiste sold more than three million tickets through direct sales channels and in-house 
systems. lippupiste’s customer base includes more than 400 event promoters, theatres and concert 
halls, as well as numerous Finnish sports clubs and federations. Since initial consolidation, the company 
has generated eur 1.250 million in revenue and earnings of eur 261 thousand. if the business com-
bination had taken place on 1 January 2008, revenue would have been eur 2.789 million higher and 
net income would have been eur 174 thousand more than the revenue and net income figures actually 
generated. as a result of acquiring these companies, cash equivalents of eur 1.838 million and eur 
16 thousand were acquired from lippupiste and Cardplus, respectively.
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assets and debts were recognised at fair value in the final purchase price allocation. in the case of 
intangible assets, recognition at present values led to recognition of a customer base (eur 1.595 mil-
lion) and a trademark (eur 286 thousand). deferred tax liabilities of eur 489 thousand were formed 
on the temporary difference arising from the revaluation of intangible assets. goodwill arising from the 
standalone financial statements of lippupiste was recognised at consolidated group level.

the final purchase price allocation as at 31 december 2008 results at group level in eur 3.945 million 
in goodwill from capital consolidation. additional goodwill arising from recognition of variable purchase 
price obligations is carried at eur 3.128 million.

Final purChaSe priCe allOCatiOn FOr lippupiSte

Based on the final purchase price allocation, the following table shows the present values at the time 
of initial consolidation and the carrying values immediately before acquisition of lippupiste:

1,838

31

1,372

203

3,444

106

2,526

0

2,632

6,076

3,039

823

3,862

489

489

1,725

6,076

1,838

31

1,372

203

3,444

106

645

289

1,040

4,484

3,039

823

3,862

0

0

622

4,484

Carrying value 
immediately be-

fore purchase

[EUR`000]

Fair value at  
time of initial 

consolidation

[EUR`000]

30.09.2008
Lippupiste Oy, Tampere

Cash and cash equivalents

inventories

trade receivables

Other assets

Total current assets

 

Fixed assets

intangible assets

goodwill

Total non-current assets

Total assets

trade payables

Other liabilities

Total current liabilities

deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities
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Final purChaSe priCe allOCatiOn FOr tiCKetOne S.p.a., Milan

as at 31 May 2008, the purchase price allocation relating to the acquisition of shares in ticketOne was 
finally completed within the stipulated 12-month period, in accordance with iFrS 3.62. the provisional 
present values on initial consolidation were shown in the notes section of the 2007 annual report, on 
page 69 under ‘notes to the consolidated financial statements’. according to iFrS 3.62, the compara-
tive figures for the reporting period must be presented as if initial consolidation was already based on 
the final values.

Based on the final purchase price allocation, the following table shows the present values at the time 
of initial consolidation and the carrying values immediately before acquisition of the companies in the 
ticketOne group:

2,045

2,556

983

5,584

13

573

7,170

0

2,898

10,654

16,238

5,073

2,333

1,373

6,661

15,440

663

562

1,225

-427

16,238

2,045

2,721

894

5,660

13

573

8,394

833

1,588

11,401

17,061

5,073

2,333

292

6,297

13,995

0

699

699

2,367

17,061

31.05.2007
TicketOne Group, Milan

Cash and cash equivalents

trade receivables

Other assets

Total current assets

Financial assets

Fixed assets

intangible assets

goodwill

deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Financial liabilities

trade payables

provisions

Other liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

deferred tax liabilities

pension provisions

Total non-current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 

Carrying value 
immediately be-

fore purchase

[EUR`000]

Fair value at  
time of initial 

consolidation

[EUR`000]
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assets and debts were recognised at fair value in the final purchase price allocation. recognition led 
to a reduction in the carrying value of intangible assets. goodwill from creation of the ticketOne sub-
group has been recognised at consolidated group level. the revaluation of intangible assets and provi-
sions resulted in additions to deferred tax assets. any additional obligations were recognised by forming 
additional provisions. revaluation of trademarks and customer base, under intangible assets, as well as 
provisions for pensions led to recognition of deferred tax liabilities.

at group level, the final purchase price allocation as at 31 May 2007 results in eur 14.958 million in 
goodwill from capital consolidation. ticketOne and its subsidiaries are fully consolidated. CtS ag exer-
cises control, according to iaS 27, due to legal agreements. additional goodwill arising from recognition 
of purchase price obligations in respect of put options is carried at eur 14.134 million. 

in the context of this final purchase price allocation, a lower fair value was recognised for some indi-
vidual intangible assets compared to the provisional recognition of present values at the time of initial 
consolidation, due to application of a more broadly-based calculation method. this led at group level to 
changes in the recognition of deferred taxes and to a higher carrying value for goodwill.

the following table provides an overview of the changes resulting from the final purchase price alloca-
tion in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 december 2007:

Assets 

intangible assets 

goodwill 

deferred tax assets

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities 

deferred tax liabilities 

Balance sheet profit

22,480

74,095

4,046

100,621

2,368

55,467

57,835

15,051

79,489

3,968

98,508

658

55,064

55,722

-7,429

5,394

-78

-2,113

-1,710

-403

-2,113

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

Consolidated 
balance sheet -  

interim 
purchase price 

allocation

Consolidated 
balance sheet -  

final  
purchase price 

allocation

Change

[EUR`000]
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the following tables provide an overview of changes affecting key financial figures in the consolidated 
income statement as at 31 december 2007, as a result of the final purchase price allocation:

due to revaluation of intangible assets, adjustments were made to amortization (eur 341 thousand) in 
the income statement for the 2007 financial year. taxes increased by eur 745 thousand due to the final 
purchase price allocation, inter alia because of the different use of fiscal loss carry forwards.

in the consolidated income statement as at 31 March 2008, the final purchase price allocation had 
 further effects on amortization of intangible assets (eur 146 thousand) and on taxes (eur 181 thou-
sand). Consolidated net income after minority interest thus increased as at 31 March 2008 from the 
initial figure of eur 4.850 million (epS: eur 0.20) to eur 5.177 million (epS: eur 0.22).

 
1.6.2 BuSineSS COMBinatiOnS in the live entertainMent SegMent 

ChangeS in the grOup OF COnSOlidated entitieS

in a contract dated 14 March 2008, FKp Scorpio Konzertproduktionen gmbh, hamburg, acquired the 
remaining 49% of shares in palazzo produktionen gmbh, hamburg (hereinafter: palazzo hamburg), 
and now owns 100% of said company. the purchase price was eur 314 thousand.

in a contract dated 29 May 2008, eventiM popkurs hamburg gemeinnützige gmbh was established 
with the aim of sponsoring young artists. CtS ag holds 100% of the shares in said company. Since 
initial consolidation, the company has generated no significant revenues as yet, and negative earnings 
of eur 2 thousand. 

due to its significant influence, greenfield Festival ag, hünenberg, was included in consolidation for 
the first time. in view of the 50% interest held by the group, the company is included at equity as an 
associated company in the consolidated financial statements.

Operating profit (eBit) 

profit from ordinary business activities (eBt) 

taxes 

net income after minority interest 

epS

46,761

49,981

-19,754

23,414

0.98

47,102

50,322

-20,499

23,010

0.96

341

341

-745

-404

Consolidated 
balance sheet -  

interim 
purchase price 

allocation

Consolidated 
balance sheet -  

final  
purchase price 

allocation

01.01.2007-

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

01.01.2007

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]

Change

[EUR`000]
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gSO holding gmbh, Bremen 

gSO gesellschaft für Softwareentwicklung  

und Organisation mbh & Co. Kg, Bremen (gSO Kg) 

gSO verwaltungsgesellschaft mbh, Bremen 

ticket express gesellschaft zur herstellung  

und zum vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten mbh, vienna (teX) 

ÖtS gesellschaft zum vertrieb elektronischer  

eintrittskarten mbh, deutschlandsberg (ÖtS) 

Ö-ticket-Südost, gesellschaft zur herstellung und zum  

vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten mbh, wiener neustadt (Öt SüdOst) 

Ö-ticket nord west gmbh, vienna (Öt nord-west) (formerly: Öt nord)  

Ö-ticket-nordost eintrittskartenvertrieb gmbh, tulln (Öt nordost)  

ticket express hungary Kft., Budapest (teX ungarn) 

teX hungary Kft., Budapest 

eventiM yu d.o.o., Belgrade 

eventiM Si d.o.o., ljubljana 

eventiM d.o.o., Zagreb 

eventiM SK s.r.o., Bratislava 

eventiM Ba d.o.o., Sarajewo 

evenitM Bg o.o.d., Sofia 

eventim ru Srl, Bukarest 

eventim online holding gmbh, Bremen 

rp-eventiM gmbh, düsseldorf 

CtS eventim Solutions gmbh, Bremen (CtS Solutions) 

CtS eventim nederland B.v., amsterdam (CtS nederland B.v.) 

CtS eventim Sports gmbh, hamburg (CtS eventim Sports) 

eventim Sports Consulting gmbh, Bremen 

CtS eventim Schweiz ag, Basle (CtS eventim Schweiz) 

Zritel o.o.o. Moscow (Zritel) 

ticketOne S.p.a., Milan (ticketOne) 

panischi S.r.l., Milan (panischi) 

t.O.S.t. ticketone Sistemi teatrali S.r.l., Milan (tOSt) 

tSC eventiM ticket & tourist-Service-Center gmbh, Bremen (tSC) 

lippupiste Oy, tampere 

Cardplus Oy, helsinki 

CtS eventim Schweden aB, Stockholm 

MeduSa Music group gmbh, Bremen (Medusa) 

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur holding gmbh, Frankfurt / Main 

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur gmbh & Co. Kg, Frankfurt / Main (MlK Kg) 

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur verwaltungs gmbh, Frankfurt / Main 

Marek lieberberg presents, hawaii 

peter rieger Konzertagentur holding gmbh, Cologne 

peter rieger Konzertagentur gmbh & Co. Kg, Cologne (prK Kg)  

peter rieger verwaltungs gmbh, Cologne 

FKp Scorpio Konzertproduktionen gmbh, hamburg (FKp Scorpio)

1.7 liSt OF SuBSidiarieS

20072008Country

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

75.0%

65.0%

66.7%

100.0%

50.1%

71.0%

71.0%

100.0%*

100.0%*

100.0%*

100.0%*

76.0%*

62.0%*

59.0%*

100.0%

51.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

51.0%

43.2%

100.0%

60.0%

50.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

94.4%

51.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%*

70.0%

100.0%

100.0%

50.2%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

86.0%

77.5%

66.7%

51.0%

50.1%

71.0%

71.0%

100.0%*

100.0%*

100.0%*

100.0%*

76.0%*

62.0%*

59.0%*

100.0%

51.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

51.0%

49.8%

100.0%

60.0%

100.0%

70.0%

100.0% 

100.0%

94.4%

51.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%*

70.0%

100.0%

100.0%

50.2%

Percentage interest
(held by the respective owning company)

austria

austria

austria

austria

austria

hungary

hungary

Serbia

Slovenia

Croatia

Slovakia

Bosnia-herzegovina

Bulgaria

rumania

netherlands

Switzerland

russia

italy

italy

italy

Finland

Finland

Sweden

uSa
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Semmelconcerts veranstaltungsservice gmbh, Bayreuth (Semmel) 

wild & frei - gesellschaft für promotion und Marketing mbh, Cologne 

tour-house veranstaltungs-, Konzert-, tv- und Media-Consulting gmbh, hamburg 

argO Konzerte gmbh, würzburg (argO) 

dirk Becker entertainment gmbh, Cologne (dirk Becker) 

lS Konzertagentur gmbh, vienna (lS) 

pgM promoters group Munich Konzertagentur gmbh, Munich (pgM) 

Crp Konzertagentur gmbh, hamburg (Crp) 

palazzo produktionen gmbh, hamburg (palazzo hamburg) 

palazzo produktionen gmbh, vienna (palazzo vienna) 

palazzo producties B.v., amsterdam (palazzo amsterdam) 

palazzo produktionen Berlin gmbh, hamburg (palazzo Berlin) 

act entertainment ag, Basle (act entertainment) 

Show-Factory entertainment gmbh, Bregenz (Showfactory) 

OCtOpuS gmbh agentur für Kommunikation, hamburg (Octopus) 

eventiM popkurs hamburg gemeinnützige gmbh, hamburg 

greensave gmbh, würzburg 

greenfield Festival ag, hünenberg

20072008Country

50.2%

75.2%*

90.0%*

50.2%

83.0%

100.0%

100.0%

50.2%

51.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

51.0%

51.0%

100.0%

0.0%

49.0%

50.0%

50.2%

75.2%*

90.0%*

50.2%

83.0%

100.0%

100.0%

50.2%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

51.0%

51.0%

100.0%

100.0%

49.0%

50.0%

Percentage interest
(held by the respective owning company)

austria

austria

netherlands

Switzerland

austria

Switzerland

* not included in consolidation due to insignificance.

1.8 prinCipleS OF CurrenCy tranSlatiOn

Business transactions which are made by group companies in currencies other than the local currency 
are translated at the rate applying on the date of transaction.

the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries whose currency is not the euro are translated using 
the functional method. the functional currency used for those parts of the company outside germany is 
the local currency in each case. accordingly, assets and liabilities of entities outside germany or outside 
the eurozone are translated to euro using the rate of exchange on the balance sheet date. revenues 
and expenses are translated using the average exchange rate for the respective financial year. Currency 
translation differences are disclosed as a separate item in shareholders’ equity.

 
1.9 prinCipal aCCOunting and valuatiOn MethOdS

aCCOunting and valuatiOn MethOdS

the following accounting and valuation principles remained unchanged compared to the year before.

when preparing the consolidated financial statements, it is necessary to a certain degree to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities as 
at the balance sheet date and the statement of income and expenditure during the financial year. the 
actual amounts may deviate from the respective estimates.
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nOte COnCerning reCOgnitiOn in aCCOrdanCe with iaS 32

in accordance with iaS 32, contracts which obligate a company to purchase its own equity instruments 
are recognised as financial liabilities carried at the present value of the purchase price. this principle 
also applies when the obligation to purchase such instruments is conditional on the contractual partner 
exercising an option, and is independent of the probability of such option being exercised. in compli-
ance with changes in international accounting practice, this principle is also applicable to the forward 
purchase of minority shares and put options granted to the minority interest of the CtS group. in order 
to calculate the potential purchase price obligations, it was necessary to reclassify these minority shares 
as liabilities rather than as shareholders’ equity. in addition, goodwill is capitalised to the amount of 
difference between the present value of the liabilities and the carrying amount of the minority shares, 
provided that the purchase price obligations resulting from put options are for a fixed strike price and all 
the opportunities and risks deriving from the put option are kept within the CtS group.

 
CaSh and CaSh eQuivalentS

Cash and cash equivalents include bank balances, cash in hand and (in the prior year) securities. Bank 
balances and cash in hand are recognised at the balance sheet date at their nominal value, while in the 
previous year securities are recognised at their fair value.

 
reCeivaBleS

receivables and other assets are carried at nominal value minus adjustments for discernible risks. 
the group is fundamentally exposed to potential default risks in respect of trade receivables. adequate 
consideration was given to these risks by making appropriate allowances for doubtful accounts.

 
inventOrieS

inventories are carried at purchase cost, taking ancillary expenses into account and deducting any 
bonuses or discounts received, or at cost of sales, or at the net realisable value on the balance sheet 
date. Borrowing costs for loan capital are not capitalised.

 
FinanCing inStruMentS

the stated values of the group’s financing instruments, which include cash and cash equivalents, 
loans, financial investments, trade receivables and payables, receivables from and payables to affili-
ated companies, other assets and liabilities, and financial liabilities are compliant with the accounting 
principles in iaS 39.
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as a basic principle, financial assets are classified into the following categories in accordance with iaS 39:

 • Loans and receivables

 • financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss

 • held-to-maturity investments

 • available-for-sale financial assets

Classification depends on the respective purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Man-
agement determines how financial assets are to be classified when they are initially recognised, and 
reviews this classification at every closing date.

as at the closing date, the group did not classify any financial instruments as ‘held-to-maturity invest-
ments’ or ‘financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss’. Some financial assets classified as 
‘loans and receivables’ and as ‘available-for-sale financial assets’ are held.

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. they arise when the group provides money, goods or services directly 
to a debtor without any intention to trade the receivables. loans and receivables are carried in the bal-
ance sheet under loans, trade receivables, receivables from affiliated companies and under other assets. 
loans and receivables are carried at their current purchase cost. at each reporting date, the carrying 
values of financial assets are reviewed to determine whether there are any objective material indications 
of impairment. any impairment expense is carried through profit or loss.

the available-for-sale financial assets include participations in other companies. these are stated at 
their respective purchase costs because there is no active market for these companies, and because 
present fair values cannot reasonably be calculated with any reliability. if there are any indications that 
fair values are lower, these are applied accordingly.

 
intangiBle and FiXed aSSetS

intangible assets with a determinate useful life and fixed assets are carried at their cost of purchase 
or cost of sales, minus systematic straight-line depreciation and amortization. Financing costs are not 
included. there are no finance lease agreements of any significance.

development costs for proprietary software are recognised as assets if they meet the criteria specified 
in iaS 38.
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Systematic depreciation and amortization of intangible assets and fixed assets is mainly based on the 
following useful economic lives:

 • Software, licences: between 3 - 12 years 

 • Trademarks: between 5 - 10 years

 • Customer base: between 4 - 10 years 

 • Other property, plant and office equipment: between 3 - 14 years

in accordance with iFrS 3, goodwill with an indeterminate useful life is not amortized systematically, 
but reviewed for impairment on the basis of the recoverable amount for the entity generating cash flow 
to which the goodwill is allocated. For the impairment test, the goodwill is subdivided and allocated to 
the entities generating cash flow. the goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating entities expected to 
derive benefits from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

the group tests its goodwill for impairment at least once a year on the balance sheet date, or if signifi-
cant events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of a reporting entity within the group 
might be lower than its carrying amount. impairments of goodwill may not be reversed.

in compliance with iaS 36, the group routinely assesses the carrying values of all assets for possible 
impairment. if events or changes in circumstances provide grounds for believing that the carrying value 
of such an asset might no longer reach the applicable amount, the group makes a comparison between 
the recoverable amount and the carrying value of the particular asset (impairment test). if the asset is 
impaired, the group records an impairment loss so that the asset is written down to the recoverable 
amount. in no case did the carrying values of reporting entities exceed the respective fair value, so there 
were no indications of impairments to the stated value of any reporting entity in the past financial year 
2008.

 
deFerred taXeS

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in compliance with iaS 12, according to which 
deferred taxes are reported using the balance sheet liabilities method. 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are formed for temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
in the consolidated balance sheet and in the fiscal balance sheet, as well as for fiscal loss carry forwards. 
deferred tax assets are recognised if it is likely that taxable earnings will be available against which the 
deductible temporary difference can be applied. deferred tax assets were formed on existing loss carry 
forwards only to the extent that it is likely, taking current budgeting into account, that these deferred 
assets can be realised. deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised at the applicable taxation rates 
that must prospectively be applied to the taxable income in those years in which the temporary differ-
ences are expected to be recovered or settled. the impact of a changed taxation rate on deferred assets 
and liabilities is carried as tax income or expense.
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liaBilitieS

liabilities are recognised at amortised purchase cost using the effective interest method where appli-
cable. their composition and remaining terms are shown in the analysis of liabilities.

 
prOviSiOnS

in accordance with iaS 37, other provisions were formed when commitments towards third parties 
exist that are reasonably likely to require settlement. the probable amounts of such obligations were 
estimated according to the state of knowledge when the balance sheet was prepared.

provisions for pensions and similar obligations are formed for defined benefit plans. these are obliga-
tions on the part of the company resulting from pension expectancies and ongoing benefits paid to active 
employees who are eligible for benefits. pension obligations are dependent on years of service and the 
pay level of the respective employee.

provisions for defined benefit plans are calculated using the projected unit credit method. this latter 
method takes account not only of the pensions and acquired benefits known on the reporting date, but 
also any anticipated increases in salaries and pensions. the calculation is based on actuarial expertises, 
taking biometric factors into account. actuarial gains and losses resulting from adjustments and amend-
ments of actuarial assumptions in line with experience are included in the income statement.

if reinsurance policies exist for pension commitments and can only be used to cover the benefits due 
under the pension commitments, and the insurance policy is pledged to the beneficiary employee, these 
are treated as qualifying insurance policies in accordance with iaS 19. the coverage values are treated 
as plan assets and are offset against the respective pension provisions in the balance sheet.

 
MinOrity intereSt

transactions with minority interests are treated as transactions with parties external to the group. dis-
posals of shares to minority interests result in gains and losses that are recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements. Conversely, purchases of shares in minority interests result in recognition of good-
will, to an amount equal to the difference between the consideration paid and the proportional fair value 
of the subsidiary’s net assets.

 
reCOgnitiOn OF revenueS

revenue and other income are recognised when a contract has been concluded with legal effect, 
delivery has been made or the service has been performed, a price is fixed and determinable, and it can 
be assumed that the price will be paid. revenue are stated less discounts, price reductions, customer 
bonuses and rebates. price reductions reduce revenue as soon as the respective revenue are recog-
nised.
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revenue in the ticketing segment that relate to the sale of tickets to final customers are realised when 
the respective CtS ticketing company delivers the tickets to the final customer. in the live entertainment 
segment, ticket revenue generated in the presales period are posted by the promoter on the liabilities 
side as advance payments received. when the event is subsequently held, these advance payments 
are transferred to revenue and the profits are realised.

eXpenSe reCOgnitiOn

expenses are recognised as such when they are incurred. research and development expenditures 
are mostly included in costs of sales, since these costs are for continuous improvement of the software. 
Separate disclosure under research and development does not apply, therefore. development costs 
incurred by the group are expensed if they do not meet the requirements specified in iaS 38.

 
leaSing arrangeMentS

leasing instalments for operating leasing arrangements are treated as rental expenses and recog-
nised under other operating expenses for the term of the respective leasing arrangement.

 
2. nOteS tO the COnSOlidated BalanCe Sheet

CaSh and CaSh eQuivalentS (1)

the cash and cash equivalents of eur 213.072 million (prior year: eur 141.764 million) are predomi-
nantly bank balances and relate, inter alia, to ticket revenues from pre-sales for events in 2009. they 
are offset by eur 92.619 million (prior year: eur 60.506 million) in other liabilities accruing from ticket 
revenues that have not yet been invoiced. prior-year cash and cash equivalents include eur 13.840 
million in securities (institutional money market funds), which are classified as financial assets carried at 
fair value through profit or loss. 

 
trade reCeivaBleS (Current) (2)

Current trade receivables totalling eur 27.236 million (prior year: eur 24.202 million) are payable 
within one year.

 
reCeivaBleS FrOM aFFiliated COMpanieS (Current) (3)

the eur 1.711 million in current receivables from affiliated companies (prior year: eur 1.198 million) 
relate principally to receivables from subsidiaries in eastern europe that are not consolidated due to 
insignificance (eur 1.253 million). eur 19 thousand in receivables from associated companies are also 
included (prior year: eur 2 thousand).
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inventOrieS (4)

inventories comprised the following items:

no impairments of inventories have been made. payments on account pertain to prepaid production 
costs (e.g. artists’ fees) for events taking place in 2009.

 
reCeivaBleS FrOM inCOMe taX (Current) (5)

the receivables from income tax relate to tax refund entitlements amounting to eur 6.975 million (prior 
year: eur 3.992 million).

 
Other aSSetS (Current) (6)

Other assets, at eur 14.818 million (prior year: eur 18.520 million) comprise financial assets (eur 
10.216 million, prior year: eur 14.176 million) and non-financial assets (eur 4.602 million, prior year: 
eur 4.344 million).

Other financial assets mainly relate to short-term loans and personnel debts at eur 1.383 million (prior 
year: eur 1.999 million), receivables from ticket pre-sales at eur 5.914 million (prior year: eur 7.627 
million) and other receivables at eur 2.919 million (prior year: eur 4.550 million).

the other, non-financial assets relate to refund claims in respect of sales tax and other taxes, at eur 
1.932 million (prior year: eur 1.533 million), and other receivables amounting to eur 829 thousand 
(prior year: eur 1.196 million). Other, non-financial assets also include a deferred expense item at eur 
1.841 million (prior year: eur 1.615 million) that mainly relates to maintenance expenses and costs for 
events in subsequent business years.

in the 2008 business year, collateral amounting to eur 746 thousand (prior year: eur 846 thousand) 
was provided by group companies, in particular for rental deposits (eur 317 thousand).

raw materials and consumables 

Merchandise 

payments on account for events

514 

1,905 

10,314 

12,733

31.12.2008

[EUR`000]

230 

1,050 

-1,741 

-461

Change 

[EUR`000]

284 

855 

12,055 

13,194

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]
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Purchase cost 

Status 1 January 2007 

Change in consolidated companies 

additions 

disposals 

reclassification 

adjustments due to tax audit

Status 31 december 2007

Change in consolidated companies 

additions 

disposals 

Currency differences 

reclassification 

adjustments due to tax audit

Status 31 december 2008

Accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Status 1 January 2007 

Change in consolidated companies 

appreciation 

additions 

disposals 

reclassification

Status 31 december 2007

additions 

disposals 

Currency differences

Status 31 december 2008

Carrying values 

Status 1 January 2007 

Status 31 december 2007

Status 31 december 2008

FiXed aSSetS (7)

the composition and development of fixed assets is shown in the following table:

14,527

2,357

3,890

-423

0

10

20,361

106

4,714

-900

-29

0

31

24,283

8,981

1,637

-130

2,487

-409

0

12,566

3,340

-757

-31

15,118

5,545

7,795

9,165

0

1

1,637

0

260

0

1,898

0

657

0

0

-1,897

0

658

0

0

-130

0

0

130

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,898

658

13,665

2,351

2,184

-389

-260

10

17,561

36

4,025

-866

-28

1,897

31

22,656

8,762

1,634

0

2,309

-389

-130

12,186

3,147

-723

-30

14,580

4,902

5,375

8,076

680

0

69

0

0

0

749

70

32

0

0

0

0

851

153

0

0

162

0

0

315

180

0

0

495

527

434

356

182

5

0

-34

0

0

153

0

0

-34

-1

0

0

118

66

3

0

16

-20

0

65

13

-34

-1

43

116

88

75

[EUR`000] [EUR`000] [EUR`000] [EUR`000] [EUR`000]

Land, land rights 
and buildings, in-
cluding buildings 

on third-party land

Technical  
equipment, plant  

and machinery

Other facilities, 
operating and of-

fice equipment
Payments  

on account Total
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intangiBle aSSetS (8), gOOdwill (15)

the composition and development of intangible assets and goodwill is shown in the following table:

investments in intangible assets, at eur 18.267 million (prior year: eur 38.639 million) relate to addi-
tions for software and licences (eur 2.044 million), capitalised development expenditures (eur 3.065 
million), trademarks and similar rights (eur 2.729 million) and goodwill (eur 10.429 million). additions 
to goodwill include eur 1.391 million in put options.

Purchase cost 

Status 1 January 2007 

Change in consolidated companies 

additions 

disposals 

reclassification

Status 31 december 2007

Change in consolidated companies 

additions 

disposals 

Currency differences 

reclassification

Status 31 december 2008

Accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Status 1 January 2007 

Change in consolidated companies 

additions 

disposals

Status 31 december 2007

additions 

disposals 

Currency differences

Status 31 december 2008

Carrying values 

Status 1 January 2007 

Status 31 december 2007

Status 31 december 2008

79,907

12,302

38,639

-388

0

130,460

2,526

18,267

-1,160

-16

0

150,077

26,753

4,877

4,306

-16

35,920

4,208

-1,137

-8

38,983

53,154

94,540

111,094

357

0

645

0

-638

364

0

952

0

-2

-304

1,010

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

357

364

1,010

1,384

9,352

0

0

0

10,736

1,595

0

0

0

0

12,331

1,319

3,787

672

0

5,778

873

0

0

6,651

65

4,958

5,680

49,578

0

35,141

-363

0

84,356

0

10,429

0

0

0

94,785

4,867

0

0

0

4,867

0

0

0

4,867

44,711

79,489

89,918

28,588

2,950

2,853

-25

638

35,004

931

6,886

-1,160

-14

304

41,951

20,567

1,090

3,634

-16

25,275

3,335

-1,137

-8

27,465

8,021

9,729

14,486

[EUR`000]

Concessions, 
industrial property 
rights and similar 
rights and assets, 

and licences to 
such rights  
and assets Goodwill Customer base

Payments on 
account Total

[EUR`000] [EUR`000] [EUR`000] [EUR`000]
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in the prior year, the ‘global ticketing System’ asset had to be capitalised due to extensive networking 
and internationalisation of CtS ticketing software. Further improvements to the CtS ticketing software 
in the course of networking other software systems (network, web, in-house) and meeting international 
requirements led to formation of the new intangible asset referred to as ‘global ticketing System’. 
investments amounting to eur 2.906 million were made in the ‘global ticketing System’ intangible 
asset, in the form of proprietary and third-party software development. these investments are included 
in the capitalised development costs.

with the exception of goodwill, there are no intangible assets with unlimited useful life.

 
FinanCial aSSetS (9), inveStMentS Stated at eQuity (10), lOanS (11)

the composition and development of these assets is shown in the following table:

Purchase cost 

Status 1 January 2007 

Change in consolidated companies 

additions 

disposals 

reclassification

Status 31 december 2007

additions 

disposals 

Currency differences 

reclassification

Status 31 december 2008

Accumulated depreciation  

and amortization 

Status 1 January 2007 

additions

Status 31 december 2007 

 

additions 

disposals

Status 31 december 2008 

 

Carrying values 

Status 1 January 2007 

Status 31 december 2007

Status 31 december 2008

Total

[EUR`000]

Shares in  
affiliated  

companies

[EUR`000]

Companies 
in which 

participations 
are held

[EUR`000]

Investments 
stated at equity

[EUR`000]

Loans due 
to affiliated 
companies

[EUR`000]

Security  
investments

[EUR`000]

Other loans

[EUR`000]

4,100

13

807

-607

-320

3,993

376

-968

17

0

3,418

170

494

664

3

-493

174

3,930

3,329

3,244

2,096

4

249

-498

0

1,851

0

-433

0

0

1,418

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,096

1,851

1,418

33

0

0

0

0

33

0

0

0

0

33

1

1

2

3

0

5

32

31

28

522

0

451

-89

0

884

25

-479

17

0

447

0

437

437

0

-437

0

522

447

447

16

9

17

-9

0

33

172

0

0

19

224

0

0

0

0

0

0

16

33

224

1,051

0

0

-11

-174

866

149

0

0

-19

996

156

0

156

0

0

156

895

710

840

382

0

90

0

-146

326

30

-56

0

0

300

13

56

69

0

-56

13

369

257

287
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FinanCial aSSetS (9)

Financial assets, at eur 840 thousand (prior year: eur 710 thousand) relate primarily to companies 
in which participations are held.

 
inveStMentS Stated at eQuity (10)

the adjusted carrying value of the participation in greensave gmbh, würzburg, is eur 35 thousand 
(prior year: eur 33 thousand). as at 31 december 2008, this company discloses a balance sheet total of 
eur 188 thousand (prior year: eur 256 thousand), revenue of eur 218 thousand (prior year: eur 503 
thousand) and net income for the year of eur 9 thousand (prior year: of eur 61 thousand). the group’s 
share in the assets of greensave gmbh is carried at eur 53 thousand (prior year: eur 72 thousand), 
and the share in debts at eur 23 thousand (prior year: eur 44 thousand).

the adjusted carrying value of the participation in greenfield Festival ag, hünenberg, is eur 189 
thousand (prior year: eur 0). as at 31 december 2008, this company discloses a balance sheet total of 
eur 1.006 million, revenue of eur 4.534 million and net income for the year of eur 718 thousand. the 
group’s share in the assets of greenfield Festival ag is carried at eur 240 thousand, and the share in 
debts at eur 236 thousand.

 
lOanS (11)

loans include loan receivables from investments stated at equity, at eur 422 thousand (prior year: 
eur 85 thousand), from affiliated companies, at eur 25 thousand (prior year: eur 0) and from partici-
pations, at eur 0 (prior year: eur 362 thousand). loans to third parties amount to eur 1.418 million 
(prior year: eur 1.851 million).

 
trade reCeivaBleS (nOn-Current) (12)

non-current trade receivables, at eur 1.330 million (prior year: eur 1 thousand), have a remaining 
term of between one and five years. these receivables mainly result from medium- to long-term partner-
ships with promoters in the live entertainment segment. 

non-current trade receivables are neither impaired nor overdue as at the closing date.

 
reCeivaBleS FrOM aFFiliated COMpanieS (nOn-Current) (13)

non-current receivables from affiliated companies include loans granted to subsidiaries in eastern 
europe, at eur 1.716 million (prior year: eur 640 thousand), and in the previous year a receivable from 
associated companies amounting to eur 23 thousand. these receivables have a maturity of between 
one and five years.
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Other aSSetS (nOn-Current) (14)

Other non-current assets, at eur 64 thousand (prior year: eur 49 thousand) involve with eur 49 
thousand (prior year: eur 49 thousand) financial assets and mainly relate to capitalised reinsurance 
assets, at eur 35 thousand (prior year: eur 31 thousand) which have not been pledged to employees. 
reinsurance benefits which have been pledged to beneficiary employees on the basis of pension com-
mitments are recognised as plan assets and were offset against pension provisions.

 
gOOdwill (15)

the disclosed goodwill totalling eur 89.918 million (prior year: eur 79.489 million) breaks down into 
eur 59.270 million in the ticketing segment (prior year: eur 50.694 million) and eur 30.648 million 
in the live entertainment segment (prior year: eur 28.795 million). Of that disclosed goodwill, eur 
18.839 million (prior year: eur 17.448 million) relates to goodwill from put options; the latter figure 
breaks down into eur 17.286 million in the ticketing segment (prior year: eur 15.895 million) and eur 
1.553 million in the live entertainment segment (prior year: eur 1.553 million).

in the ticketing segment, goodwill increased by eur 8.576 million in the reporting year. this increase 
is mainly attributable to the newly consolidated subsidiary lippupiste (eur 7.073 million; of which eur 
3.128 million is for future variable purchase price obligations) and to goodwill from put options (eur 
1.391 million). 

the change in goodwill in the live entertainment segment (eur 1.853 million) results from subsequent 
purchase costs (eur 1.564 million) and from additional acquisitions of shares in a subsidiary that was 
already included in consolidation (eur 289 thousand).

the goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units (Cgus) of the group. the cash generating units 
correspond to the group reporting entities (segments), i.e. ticketing und live entertainment. impairment 
tests are performed on goodwill to determine the recoverable amount of a Cgu, equal to the fair value 
minus costs of sale. the fair value is the best possible estimate of the amount for which an independent 
third party would acquire the cash generating unit on the balance sheet date, minus the costs of sale. 
the fair value is calculated on the basis of a company valuation model. this procedure and the basic 
assumptions apply to all Cgus with goodwill that is subject to impairment tests. these calculations are 
based on forecast cash flows derived from five-year planning. when determining budget figures, the 
management took into account current and future likelihoods, business and economic trends, economic 
development and other circumstances. the cash flows in the year of perpetuity correspond to the cash 
flow in the last year of five-year planning. a discount rate of 8.1% was applied for this purpose. the dis-
count rates used are interest rates after tax and reflect the specific risks to which the respective Cgus 
are exposed. the group applies constant growth rates of 1% to extrapolate cash flows. this growth rate 
is derived from past experience and does not exceed the long-term growth of the respective markets 
in which the entity operates. no impairment of the goodwill, sub-divided according to segment, was 
required in the 2008 financial year.
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deFerred taX aSSetS (16)

the deferred tax assets, at eur 1.929 million, pertain to the following:

as at 31 december 2008, the view of the group is that, in the case of the net deferred tax assets includ-
ing the assets recognised from use of the loss carry forwards amounting to eur 1.345 million (prior year: 
eur 3.526 million), there is a likelihood that the group companies will generate profits of least the same 
amount in future periods. 

no deferred tax assets were stated for eur 2.464 million in loss carry forwards for municipal trade 
tax purposes, or for eur 2.588 million in loss carry forwards for corporation tax purposes, or for eur 
964 thousand in other loss carry forwards for foreign taxation purposes. the reason why no deferred 
tax assets were formed in respect of the aforementioned loss carry forwards is that it is not expected at 
present that the tax refund claims will be realised in the near term. 

On account of the reduction in german corporation tax to a uniform rate of 15%, as announced in the 
tax reform now in effect, the rate of deferred domestic taxation amounted to an average 31.0%. this 
rate includes corporation tax at 15%, the solidarity supplement at 5.5% of the corporation tax and an 
average 16% rate of municipal trade tax. the respectively applicable tax rates were applied to foreign 
subsidiaries. 

 
ShOrt-terM FinanCial liaBilitieS and Current pOrtiOn OF lOng-terM FinanCial 
liaBilitieS (17)

Short-term financial liabilities and current portions of long-term financial liabilities relate to short-term 
purchase price obligations deriving from put options granted, which had to be recognised at eur 4.370 
million in accordance with iaS 32 (prior year: eur 1.906 million), and liabilities to banks, at eur 656 
thousand (prior year: eur 1.026 million).

liabilities to banks were subject to interest at normal market rates. the interest effects of short-term 
purchase price obligations in respect of granted put options were included in the financial result.

 
trade payaBleS (18)

trade payables, at eur 31.693 million (prior year: eur 26.037 million), are payable within one year.

tax loss carry forwards 

temporary differences

1,345 

584 

1,929

31.12.2008

[EUR`000]

-2,181 

142 

-2,039

Change

[EUR`000]

3,526 

442 

3,968

31.12.2007

[EUR`000]
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payaBleS tO aFFiliated COMpanieS (19)

payables to affiliated companies result from supplies and services and are broken down into eur 
1.268 million for the ticketing segment (prior year: eur 122 thousand) and eur 165 thousand for the 
live entertainment segment (prior year: eur 165 thousand).

 
advanCe payMentS reCeived (20)

the advance payments received, at eur 84.086 million (prior year: eur 52.746 million), result from 
ticket monies already received for future events in the live entertainment segment. these advance 
payments are posted to revenue after the respective events have taken place and accounts have been 
settled.

Other prOviSiOnS (21)

Changes in other provisions are shown in the following table:

provisions for litigation costs were formed to cover procedural costs, court costs and lawyers’ fees. 

 
taX prOviSiOnS (22)

tax provisions ensued as shown in the following table:

Other provisions 

litigation provision 

Others

Total

01.01.2008

[EUR`000]

01.01.2008

[EUR`000]

Consumption

[EUR`000]

Consumption

[EUR`000]

Additions

[EUR`000]

Additions

[EUR`000]

Change in 
consolidated

 

companies

[EUR`000]

Change in 
consolidated

 

companies

[EUR`000]

Currency
 

translation 
differences

[EUR`000]

Currency
 

translation 
differences

[EUR`000]

Reversals

[EUR`000]

Reversals

[EUR`000]

225

897

1,122

-69

-657

-726

12

928

940

0

4

4

0

18

18

-78

-120

-198

90

1,070

1,160

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

5,658

4,250

156

76

3

10,143

-4,197

-4,167

-156

-16

-5

-8,541

2,819

2,798

99

36

153

5,905

8

0

0

0

0

8

0

-18

0

0

10

-8

0

-188

0

-54

0

-242

4,288

2,675

99

42

161

7,265

Tax provisions 

Municipal trade tax 

Corporation tax 

Solidarity supplement 

taxes according to fiscal audit 

Other taxes

Total
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Fiscal audits were performed in some subsidiaries during the financial year, but did not lead to any 
significant changes in earnings.

 
Other liaBilitieS (Current) (23)

Other liabilities comprise eur 96.961 million in financial liabilities (prior year: eur 67.750 million) and 
eur 22.913 million in non-financial liabilities (prior year: eur 17.658 million).

the financial liabilities include liabilities from ticketing revenue that has not yet been invoiced, at eur 
92.619 million (prior year: eur 60.506 million), liabilities from purchase price obligations, at eur 1.662 
million (prior year: eur 1.875 million), liabilities from third-party concerts, at eur 977 thousand (prior 
year: eur 383 thousand) and eur 1.703 million in other financial liabilities (prior year: eur 4.986 mil-
lion).

the non-financial liabilities result from tax liabilities, at eur 10.124 million (prior year: eur 7.504 mil-
lion), social insurance liabilities, at eur 2.406 million (prior year: eur 2.372 million), liabilities to person-
nel, at eur 5.918 million (prior year: eur 4.580 million), credit voucher liabilities, at eur 2.234 million 
(prior year: eur 971 thousand), eur 296 thousand in deferred revenue (prior year: eur 407 thousand) 
and other non-financial liabilities, at eur 1.935 million (prior year: eur 1.824 million).

 
MediuM- and lOng-terM FinanCial liaBilitieS (24)

as at the balance sheet date, medium- and long-term financial liabilities amounting to eur 24.990 
million were carried (prior year: eur 19.811 million). Of that total, eur 16.675 million (prior year: eur 
19.291 million) relate to purchase price obligations deriving from put options and recognised at present 
value, eur 3.701 million to a purchase price obligation for acquisition of a newly consolidated subsidiary 
and recognised at present value (prior year: eur 0), and eur 4.614 million to bank loans (prior year: 
eur 520 thousand).

the impact on earnings caused by compounding the purchase price obligations for put options, recog-
nised at present value, was stated as eur 904 thousand (prior year: eur 365 thousand) in the financial 
result.

 
Other liaBilitieS (nOn-Current) (25)

Other non-current liabilities pertain primarily to liabilities relating to acquired distribution rights, at eur 
1.051 million (prior year: eur 2.102 million). these liabilities have a maturity of between one and five 
years.
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the composition and remaining term of the liabilities as at 31 december 2008 are shown below in the 
following statement of liabilities:

penSiOn prOviSiOnS (26)

the MlK Kg, ticketOne, tOSt und CtS eventim Sports subsidiaries have made direct and individual 
pension commitments to selected beneficiaries. in the 2008 financial year, benefits amounting to eur 
52 thousand were paid out of pension obligations to beneficiaries (prior year: eur 113 thousand). the 
current 2005 g heubeck tables are applicable when accounting for pension obligations. reinsurance 
benefits which have been pledged to beneficiary employees on the basis of pension commitments are 
recognised as plan assets and were offset against pension provisions.

24,989,406
(2007: eur 19.811 m)

1,052,324
(2007: eur 2.102 m)

26,041,730

[EUR]

Total 

 

[EUR]

1) 10,123,717
(2007: eur 7.504 m)

2) 2,405,993
(2007: eur 2.372 m)

5,026,156
(2007: eur 2.932 m)

84,085,940
(2007: eur 52.746 m)

31,692,689
(2007: eur 26.037 m)

1,432,502
(2007: eur 0.287 m)

119,874,519
(2007: eur 85.408 m)

242,111,806

30,015,562 
(2007: eur 22.743 m)

84,085,940
(2007: eur 52.746 m)

31,692,689
(2007: eur 26.037 m)

1,432,502
(2007: eur 0.287 m)

120,926,843
(2007: eur 87.510 m)

 

268,153,536

Between  

one and  

five years

up to  

one year

[EUR] [EUR]

Remaining termStatement of liabilities

Financial liabilities 

 

advance payments received for events

trade payables

payables to affiliated companies

Other liabilities

 

 

Liabilities, total 

1) from taxes 
2) for social security
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Changes in plan assets are shown in the table below. plan assets are reinsurance policies used to 
cover pension obligations. in combination with the income generated in past years and the associated 
expectations regarding future gains, an average of 4.2% is taken as the expected long-term rate of 
return.

The amount of provisions in the balance sheet is as follows: 

Current market value of the plan assets to be attributed 

Cash value of the non-fund-financed obligations

Pension provisions

The following amounts were included in the income statement: 

regular service costs 

interest expenses 

expected income / expenses from plan assets 

actuarial gains / losses in the current year 

plan curtailments

Overall amount included in personnel expenses

The amount of provisions included in the balance sheet developed as follows: 

Beginning of the year 

Obligations acquired as part of company purchase 

Overall expense included in the income statement 

deferred beneficiaries; transfer to other companies 

amounts paid

End of the year

The following essential actuarial assumptions were made: 

discount rate 

expected income from plan assets 

Future salary increases 

Future pension increases

31.12.2008

[EUR]

-856,803

3,378,392

2,521,589

169,815

173,374

24,200

-69,159

-40,200

258,030

1,814,605

562,370

258,030

0

-113,416

2,521,589

5.7%

4.2%

 2.0% - 3.5%

1.9% - 3.0%

31.12.2007

[EUR]

-938,967

3,185,983

2,247,016

142,844

195,423

-26,717

-510,496

0

-198,946

2,521,589

0

-198,946

-23,386

-52,241

2,247,016

6.0%

4.2%

2.0% - 3.5%

1.9% - 3,0%

plan assets 1 January 

expected income from plan assets

Plan assets 31 december

2008

[EUR]

775,061

81,742

856,803

2007

[EUR]

856,803

82,164

938,967

81



Consolidated Financial Statements 2008

deFerred taX liaBilitieS (27)

deferred tax liabilities, at eur 824 thousand (prior year: eur 658 thousand), result from temporary 
differences in the carrying amounts stated in the consolidated balance sheet and in the fiscal balance 
sheet.

 
SharehOlderS’ eQuity (28)

the parent company of the group is organised as a public limited company. as a basic principle, the 
shareholders therefore bear liability only to the amount of their capital share.

reference is made to the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.

the annual Shareholders’ Meeting of the company on 23 august 2005 resolved to increase the share 
capital of CtS ag, previously amounting to eur 12,000,000, by adding an additional eur 12,000,000 
from reserves. the share capital increase was registered at the Munich local Court on 6 October 2005, 
and the new no-par value bearer shares were credited to shareholder depots on 30 October 2005. as 
at the closing date, the company had thus issued 24,000,000 no-par value bearer shares. each share 
represents an arithmetic share in the share capital of eur 1.00.

 
COntingent Capital

as at the balance sheet date, authorised capital amounted to eur 12,000,000. authorisation is granted 
until 31 July 2009. By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 18 august 2004, the Management 
Board is authorised to increase the share capital of the company on one or more occasions in the period 
up to 31 July 2009, contingent on Supervisory Board approval, by issuing new shares against cash 
deposits or contributions in kind, the total increase not to exceed eur 6,000,000. the shareholders 
must be granted subscription rights to such new shares, but the Management Board is authorised to 
exclude such subscription rights, subject to Supervisory Board approval. at the Shareholders’ Meeting 
on 23 august 2005, the relevant authorisation was extended to eur 12,000,000 and thus adjusted to 
the increased share capital. no use has been made so far of this authorisation.

at the Shareholders’ Meeting on 21 January 2000, a contingent share capital increase of eur 180,000 
was agreed (contingent capital 2000/1). this increase shall be effected only to the extent that holders 
of options issued under the Stock Option plan on the basis of the authorisation granted on 21 January 
2000 exercise their stock options. the new shares participate in the profits of the company from the 
beginning of the financial year in which the stock options are exercised. the Management Board is 
authorised, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, to specify the further details of the contingent 
capital increase and its implementation. as a consequence of the shareholders’ resolution on 23 august 
2005 to increase the share capital to eur 24,000,000, this contingent share capital has increased 
accordingly to eur 360,000 in accordance with § 218 sentence 1 aktg.

the annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 15 May 2008 authorised the Management Board to issue stock 
options and convertible bonds to a total value of up to eur 275 million and with a maximum term of 
20 years, conditional on Supervisory Board approval, by 14 May 2013, to grant the holders option and 
conversion rights to up to 11,000,000 new no-par bearer shares in the company, equal to share capital 
of up to eur 11,000,000, and to exclude shareholders, within legally permitted limits, from subscribing 
to the convertible bonds under certain conditions. in view of the possible issue of shares to holders of 
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option and conversion rights on the basis of this authorisation, the company’s articles of incorporation 
were amended simultaneously to create an additional eur 11,000,000 in contingent capital (‘contingent 
capital 2008’). no use has been made so far of this authorisation.

 
authOriSatiOn tO purChaSe treaSury StOCK

By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting held on 15 May 2008, the company was also authorised 
under § 71 (1) no. 8 aktg to purchase treasury stock amounting to up to 10% of the registered share 
capital, by 14 november 2009, as at the date of resolution, and to use these for specific purposes as 
detailed in the resolution, partially with exclusion of subscription rights for shareholders. 

the countervalue paid for these shares may not exceed or fall below the traded price by more than 
10%. the applicable share price is defined as the mean closing price for shares on the Xetra trading 
platform during the last five trading days before publication of the offer to purchase the shares.

the volume of the offering may be limited. if the total subscription to the offering exceeds said volume, 
quotas shall be allocated in proportion to the number of shares offered in each case. the authorisation 
to repurchase own shares may be exercised under the aforementioned restrictions in partial amounts, 
on one or more occasions, and to pursue one or more aims.

the premium (§ 272 (2) no. 1 hgB) for the shares issued on the stock exchange is disclosed under 
capital reserve. as part of the share capital increase implemented in October 2005, eur 12,000,000 
of the capital reserve was converted to share capital, and 12,000,000 new no-par value bearer shares 
were issued.

 
MinOrity intereSt

Minority interests comprise the shares held by third parties in the shareholders’ equity of the consoli-
dated subsidiaries. in accordance with iaS 1, minority interest is separately disclosed under sharehold-
ers’ equity. Minority interest decreased from eur 7.153 million to eur 5.795 million. this change mainly 
results from profit distributions to minority interest (eur -7.339 million) in the 2008 financial year, bal-
anced against proportionate shares in the consolidated net income for 2008 (eur 6.336 million). 

in accordance with iaS 32, the CtS group has applied the standard to equity instruments of minority 
shareholders holding put options. the put options held by certain minority shareholders are therefore 
disclosed under financial liabilities and reduce the amount of minority interest.
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3. additiOnal diSClOSureS On FinanCial inStruMentS (iFrS 7) 
3.1 FinanCial aSSetS

the financial assets as at 31 december 2008 are shown in the table below:

the financial assets as at 31 december 2007 are shown in the table below:

with regard to receivables that are neither impaired nor overdue, there are no indications as at the 
closing date that the debtors will not honour their obligations.

trade receivables 

receivables from  

affiliated companies 

Other assets 

loans

trade receivables 

receivables from  

affiliated companies 

Other assets 

loans

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

1,370

7

533

0

1,910

621

196

123

0

940

1,138

0

46

0

1,184

1,712

0

370

0

2,082

23,212

3,107

9,053

1,865

37,237

28,566

3,427

10,265

1,865

44,123

[EUR`000]

[EUR`000]

394

775

755

0

1,924

1,125

101

123

0

1,349

1,050

12

509

0

1,571

1,268

49

751

0

2,068

19,923

257

11,967

2,291

34,438

24,203

1,860

14,225

2,298

42,586

thereof: neither 
impaired and nor 

overdue at the bal-
ance sheet date

thereof: neither 
impaired and nor 

overdue at the bal-
ance sheet date

less than 30 days

less than 30 days

between  
30 - 90 days

between  
30 - 90 days

between  
90 - 180 days

between  
90 - 180 days

more that  
180 days

more that  
180 days

Carrying value
31.12.2008

Carrying value
31.12.2007

thereof: not impaired but overdue at the balance sheet date 

thereof: not impaired but overdue at the balance sheet date 
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allowances for doubtful accounts as at 1 Janurary 

Change in consolidated companies 

Consumption 

reversal 

additions 

Currency differences

Allowances for doubtful accounts as at 31 december

2008

[EUR`000]

2,254

1,471

-225

-424

618

0

3,694

2007

[EUR`000]

3,694

0

-715

-433

1,748

20

4,314

allowances for doubtful accounts changed as follows:

3.2 FinanCial liaBilitieS

the following table shows the contractually agreed (undiscounted) repayments and interest payments 
in respect of the original financial liabilities, as at 31 december 2008:

the following table shows the contractually agreed (undiscounted) repayments and interest payments 
in respect of the original financial liabilities, as at 31 december 2007:

Financial liabilities 

 

trade payables 

 

payables to affiliated companies 

Other liabilities

Financial liabilities 

 

trade payables 

 

payables to affiliated companies 

Other liabilities

Redemption

< 1 year 

[EUR`000]

Redemption

< 1 year 

[EUR`000]

Redemption

1-2 years 

[EUR`000]

Redemption

1-2 years 

[EUR`000]

Redemption

3-4 years 

[EUR`000]

Redemption

3-4 years 

[EUR`000]

Interest 

< 1 year 

[EUR`000]

Interest 

< 1 year 

[EUR`000]

Interest

1-2 years 

[EUR`000]

Interest

1-2 years 

[EUR`000]

Interest

3-4 years 

[EUR`000]

Interest

3-4 years 

[EUR`000]

Carrying 

value

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

Carrying 

value

31.12.2007 

[EUR`000]

30,016

31,693

1,433

98,013 

161,155

22,743

26,037

287

69,852

118,919

-226

0

0

0

-226

-41

0

0

0

-41

-7,965

0

0

0

-7,965

-109

0

0

0

-109

-5,078

-31,693

-1,433

-96,961

-135,165

-3,206

-26,037

-287

-67,750

-97,280

-376

0

0

0

-376

0

0

0

-223

-223

-18,594

0

0

-1,052

-19,646

-19,428

0

0

-2,102

-21,530

-174

0

0

0

-174

0

0

0

0

0
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the above includes all instruments in place as at the balance sheet date and for which payments had 
already been contractually agreed. Budget figures for future liabilities are not included. Foreign currency 
amounts are converted at the spot rates applying on the closing date. the variable interest payments in 
respect of the financial instruments were calculated using the interest rates fixed most recently prior to 
31 december 2008. Financial liabilities that are repayable at any time are always allocated to the earli-
est timeframe.

 
3.3 additiOnal diSClOSureS On FinanCial inStruMentS

the following table shows the carrying amounts, recognition and fair values for the 2008 business year 
according to recognition categories:

[EUR`000]

Fair value 

[EUR`000]

At amortized 
costs

[EUR`000]

Carrying value
31.12.2008

Balance sheet value according to IAS 39

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

trade receivables 

receivables from affiliated companies 

Other assets 

Financial assets 

investments stated at equity 

loans

Liabilities 

Short-term financial liabilities and  

current portion of long-term financial liabilities 

trade payables 

payables to affiliated companies 

Other liabilities 

Medium- and long-term financial liabilities

Categories according to iaS 39: 

loans and receivables 

Financial liabilties 

available-for-sale financial assets

213,072

28,566

3,778

10,347

1,156

224

1,877

5,026

31,693

1,441

98,013

24,990

257,640

161,163

1,380

213,072

28,566

3,427

10,265

1,156

224

1,865

5,026

31,693

1,433

98,013

24,990

257,195

161,155

1,380

213,072

28,566

3,427

10,265

1,156

224

1,865

5,026

31,693

1,433

98,013

24,990

257,195

161,155

1,380
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Carrying amounts, recognition and fair values for the 2007 financial year are shown in the following 
table according to recognition categories:

the fair value of a financial instrument is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

if financial instruments are listed on an active market, like fund shares, in particular, the respective 
listed price signifies the fair value on that market. in the case of unlisted bonds, liabilities to banks, prom-
issory note bonds and other non-current financial liabilities, the fair value is calculated as the present 
value of the future cash flows, taking interest rate curves and the rating-dependent credit risk premium 
of the CtS group into account.

For cash funds, current trade receivables and other receivables, current trade payables and other 
liabilities, it is assumed that the fair value equals the carrying amount, given the short remaining term of 
the carrying amounts. the fair values of non-current trade receivables and other receivables are equal 
to the present value of the cash flows associated with these assets.

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

trade receivables 

receivables from affiliated companies 

Other assets 

Financial assets 

investments stated at equity 

loans

Liabilities 

Short-term financial liabilities and  

current portion of long-term financial liabilities 

trade payables 

payables to affiliated companies 

Other liabilities 

Medium- and long-term financial liabilities 

 

Categories according to iaS 39: 

loans and receivables 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

Financial liabilties 

available-for-sale financial assets

[EUR`000]

Fair value 

[EUR`000]

At fair value 
through profit  

and loss

[EUR`000]

At amortized costs

[EUR`000]

Carrying value
31.12.2007

Balance sheet value according to IAS 39

141,764

24,203

2,085

14,349

998

33

2,367

2,932

26,037

415

70,007

19,811

170,928

13,840

119,202

1,031

13,840

13,840

127,924

24,203

1,860

14,225

998

33

2,298

2,932

26,037

287

69,852

19,811

170,510

118,919

1,031

141,764

24,203

1,860

14,225

998

33

2,298

2,932

26,037

287

69,852

19,811

170,510

13,840

118,919

1,031
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loans and receivables 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

available-for-sale financial assets 

Financial liabilities

3,535

400

216

-2,244

1,907

2008

[EUR`000]

3,804

206

833

-1,125

3,718

2007

[EUR`000]

net inCOMe/lOSS FrOM FinanCial inStruMentS

the net results in the recognition category loans and receivables and financial liabilities mainly com-
prise interest income and interest expense. gains and losses from the disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets are reported in the financial result. 

 
4. nOteS tO the COnSOlidated inCOMe StateMent 

revenue (1)

group revenue increased by eur 19.973 million or 5.2%, from eur 384.375 million in 2007 to eur 
404.348 million in 2008. revenue (before consolidation between segments) breaks down to eur 
287.994 million in the live entertainment segment (prior year: eur 301.281 million) and eur 120.130 
million in the ticketing segment (prior year: eur 87.449 million).

 
COSt OF SaleS (2)

expenditures are stated in the income statement according to function. the income statements of 
the subsidiaries are firstly prepared using the type of expenditure method, with costs then being reas-
signed to the functional expenses of the cost of sales method using conversion codes for the respective 
cost elements, for integration in the group financial statements according to iFrS. Cost elements are 
assigned either to 100% or on the basis of workforce number and personnel expenses. using this con-
version code, material expenses, personnel expenses, depreciation and amortization and other operat-
ing expenses of the individual companies according to the cost of expenditure method are assigned to 
cost of sales, selling expenses, general administrative expenses and other operating expenses.

Cost of sales comprises all material expenses as well as proportional personnel expenses, deprecia-
tion and amortization and other operating expenses.

in the following, material expenses, personnel expenses, depreciation and amortization and other 
operating expenses are presented using the ‘type of expenditure method’. 
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Cost of materials, supplies and purchased merchandise 

Cost of purchased services

20,251

263,468

283,719

2008

[EUR`000]

17,491

-16,431

1,060

Change

[EUR`000]

2,760

279,899

282,659

2007

[EUR`000]

Material expenses (according to type of expenditure method)

Material expenses calculated using the type of expenditure method are allocated in full to cost of sales 
using the cost of sales method.

personnel expenses calculated using the type of expenditure method are allocated on a percentage 
basis to cost of sales, selling expenses and general administrative expenses using the cost of sales 
method. employer contributions to pension insurance were 9.95% in the 2008 financial year.

depreciation and amortization calculated using the type of expenditure method are allocated on a per-
centage basis to cost of sales, selling expenses and general administrative expenses using the cost of 
sales method. eur 2.553 million in depreciation and amortization costs were factored into cost of sales 
(prior year: eur 2.507 million), eur 3.280 million into selling expenses (prior year: eur 2.915 million) 
and eur 1.714 million into general administrative expenses (prior year: eur 1.371 million). deprecia-
tion and amortization of financial assets amounted to eur 3 thousand (prior year: eur 494 thousand) 
and were included in the financial result.

wages and salaries 

Social insurance contributions and expenses for pensions and employee support

34,681

4,803

39,484

7,509

216

7,725

27,172

4,587

31,759

Personnel expenses (according to type of expenditure method)

depreciation and amortization on intangible and fixed assets 7,547
7,547

754

754

6,793

6,793

depreciation and amortization (according to type of expenditure method)

Other operating expenses 30,309

30,309

6,797

6,797

23,512

23,512

Other operating expenses (according to type of expenditure method)

2008

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

Change

[EUR`000]

Change

[EUR`000]

Change

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

89



Consolidated Financial Statements 2008

Other operating expenses calculated using the type of expenditure method are allocated on a per-
centage basis to cost of sales, selling expenses, general administrative expenses and other operating 
expenses using the cost of sales method.

 
Selling eXpenSeS (3)

Selling expenses include expenditures for sales, advertising and marketing. the increase in selling 
expenses is mainly due to higher personnel expenses (up eur 2.522 million), to higher expenses for 
legal and consultancy services (up eur 777 thousand), to losses on receivables and allowances for 
doubtful accounts (up eur 1.030 million) and to advertising expenses (up eur 416 thousand).

 
general adMiniStrative eXpenSeS (4)

the increase in general administrative expenses is mainly attributable to increased personnel expenses 
(up eur 1.307 million) resulting, in particular, from handling the live nation project, from acquisition-
related changes in the scope of consolidation, and in the live entertainment segment from additional 
venues for events organised by the palazzo companies. general administrative expenses include those 
expenses for administration which are not allocated to sales department.

 
Other Operating inCOMe (5)

Other operating income comprises the following items:

income from the reversal of provisions 

income from insurance compensation 

Marketing 

income from the reversal of allowances for doubtful accounts 

income from currency translation 

income relating to other periods 

income from charged expenses 

payments of damages 

income from written-off liabilities / written-off receivables 

Other operating income

198

186

888

433

513

414

513

237

2,097

1,462

6,941

2008

[EUR`000]

-297

-615

114

9

158

210

121

-325

1,496

-1,422

-551

Change

[EUR`000]

495

801

774

424

355

204

392

562

601

2,884

7,492

2007

[EUR`000]
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Other Operating eXpenSeS (6)

Other operating expenses comprise the following items:

inCOMe / eXpenSeS FrOM COMpanieS in whiCh partiCipatiOnS are held (7)

income from participations relates primarily to an investment by argO Konzerte gmbh, würzburg 
(eur 30 thousand).

 
inCOMe / eXpenSeS FrOM inveStMentS Stated at eQuity (8)

Of the income from investments stated at equity, eur 169 thousand was attributable to greenfield 
Festival ag, hünenberg (prior year: eur 0), and eur 3 thousand (prior year: eur 17 thousand) to 
greensave gmbh, würzburg.

 
FinanCial inCOMe (9)

Financial income consists of eur 4.246 million in interest (prior year: eur 3.899 million) and eur 426 
thousand in other financial income (prior year: eur 576 thousand) mainly resulting from selling financial 
assets.

expenses for third-party services 

loss from disposal of intangible and fixed assets 

Maintenance expenses 

Currency translation expenses 

donations 

Cost for the supply of goods sold 

leases / rent 

expenses passed on to third parties 

expenses relating to other periods / non-operating costs 

Other operating expenses

1,326 

53 

237 

1,022 

171 

101 

540 

724 

705 

2,167 

7,046

288 

42 

-28 

511 

91 

5 

92 

-311 

-100 

211 

801

1,038 

11 

265 

511 

80 

96 

448 

1,035 

805 

1,956 

6,245

2008

[EUR`000]

Change

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]
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FinanCial eXpenSeS (10)

distributions to minority interest, at eur 93 thousand (prior year: eur 187 thousand), and the increase 
in the present value of purchase price obligations in respect of put options, at eur 904 thousand (prior 
year: eur 365 thousand), were stated as financial expenses in accordance with iaS 32.

Financial expenses mainly comprise interest expense of eur 740 thousand (prior year: eur 352 
thousand).

 
taXeS (11)

the total disclosed tax expense is broken down as follows:

Current tax expenses are calculated by applying the taxation rules of the respective countries in which 
the subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income, as applicable on the balance sheet date or which 
will be applicable in the near future.

deferred tax expenses (net) result from the creation and/or reversal of temporary differences between 
iFrS carrying values and fiscal carrying values.

deferred tax expenses developed as follows:

income tax 

deferred tax

deferred tax 

 of which: 

  from temporary differences 

  from tax loss carry forwards

16,258

1,577

17,835

1,577

9

1,568

-2,710

46

-2,664

46

-273

319

18,968

1,531

20,499

1,531

282

1,249

2008

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

Change

[EUR`000]

Change

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]
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profit from ordinary business activities (eBt)

Adjustments to tax expenses

Expected income taxes 

deviation due to basis of calculation for municipal trade tax 

decrease / increase in value adjustment of deferred tax assets / liabilities 

losses without formation of deferred tax assets / liabilities 

Changes of deferred taxes due to changes of tax rates and tax law 

non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses 

Other tax effects

Income tax expense according to the consolidated income statement

53,378

16,547

-213

477

694

4

482

-156

17,835

2008

[EUR`000]

50,322

19,827

0

0

0

171

161

340

20,499

2007

[EUR`000]

the following table shows the reconciliation of the tax expense expected in the respective financial year 
with the tax expense as actually disclosed. to determine the expected tax expense for 2008, an average 
tax rate of 31.0% (prior year: 39.4%) was multiplied by the pre-tax profit. the financial expenses within 
the meaning of iaS 32 are merely an adjustment at group level, so there were no tax-reducing effects 
in the 2008 financial year or in the preceding year.

MinOrity intereSt (12)

the minority interest in the net income for 2008 is eur 6.336 million (prior year: eur 6.813 million).

according to iaS 32 rules, minority interest in companies with corresponding put options need not be 
recognised.

 
5. nOteS tO the CaSh FlOw StateMent

CaSh FlOw FrOM Operating aCtivitieS (1)

Cash flow from operating activities increased year-on-year by eur 81.816 million from eur 23.962 
million to eur 105.778 million. this increase in cash flow from operating activities mainly results from 
the eur 79.914 million change in liabilities. the increase in liabilities is attributable, in particular, to the 
increase in advance payments received by the live entertainment segment, at eur 58.372 million, and 
in liabilities accruing from ticket revenues that have not yet been invoiced, at eur 9.824 million, and in 
other liabilities, at eur 7.766 million.

 
CaSh FlOw FrOM inveSting aCtivitieS (2)

Cash outflows for investing activities increased by eur 617 thousand to eur 19.374 million and 
reflects the growth strategy of the CtS group. the eur 617 thousand increase mainly results from 
increased investments in intangible assets (software and rights), which totalled eur 4.340 million, and 
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in fixed assets (for new types of events), at eur 824 thousand; these increases were offset by reduced 
investment in acquisition of consolidated companies, which totalled eur 3.935 million.

 
CaSh FlOw FrOM FinanCing aCtivitieS (3)

Cash outflow for financing activities decreased year-on-year by eur 1.940 million to eur 15.096 mil-
lion. this reduced cash outflow was principally due to external borrowing and less redemption of finan-
cial loans (up eur 6.799 million). these effects were offset by an absence of proceeds from addition 
of shareholders’ equity by minority interest and by larger distributions of profit to minority interest (down 
eur 4.860 million). the dividend paid to shareholders was about the same as the year before, at eur 
11.759 million. 

 
6. earningS per Share

earnings per share were calculated according to iaS 33 by dividing the consolidated net income for 
the year, after deduction of minority interest, by the number of shares outstanding (basic earnings per 
share). as at the balance sheet date, there is no dilution as a result of convertible bonds, stock options 
or similar instruments (potential common stock).

the earnings per share were determined as follows:

7. SegMent repOrting

the group operates in the leisure events market with its ticketing and live entertainment divisions. 
CtS ag, the parent company of the group, operates in the field of ticketing and is the one company that 
sets the pace in this particular segment. Statements made in respect of the ticketing segment apply also 
and especially to CtS ag. Selling tickets for leisure events is the basic object of the ticketing segment, 
which markets events (tickets) using its market-leading network platform (eventim.net), the in-house 
ticketing product (eventim.inhouse), the sport ticketing product (eventim.tixx) and a solution for ticket 
sales and admission control in stadiums and arenas. the basic object of the live entertainment seg-
ment is organising and executing events.

the segmentation of the group is based on the internal reporting structure and includes the compo-
nents required by iaS 14.

net income after minority interest 

Qty. of shares 

Earnings per share

29,206,648

24,000,000

1.22

2008

[EUR]

23,010,235

24,000,000

0.96

2007

[EUR]
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transfer prices for intercompany services are determined in accordance with normal market conditions.

 
nOteS tO the SegMentS

as at the end of 2008, the companies operating in the segments were as follows:

 
tiCKeting

• CTS AG • TEX • ÖTS • ÖT Nord-West • ÖT SüdOst • ÖT Nordost • TEX Ungarn  
• TEX Hungary Kft. • GSO KG • CTS Solutions • CTS Eventim Sports • CTS Nederland B.V.  
• CTS Eventim Schweiz • Zritel • TicketOne • Panischi • TOST • TSC • CTS Eventim Schweden  
• Lippupiste

 
live entertainMent

• MLK KG • PRK KG • Semmel • FKP Scorpio • ARGO • Dirk Becker • LS • PGM • CRP  
• Palazzo Hamburg • Palazzo Wien • Palazzo Amsterdam • Act Entertainment • Palazzo Berlin  
• Octopus • Showfactory 

 
the segment-related data were determined as follows:

internal revenue between the group companies in a given segment have already been consolidated at 
segment level. the assets were allocated to the segments in the course of consolidation.

revenue between the segments were eliminated in the consolidation column. Services were invoiced 
at the normal market prices charged to third parties.

the internal and external revenue of the segments are shown in the following table:

external revenue 

intercompany revenue 

Total revenue  

Consolidation 

within segment 

Revenue after consolidation 

within segment

384,375

71,223

455,598

-66,868

388,730

300,155

60,307

360,462

-59,181

301,281

84,220

10,916

95,136

-7,687

87,449

2007

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

404,348

67,095

471,443

-63,319

408,124

286,111

54,407

340,518

-52,524

287,994

118,237

12,688

130,925

-10,795

120,130

2008

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

Total for segmentLive EntertainmentTicketing
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the group is divided into the aforementioned two segments, which generated the following figures after 
consolidation:

* the return on sales is calculated by dividing the segment eBitda by the segment revenue.

the group invested a total of eur 18.925 million in the ticketing segment (including change in the 
entities included in consolidation). investments in fixed assets related to hardware for box offices, pro-
moters and the internet portals, investments in projects and in operating and office equipment (eur 
2.091 million). investments in intangible assets (including goodwill) amounted to eur 16.662 million, of 
which eur 8.576 million was spent on additions to goodwill. additions to goodwill include eur 1.391 
million from put options to be recognised in accordance with iaS 32. eur 172 thousand were invested 
in financial assets. depreciation and amortization of intangible assets amounted to eur 3.728 million 
(prior year: eur 3.758 million), and eur 1.795 million (prior year: eur 1.653 million) in the case of 
fixed assets.

in the live entertainment segment, the group invested a total of eur 7.095 million. eur 2.760 mil-
lion were invested in fixed assets and eur 4.131 million in intangible assets (including goodwill). the 
investments in intangible assets mainly related to trademark rights (eur 2.020 million) and to goodwill 
(eur 1.853 million). eur 204 thousand were invested in financial assets. depreciation and amortization 
of intangible assets amounted to eur 479 thousand (prior year: eur 548 thousand), and eur 1.545 
million (prior year: eur 834 thousand) in the case of fixed assets.

revenue 

Operating profit  

(eBit) 

eBitda 

depreciation and  

amortization 

Financial result 

profit from  

ordinary business 

activities (eBt) 

taxes  

net income before 

minority interest  

Minority  

interest 

net income after 

minority interest  

average no.  

of employees 

return on sales*

2007

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

2007

[EUR`000]

384,375

47,102

53,895

-6,793

3,220

50,322

-20,499

29,823

-6,813

23,010

893

14.0%

404,348

50,282

57,830

-7,547

3,096

53,378

-17,835

35,543

-6,336

29,207

969

14.3%

-4,355

10

11

0

-3,776

-3

-2

0

301,281

20,459

21,841

-1,382

277

7.2%

287,994

15,695

17,719

-2,024

310

6.2%

87,449

26,633

32,043

-5,411

616

36.6%

120,130

34,590

40,113

-5,523

 

659

33.4%

2008

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

Group

Intersegment  

consoldidationLive EntertainmentTicketing
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the total investments in the ticketing and live entertainment segments (change in entities included in 
consolidation, plus additions) are shown in detail in the analysis of assets.

the assets and liabilities that can be directly allocated to a specific segment must be disclosed accord-
ingly. Segment assets are the operating assets that are used by a segment to perform its operating activ-
ities and which can be either directly attributed to the segment or which are allocated to the segment on 
a reasonable basis. income tax refund claims do not form part of segments’ assets. Segment liabilities 
are the operating liabilities that result for a segment from its operating activities and which can be either 
directly attributed to the segment or allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment liabilities 
do not include income tax liabilities, pension provisions or minority interest. Other items comprise all 
assets and liabilities which are not allocated to the assets or liabilities of the segments.

the assets and liabilities as at the closing date are as follows:

the liabilities of the live entertainment segment include advance payments received amounting 
to eur 84.550 million that are posted as revenue after the respective events have taken place and 
accounts have been settled.

 
geOgraphiCal SegMentS

the following table shows the revenue, carrying amounts of segment assets and investments in fixed 
assets and intangible assets in the 2008 business year, broken down by geographical segment:

105,665

207,550

203,767

2007

[EUR`000]

102,961

161,821

154,514

2008

[EUR`000]

89,111

115,687

108,281

2007

[EUR`000]

35,723

118,383

122,568

2008

[EUR`000]

31,225

92,035

88,207

2007

[EUR`000]

0

6,975

9,309

2008

[EUR`000]

0

3,992

12,585

2007

[EUR`000]

-15,180

-5,596

-6,741

2008

[EUR`000]

-14,671

-4,164

-5,306

2007

[EUR`000]

123,504

281,583

279,650

2008

[EUR`000]

Group

property, plant  

and equipment 

Other assets 

liabilities

Intersegment  

consoldidationOther itemsLive EntertainmentTicketing

germany 

italy 

Finland 

Other countries

Investments 
in fixed 

assets and 
intangible 

assets
[EUR`000]

Carrying 
value of seg-
ment assets

[EUR`000]

11,385

2,012

9,895

2,321

25,613

315,060

28,856

8,321

45,875

398,112

325,686

16,517

1,250

60,895

404,348

Revenue
[EUR`000]
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8. eMplOyeeS

On average over the year, 969 salaried staff (prior year: 893) were employed by the group. Of that total, 
538 (prior year: 487) were employed in germany, and 431 (prior year: 406) in foreign countries.

 
9. FinanCial OBligatiOnS

the rental and leasing agreements must be allocated to the ‘operating lease’ category in accordance 
with iaS 17. the rental obligations relate to rental payments for office premises, and the leasing obliga-
tions pertain primarily to vehicles.

the rental and leasing obligations are shown in the following table:

as at the reporting date, there were contingent liabilities amounting to eur 5.810 million. the contin-
gent liabilities relating to the acquisition of additional shares in a subsidiary consist of a purchase price 
obligation on the part of Medusa. this commitment depends on future operating results of the subsidiary 
and is carried at eur 5.810 million as at the balance sheet date.

CtS ag also bears liability for debts owed to banks by CtS Solutions. as at the balance sheet date, 
CtS Solutions has no liabilities to banks.

 
10. eventS aFter the BalanCe Sheet date

the following special events have occurred since the balance sheet date:

in mid-February 2009, the planned merger of live nation and ticketmaster entertainment was 
announced. this merger is subject to approval by the antitrust agency and to the granting of consent 
by the shareholders. it is currently assumed that the planned merger in case of realization will not have 
any material impact on the existing ticketing partnership agreements between live nation and the CtS 
group.

there are no other events requiring disclosure.

rental obligations 

leasing obligations 

Other obligations

2,894

311

9

3,214

1 - 5 years

[EUR`000]

< 1 year

[EUR`000]

> 5 years

[EUR`000]

1 - 5 years

[EUR`000]

1,792

260

461

2,513

563

0

229

792

5,145

389

407

5,941

2,430

343

1,230

4,003

< 1 year

[EUR`000]

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

> 5 years

[EUR`000]

326

0

0

326
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11. FinanCial riSKS

deFault riSKS

there are credit or default risks to the extent that a person owing a debt is no longer able to settle it. 
the maximum default risks are equal in theory to the present value of all receivables minus the liabilities 
payable to the same debtor if set-off is possible. in the annual financial statements of CtS ag and the 
group, allowances for doubtful accounts were made to cover bad debts.

in the 2008 business year, security amounting to eur 8.149 million (prior year: eur 4.813 million) was 
provided for group companies, mainly to hedge the risks in ticket pre-sales by various box offices (eur 
7.838 million, prior year: eur 4.190 million).

 
FOreign eXChange riSKS

the foreign exchange risk to which the group is exposed results from investments, financing activities 
and operating activities. Foreign exchange risks which do not affect the cash flow of the group (i.e. the 
risks which result from translating the assets and liabilities of foreign entities into the group reporting 
currency) remain unsecured, as a basic principle.

a currency risk can also arise when intercompany receivables or liabilities exist in a currency other than 
the functional currency of the consolidated financial statements. the effects of exchange rate variations 
on the company are minimal.

iFrS 7 requires that financial risk exposure be presented in the form of sensitivity analyses showing 
the effects that hypothetical changes in relevant risk variables will have on earnings and shareholders’ 
equity. the CtS group is exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign exchange and interest 
rates. the periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes in risk variables to the 
financial instruments in place at the closing date. it is assumed that the volume of such instruments at 
the closing date is representative for the year as a whole. Foreign exchange risks within the meaning of 
iFrS 7 ensue when financial instruments are denominated in a currency other than the functional cur-
rency and are of a monetary nature; currency translation differences relating to the translation of finan-
cial statements into the functional currency of the group are ignored in this regard. all non-functional 
currencies in which the CtS group enters into financial instruments are deemed relevant risk variables.

if the euro had appreciated (or decreased) in value by 10% against all other currencies as at 31 
december 2008, the consolidating net income after tax would have been eur 66 thousand higher 
(or lower, respectively) (prior year: eur 152 thousand higher (lower)). the hypothetical effect on net 
income after tax, at eur 66 thousand, results specifically from the currency sensitivities eur/uSd 
(eur 89 thousand), eur/gBp (eur 3 thousand) and eur/ChF (eur -26 thousand).

 
intereSt riSKS

Financial derivatives for hedging interest rates are not used. Fixed and variable interest rate agree-
ments are in place for long-term loans, and short-term credit lines are not used continuously throughout 
the year, with the result that potential interest rate increases do not pose a significant risk to the group.
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Changes in the market interest rates of original financial instruments with fixed interest rates affect 
earnings only when these are recognised at fair value. accordingly, all financial instruments with fixed 
interest rates and recognised at current purchase costs are not exposed to any interest risks within the 
meaning of iFrS 7.

if the level of market interest rates had been 100 base points higher (lower) as at 31 december 2008, 
consolidated net income after tax would have been eur 1 thousand lower (higher) (prior year: eur 8 
thousand). the hypothetical eur 1 thousand effect on consolidated income results from the potential 
effects of original financial debts of eur 246 thousand that are subject to variable interest rates.

 
CaSh FlOw riSKS

Cash flow risks arise if the payment obligations of the group cannot be covered with available cash or 
credit lines. however, the group had sufficient cash reserves at the 2008 balance sheet date.

the group has bank liabilities of eur 5.271 million (prior year: eur 1.546 million).

 
Capital riSK ManageMent

the aim of capital management is to ensure that the group is able to achieve its aims and strategies 
in the interest of shareholders. the aim is to maximise growth in the value of the group and its subsidi-
aries. the financial system within the CtS group is geared to continuous and sustained growth of the 
group’s value. in order to optimise and safeguard the allocation of financial resources within the group, 
the group seeks to control the associated financial market risks in a foresighted manner.

in the 2008 financial year, no significant negative impacts of the financial crisis were identified either 
in the CtS group or in CtS ag. Consumer demand for live entertainment seems to be unbroken, even 
or precisely when the economy is going through difficult times. due to the low requirement for external 
borrowing, changes in banks’ lending practices have not had any effects on the group. Since the CtS 
group and CtS ag pursue a very conservative strategy for monetary investments, there were no nega-
tive effects on earnings performance, cash flow or financial position. 

 
12. pending COurt prOCeedingS

the group is involved in pending proceedings and litigation as arises in the normal course of business. 
in the view of the company’s legal representatives, there will be no material impact on the financial 
position, cash flow and earnings performance of the group when these matters are brought to an end. 
provisions amounting to eur 90 thousand were formed as at the balance sheet date to cover litigation 
expenses.

 
13. deClaratiOn OF COMplianCe

On 13 november 2008, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of CtS ag released a 
further declaration of compliance with the recommendations of the ‘government Commission on the 
german Corporate governance Code’ pursuant to § 161 aktg, and made said declaration permanently 
available to shareholders on the CtS ag website.
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14. appliCatiOn OF § 264 (3) hgB and § 264B hgB

Some corporate enterprises and business partnerships within the meaning of § 264a hgB that are 
affiliated and consolidated CtS ag companies, and for which the consolidated financial statements of 
CtS ag have the effect of discharging obligations to prepare and disclose financial statements, make 
use of the exemption option provided by § 264 (3) hgB and § 264b hgB:

 • CTS Eventim Solutions GmbH, Bremen 
 • GSO Gesellschaft für Softwareentwicklung und Organisation mbH & Co. KG, Bremen 
 • Marek Lieberberg Konzertagentur GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt/Main 
 • Peter Rieger Konzertagentur GmbH & Co. KG, Cologne

 
15. nOtiFiaBle SeCuritieS tranSaCtiOnS purSuant tO § 15a  
 SeCuritieS trading aCt (wphg)

in the 2008 business year, executive officers of CtS ag conducted the following notifiable securities 
transactions in shares of the company, and notified the company thereof:

all transactions were published by CtS ag in the proper manner.

 
16. related party diSClOSureS

according to iaS 24, companies or persons that exercise control over, or are controlled by the group 
must be disclosed if they have not already been included as consolidated companies in the consolidated 
financial statements of the group.

the transactions of the CtS group with related companies and persons pertain to reciprocal services 
and were concluded only at the arm’s-length conditions which normally apply between third parties. the 
majority shareholder of CtS ag is a controlling shareholder of other companies associated with the 
group.

the contractual relationships with related companies and persons resulted in the following goods and 
services being sold to and bought from related parties in the 2008 reporting period:

Goods and services supplied by the Group 

Services in connection with tours 

Supply of ticketing software 

allocation of operating costs 

Other

6,584

258

344

421

7,607

2008

[EUR`000]

Transaction Trading day Number of units

71522.01.2008SaleSupervisory Board

Position

prof. Jobst w. plog

Name
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eur 215 thousand in goods and services were supplied by the group to subsidiaries not included in 
consolidation due to insignificance, while eur 342 thousand in goods and services were supplied to 
associated companies, and eur 7.050 million to other related parties.

eur 932 thousand in goods and services were received by the group from subsidiaries not included 
in consolidation due to insignificance, while eur 25 thousand in goods and services were supplied by 
associated companies, and eur 11.157 million were supplied by other related parties.

Compensation paid to managers in key positions is disclosed under item 18 of the notes to the conso-
lidated financial statements.

Goods and services received by the Group 

Fulfilment services 

tenancy agreements 

Call centre operations 

Business services agreements 

production costs for events 

Other

Receivables from 

Subsidiaries not included in consolidation due to insignificance 

associated companies 

Other related parties

Liabilities to 

Subsidiaries not included in consolidation due to insignificance 

associated companies 

Other related parties

7,230

351

2,353

885

895

400

12,114

2,969

215

1,863

5,047

302

0

2,107

2,409

2008

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]

2008

[EUR`000]
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17. auditOr eXpenSeS

in the 2008 financial year, auditing expenses of eur 372 thousand (prior year: eur 200 thousand) 
and eur 162 thousand (prior year: eur 99 thousand) for other services were recognised.

 
18. MandateS and eMOluMentS OF the ManageMent BOard

during the 2008 financial year, the members of the Management Board were not members of any 
Supervisory Boards.

the amounts of compensation paid to individual members of the Management Board were as follows:

19. MandateS and eMOluMentS OF the SuperviSOry BOard

the members of the Supervisory Board in the 2008 financial year were as follows:

Edmund hug, businessman, Oberstenfeld   – Chairman –
 Other supervisory board memberships: 
  • schlott gruppe AG, Freudenstadt 
  • Lidl & Schwarz GmbH, Neckarsulm (until 31 December 2008) 
  • Scholz AG, Aalen

dr. Peter haßkamp, lawyer, Bremen   – vice-Chairman –
 Other supervisory board memberships: 
  • Friedrich Schiefer Emissionshaus AG, Landshut (until 7 November 2008) 
  • EGC EUROGROUP CONSULTING AG, Bad Homburg (since 26 March 2008)

Prof. Jobst w. Plog, lawyer, hamburg 
 Other supervisory board memberships:
  • Wall AG, Berlin (from 1 January 2009)

the members of the Supervisory Board of CtS ag received emoluments totalling eur 80 thousand 
and reimbursed expenses of eur 1 thousand for the 2008 financial year.

Klaus-peter Schulenberg 

volker Bischoff 

Christian alexander ruoff

Total

Name

600,000

250,000

250,000

1,100,000

Fixed salary

[EUR]

10,951

18,152

16,549

45,652

Benefits 

[EUR]

300,000

105,000

105,000

510,000

Management 

Bonus 

[EUR]

Total 

[EUR]

910,951

373,152

371,549

1,655,652
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20. partiCipating perSOnS

the company received notifications under § 21 (1) wphg (Securities trading act) concerning partici-
pations exceeding 3% or 5% of the voting rights, and participations increasing beyond or falling below 
3% or 5% of the voting rights.

J.p. Morgan Securities ltd., london, uK, notified the company on 10 July 2008 that highbridge Capital 
Management llC, new york, uSa, exceeded the 5% threshold on 7 July 2008, that its share of voting 
rights in CtS ag now amounts to 5.02% and that these voting rights are allocated in accordance with 
§ 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

J.p. Morgan Securities ltd., london, uK, notified the company on 10 July 2008 that JpMorgan asset 
Management holdings inc., new york, uSa, exceeded the 5% threshold on 7 July 2008, that its share of 
voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 5.02% and that these voting rights are allocated in accordance 
with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg, in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg.

J.p. Morgan Securities ltd., london, uK, notified the company on 10 July 2008 that JpMorgan Chase 
& Co., new york, uSa, exceeded the 5% threshold on 7 July 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS 
ag now amounts to 5.08%, that 0.06% of these voting rights are allocated in accordance with § 22 (1) 
1 no. 1 wphg and that 5.02% of these voting rights are allocated in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 
wphg in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg. 

Fil investment Management limited, hildenborough, uK, notified the company on 1 September 2008 
that it exceeded the 3% threshold on 29 august 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now 
amounts to 3.02%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil investment Management limited in 
accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg.

Fil limited, hamilton hMCX, Bermuda, notified the company on 1 September 2008 that it exceeded 
the 3% threshold on 29 august 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 3.02%, 
and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil limited in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

Fil investments international, hildenborough, uK, notified the company on 9 September 2008 that it 
exceeded the 3% threshold on 8 September 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts 
to 3.03%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil investment international in accordance with 
§ 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

Fil investment Management limited, hildenborough, uK, notified the company on 28 november 2008 
that it exceeded the 5% threshold on 27 november 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now 
amounts to 5.0023%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil investment Management limited 
in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg.

Fil limited, hamilton hMCX, Bermuda, notified the company on 28 november 2008 that it exceeded 
the 5% threshold on 27 november 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 
5.0023%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil limited in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 
wphg.
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Fil limited, hamilton hMCX, Bermuda, notified the company on 7 January 2009 that it fell below the 
5% threshold on 6 January 2009, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 4.91%, and 
that these voting rights are allocated to Fil limited in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

Fil investment Management limited, hildenborough, uK, notified the company on 7 January 2009 that 
it fell below the 5% threshold on 6 January 2009, that its share of voting rights in CtS eventim ag now 
amounts to 4.91%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil investment Management limited in 
accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg.

william Blair & Company llC, Chicago, uSa, notified the company on 3 March 2009 that it fell below 
the 3% threshold on 27 February 2009, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 2.65% 
and that the voting rights are allocated to william Blair & Company llC, Chicago, uSa, in accordance 
with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

Mr. Klaus-peter Schulenberg, Bremen, held 50.07% of the voting rights in the company as at 31 
december 2008.

the Management Board of CtS ag released the consolidated financial statements to the Supervisory 
Board on 13 March 2009.

 
21. aSSuranCe By legal repreSentativeS

to the best of our knowledge, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
group’s earnings performance, financial position and cash flow, in accordance with the applicable 
reporting principles, and that the combined management report presents the course of business, includ-
ing the group’s profits and situation, in a way that accurately reflects actual circumstances and truthfully 
describes the main opportunities and risks associated with the group’s expected development.

Bremen, 13 March 2009 
CtS eventiM aktiengesellschaft

Christian alexander ruoffvolker BischoffKlaus-peter Schulenberg
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22. auditOr’S repOrt

we have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the CtS eventiM aktienges-
ellschaft, Munich, comprising the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement of shareholders’ 
equity, the cash flow statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with 
the group management report, which is combined with the management report of the company, for the 
business year from 1 January to 31 december 2008. the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the combined management report in accordance with the iFrSs, as adopted by the eu, and 
the additional requirements of german commercial law pursuant to article 315a (1) of the german Com-
mercial Code (handelsgesetzbuch – hgB) are the responsibility of the Company’s Management Board. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report based on our audit.

we conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with article 317 hgB 
and the german generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 
institut der wirtschaftsprüfer (idw – institute of public auditors in germany). those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the 
net assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accord-
ance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the combined management report are 
detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal 
environment of the group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the 
determination of audit procedures. the effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system 
and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. the audit 
includes assessing the annual financial statements of the those entities included in consolidation, the 
determination of the entities included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used 
and significant estimates made by the Company’s Management Board, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report. we believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit did not lead to any reservations. 

in our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with the 
iFrSs as adopted by the eu and with the additional requirements of german commercial law pursuant 
to article 315a (1) hgB, and gives a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations of the group in accordance with these provisions. the combined management report is con-
sistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the group’s 
position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Osnabrück, 16 March 2009

aktiengesellschaft 
wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(prof. dr. n. winkeljohann) 
german public auditor

(dr. g. Solfrian) 
german public auditor
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finAnCiAl stAtements Cts Ag 2008

BALANCE ShEET OF CTS AG AS AT 31 dECEMBER 2008 (hGB)

A. PROPERTy PLANT ANd EQUIPMENT

 I. Intangible assets 

  1. Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights

   and assets, and licences in such rights and assets 

  2. goodwill 

  3. payments on account

 II. Fixed assets 

  1. land, land rights and buildings, including buildings on 

   third-party land 

  2. technical equipment, plant and machinery 

  3. Other facilities, operating and office equipment

 III. Investments 

  1. Shares in affiliated companies

  2. Companies in which participations are held

 

B.  CURRENT ASSETS

 I. Inventories 

  1. Finished products and goods

  2. payments on account

 II. Receivables and other assets 

  1. trade receivables

  2. receivables from affiliated companies 

  3. receivables from companies in which participations are held 

  4. Other assets

 III. Marketable securities 

  1. treasury stock

  2. Other securities

  

 IV. Cheques, cash in hand and bank balances

C. PREPAId EXPENSES ANd ACCRUEd INCOME 

 Total assets

31.12.2008

[EUR]

7,013,926

2,125,953

383,076

9,522,955

75,484

372,085

1,390,309

1,837,878

53,394,293

575,956

53,970,249

575,589

12,422

588,011

9,241,197

7,267,978

40,965

1,416,690

17,966,830

57,638

13,634,312

13,691,950

48,143,389

214,108

145,935,370

31.12.2007

[EUR]

8,704,687

1,798,883

986,884

11,490,454

65,530

257,597

1,119,092

1,442,219

59,841,242

718,292

60,559,534

1,224,609

45,372

1,269,981

10,925,338

9,888,225

117,934

1,256,557

22,188,054

52,069

0

52,069

88,572,966

228,990

185,804,267

ASSETS 

8.
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A. Shareholders’ equity 

 

 I. Share capital 

 II. Capital reserve 

 III. Reserve for treasury stock 

 IV. Balance sheet profit

 

B. Provisons 

 

 1. tax provisions 

 2. Other provisions

 

C. Liabilities 

 

 1. liabilities to banks 

 2. trade payables 

 3. liabilities to affiliated companies 

 4. liabilities to companies in which participations are held 

 5. Other liabilities

 

 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities

31.12.2008

[EUR]

24,000,000

23,820,894

57,638

38,536,936

86,415,468

5,150,562

2,716,936

7,867,498

0

3,338,579

351,714

0

47,962,111

51,652,404

145,935,370

31.12.2007

[EUR]

24,000,000

23,820,894

52,069

49,982,731

97,855,694

5,153,512

4,517,400

9,670,912

5,000,000

4,180,857

333,359

940,641

67,822,804

78,277,661

185,804,267

ShAREhOLdERS’ EQUITy ANd LIABILITIES
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INCOME STATEMENT CTS AG FOR ThE PERIOd FROM 
1 JANUARy TO 31 dECEMBER 2008 (hGB)

1. revenue 

2. Cost of sales 

3. Gross profit 

 

4. Selling expenses 

5. general administrative expenses  

6. Other operating income 

7. Other operating expenses 

8. income from companies in which participations are held 

9. income from profit transfer agreements 

10. Other interest and similar income 

11. depreciation on current marketable securities  

12. interest and similar expenses 

13. Profit from ordinary business acitivities 

 

14. taxes on income 

15. Other taxes 

16. Net income for the year

2008

[EUR]

54,881,636

-21,967,607

32,914,029

-10,234,809

-4,217,695

3,734,238

-2,430,033

4,876,930

1,868,923

1,662,377

-5,435

-41,044

28,127,481

-9,640,187

-2,863

18,484,431

2007

[EUR]

71,861,730

-30,502,811

41,358,919

-11,055,909

-4,624,626

2,821,351

-2,794,184

2,939,384

2,160,235

2,154,454

-5,568

-436,820

32,517,236

-9,311,568

-6,507

23,199,161
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nOteS tO the FinanCial StateMentS FOr the 2008 BuSineSS year

 
1. preparatiOn OF the annual FinanCial StateMentS

the annual financial statements for the 2008 financial year were prepared in accordance with the 
german Commercial Code (handelsgesetzbuch – hgB), the Stock Corporation act (aktiengesetz - 
aktg) and the articles of incorporation. CtS eventiM ag (hereinafter: CtS ag) is a large corporate 
enterprise within the meaning of § 267 (3) hgB. Optional disclosures are made in the notes in order to 
maintain clarity and transparency. all amounts are rounded to the nearest euro.

 
2. general diSClOSureS On aCCOunting and valuatiOn 
2.1 layOut

the figures for the preceding year were retained in unchanged form.

the layout of the balance sheet complies with that specified in § 266 hgB in conjunction with § 152 
aktg; the income statement conforms to the german form of income statement showing ‘cost of sales 
method’, pursuant to § 275 (3) hgB in conjunction with § 158 aktg.

 
2.2 valuatiOn

no changes were made to the valuation and depreciation methods applied in the previous year.

Intangible and fixed assets are valued at purchase cost or cost of sales, including ancillary expenses, 
minus systematic depreciation and amortization.

the recognised goodwill from bringing in the ticketing business is subject to systematic amortization 
based on an estimated useful life of 15 years. the trademark rights obtained by acquiring the ‘getgo.de’ 
internet portal in the year 2002 are amortized over a period of 10 years. the distribution rights obtained 
in 2006 by acquiring CtS eventim Sports gmbh, hamburg, are amortized over a period of five years. 
the ‘global ticketing System’ capitalised in 2007 in the course of implementing international require-
ments is amortized over a useful life of 12 years.

Shares in affiliated companies and companies in which participations are held are valued at 
acquisition cost, including ancillary costs.

Inventories are valued at purchase cost, taking ancillary expenses into account, or at the lower market 
prices. the principles of loss-free valuation were observed.

Receivables and other assets are valued at their nominal value minus adjustments for all discernible 
risks. a sufficient overall value adjustment of 1% was made on the net receivables in order to cover the 
general default and credit risk.

Shareholders’ equity was stated at nominal value.
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Provisions were made in appropriate measure to cover discernible risks and contingencies, in accord-
ance with the principles of prudent business judgement.

Liabilities are shown at redemption value.

 
2.3 CurrenCy tranSlatiOn

receivables and other assets are carried at the selling rate applicable on the balance sheet date or at 
the lower transaction rate. liabilities are carried at the buying rate on the balance sheet date or at the 
higher transaction price.
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3. nOteS and COMMentS On SpeCiFiC iteMS OF  
 the annual FinanCial StateMentS 
3.1 BalanCe Sheet

analySiS OF aSSetS FOr the periOd FrOM 1 January tO 31 deCeMBer 2008 (hgB)

I. Intangible assets

 

 1. Concessions, industrial property rights and  

  similar rights and assets, and licenses in such  

  rights and assets 

 2. goodwill

 3. payments on account 

II. Fixed assets

 1. land, land rights and buildings,  

  including buildings on  

  third-party land 

 2. technical equipment, plant and machinery 

 3. Other facilities, operating and  

  office equipment

 

III. Investments 

 

 1. Shares in affiliated companies

 2. Companies in which participations are held 

 

 

Total

29,495,145

4,906,054

383,076

34,784,275

99,533

572,445

6,953,615

7,625,593

53,394,293

575,956

53,970,249

96,380,117

3,156,128

926,951

4,083,079

508,351

508,351

6,446,949

142,336

6,589,285

11,180,715

63,968

63,968

48,448

48,448

0

112,416

323,143

-323,143

0

0

0

0

32,910,448

4,906,054

986,884

38,803,386

99,533

572,445

7,413,518

8,085,496

59,841,242

718,292

60,559,534

107,448,416

Status

01.01.2008

[EUR]

Status 

31.12.2008

[EUR]

disposals

[EUR]

Additions 

[EUR]

Reclassifi-

cations

[EUR]

Purchase cost / Cost of sales
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22,481,219

2,780,101

0

25,261,320

24,049

200,360

5,563,306

5,787,715

0

0

0

31,049,035

Status

01.01.2008

[EUR]

63,945

63,945

38,628

38,628

0

102,573

disposals

[EUR]

1,788,487

327,070

2,115,557

9,954

114,488

769,748

894,190

0

3,009,747

Additions 

[EUR]

24,205,761

3,107,171

0

27,312,932

34,003

314,848

6,294,426

6,643,277

0

0

0

33,956,209

Status 

31.12.2008

[EUR]

Accumulative depreciation and amortization

7,013,926

2,125,953

383,076

9,522,955

75,484

372,085

1,390,309

1,837,878

53,394,293

575,956

53,970,249

65,331,082

8,704,687

1,798,883

986,884

11,490,454

65,530

257,597

1,119,092

1,442,219

59,841,242

718,292

60,559,534

73,492,207

Status

31.12.2008

[EUR]

Status 

31.12.2007

[EUR]

Carrying values
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the eur 11.181 million in additions to assets mainly comprise additions to intangible assets (eur 
4.083 million) and to financial assets (eur 6.589 million). the additions to intangible assets result pri-
marily from further development of the global ticketing System (eur 3.162 million). the additions to 
financial assets during the reporting year relate to the acquisition of shares in subsidiaries.

Receivables and other assets, at eur 1.107 million, have a remaining term of one to five years.

Receivables from affiliated companies include trade receivables amounting to eur 661 thousand.

the treasury stock included in marketable securities comprises 2,175 shares. these shares were 
purchased on 31 July 2007 at a price of eur 28.99 per share and represent 0.009% of the share capital. 
the nominal amount of share capital they represent is eur 2,175. this treasury stock was purchased 
on the basis of authorisation by the Shareholders’ Meeting, to serve as invested capital or for payment 
of purchase prices in the event of mergers, business acquisitions or the acquisition of holdings in other 
companies.

Prepaid expenses and accrued income mainly comprise eur 39 thousand in prepaid commission 
expenses (prior year: eur 76 thousand), eur 45 thousand in maintenance expenses (prior year: eur 
58 thousand) and eur 61 thousand in promotion expenses (prior year: eur 25 thousand).

the annual Shareholders’ Meeting of the company held on 23 august 2005 resolved to increase the 
share capital of CtS ag, previously amounting to eur 12,000,000, by adding an additional eur 
12,000,000 from reserves. the share capital increase was registered at the Munich local Court on 6 
October 2005, and the new no-par value bearer shares were credited to shareholder depots on 30 Octo-
ber 2005. as at the closing date, the company had thus issued 24,000,000 no-par value bearer shares. 
each share represents an arithmetic share in the share capital of eur 1.00.

as at the balance sheet date, authorised capital amounted to eur 12,000,000. authorisation is 
granted until 31 July 2009. By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 18 august 2004, the Manage-
ment Board is authorised to increase the share capital of the company on one or more occasions in the 
period up to 31 July 2009, contingent on Supervisory Board approval, by issuing new shares against 
cash deposits or contributions in kind, the total increase not to exceed eur 6,000,000. the sharehold-
ers must be granted subscription rights to such new shares, but the Management Board is authorised to 
exclude such subscription rights, subject to Supervisory Board approval. at the Shareholders’ Meeting 
on 23 august 2005, the relevant authorisation was extended to eur 12,000,000 and thus adjusted to 
the increased share capital. no use has been made so far of this authorisation.

at the Shareholders’ Meeting on 21 January 2000, a contingent share capital increase of eur 
180,000 was agreed (contingent capital 2000/1). this increase shall be effected only to the extent that 
holders of options issued under the Stock Option plan on the basis of the authorisation granted on 21 
January 2000 exercise their stock options. the new shares participate in the profits of the company from 
the beginning of the financial year in which the stock options are exercised. the Management Board is 
authorised, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, to specify the further details of the contingent 
capital increase and its implementation. as a consequence of the shareholders’ resolution on 23 august 
2005 to increase the share capital to eur 24,000,000, this contingent share capital has increased 
accordingly to eur 360,000 in accordance with § 218 sentence 1 aktg.
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the annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on 15 May 2008 authorised the Management Board to issue 
stock options and convertible bonds to a total value of up to eur 275 million and with a maximum term 
of 20 years, conditional on Supervisory Board approval, by 14 May 2013, to grant the holders option and 
conversion rights to up to 11,000,000 new no-par bearer shares in the company, equal to share capital 
of up to eur 11,000,000, and to exclude shareholders, within legally permitted limits, from subscribing 
to the convertible bonds under certain conditions. in view of the possible issue of shares to holders of 
option and conversion rights on the basis of this authorisation, the company’s articles of incorporation 
were amended simultaneously to create an additional eur 11,000,000 in contingent capital (‘contingent 
capital 2008’). no use has been made so far of this authorisation.

By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting held on 15 May 2008, the company was also authorised 
under § 71 (1) no. 8 aktg to purchase treasury stock amounting to up to 10% of the registered share 
capital as at 14 november 2009, and to use these for specific purposes as detailed in the resolution, 
partially with exclusion of subscription rights for shareholders. 

the countervalue paid for these shares may not exceed or fall below the traded price by more than 
10%. the applicable share price is defined as the mean closing price for shares on the Xetra trading 
platform during the last five trading days before publication of the offer to purchase the shares.

the volume of the offering may be limited. if the total subscription to the offering exceeds said volume, 
quotas shall be allocated in proportion to the number of shares offered in each case. the authorisation 
to repurchase own shares may be exercised under the aforementioned restrictions in partial amounts, 
on one or more occasions, and to pursue one or more aims.

the premium (§ 272 (2) no. 1 hgB) for the shares issued on the stock exchange is disclosed under 
capital reserve. as part of the share capital increase implemented in October 2005, eur 12,000,000 
of the capital reserve was converted to share capital, and 12,000,000 new no-par value bearer shares 
were issued.

the balance sheet profit developed as follows:

Balance sheet profit as at 31 december 2007/2006 

reserves for treasury stock 

net income for the year 2008/2007 

 

distributions in 2008/2007 

Balance sheet profit as at 31 december 2008/2007 

38,537

6

23,199

61,742

-11,759

49,983

31.12.2008 

[EUR`000]

31,870

-58

18,485

50,297

-11,760

38,537

31.12.2007 

[EUR`000]
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Other provisions include, amongst others, eur 1.379 million in provisions for personnel expenses 
(prior year: eur 1.098 million), eur 71 thousand for legal, consultancy and litigation expenses (prior 
year: eur 189 thousand), eur 786 thousand for outstanding supplier invoices (prior year: eur 350 
thousand), eur 1.594 million for outstanding commission (prior year: eur 562 thousand), eur 66 
thousand for outstanding credit notes (prior year: eur 26 thousand), eur 100 thousand for compen-
sation of the Supervisory Board members (prior year: eur 80 thousand), and eur 201 thousand for 
accounting and auditing expenses (prior year: eur 241 thousand).

Liabilities to affiliated companies, at eur 293 thousand, consist entirely of trade payables.

the remaining terms of the liabilities as at 31 december 2008 are shown in the following statement 
of liabilities:

Other liabilities, at eur 67.823 million, mainly comprise eur 60.951 million in liabilities from ticket 
revenues that have yet been invoiced (prior year: eur 40.368 million). this increase in liabilities in 
respect of ticket revenue that has not yet been invoiced results primarily from pre-sales for future tours 
(for example the aC/dC tour in 2009 that entered pre-sales at the end of 2008). the liabilities from ticket 
revenues that have not yet been invoiced are covered by equivalent bank balances.

[EUR]

Total 

 

[EUR]

Between  

one and  

five years

up to  

one year

[EUR] [EUR]

Remaining termStatement of liabilities

liabilities to banks

trade payables

liabilities to affiliated companies

liabilities to companies in which participations are held

Other liabilities

Liabilities, total

1) from taxes 
2) for social security

4,500,000
(2007: eur 0)

1,051,000
(2007: eur 2.102 m)

5,551,000

1) 2,010,702
(2007: eur 2.155 m)

2) 2,049
(2007: eur 0.009 m)

500,000
(2007: eur 0)

4,180,857
(2007: eur 3.339 m)

333,359
(2007: eur 0.352 m)

940,641
(2007: eur 0 )

66,771,804
(2007: eur 45.860 m)

72,726,661

5,000,000 
(2007: eur 0)

4,180,857
(2007: eur 3.339 m)

333,359
(2007: eur 0.352 m)

940,641
(2007: eur 0)

67,822,804
(2007: eur 47.962 m)

 

78,277,661
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3.2 inCOMe StateMent

Revenue is broken down as follows:

revenue was mainly generated on the domestic german market. 

Material expenses comprised the following items, pursuant to § 275 (2) no. 5 hgB:

Personnel expenses comprised the following items, pursuant to § 275 (2) no. 6 hgB:

ticket revenue

Other ticket revenue 

 data line charges 

 System rental / maintenance / installation 

 Sales of merchandise 

 package tours 

 Other

61,463

2,869

2,860

258

2,500

1,912

71,862

2008 

[EUR`000]

14,774

0

289

-122

1,273

766

16,980

Change 

[EUR`000]

46,689

2,869

2,571

380

1,227

1,146

54,882

2007 

[EUR`000]

Cost of purchased merchandise 

Cost of purchased services

-87

8,461

8,374

Material expenses (according to type of expenditure method)

722

25,979

26,701

809

17,518

18,327

wages and salaries 

Social security contributions and expenses for pensions and employee support

Personnel expenses (according to type of expenditure method)

404

49

453

7,234

953

8,187

6,830

904

7,734

2008 

[EUR`000]

2008 

[EUR`000]

Change 

[EUR`000]

Change 

[EUR`000]

2007 

[EUR`000]

2007 

[EUR`000]
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 the selling expenses for the financial year include eur 327 thousand in full amortization of goodwill 
(prior year: eur 327 thousand), eur 99 thousand in proportional amortization (51%) of the trademark 
rights (prior year: eur 99 thousand) of the acquired ‘getgo.de’ internet portal, as well as proportional 
depreciation and amortization of distribution rights (eur 536 thousand), software (eur 277 thousand) 
and fixed assets (eur 456 thousand). the remaining amount of proportional depreciation and amorti-
zation (49%) of these fixed and intangible assets is allocated to cost of sales or general administrative 
expenses.

Other operating income includes eur 169 thousand in non-periodic income from the reversal of 
provisions (prior year: eur 682 thousand) and eur 110 thousand in income from written-off liabilities 
(prior year: eur 313 thousand).

Other operating expenses include eur 326 thousand in non-periodic expenses from follow-up 
invoices (prior year: eur 99 thousand).

the eur 2.939 million in income from companies in which participations are held was generated 
entirely by affiliated companies (prior year: eur 4.841 million).

Other interest and similar income includes eur 276 thousand in income from affiliated companies 
(prior year: eur 126 thousand).

Taxes on income include eur 4.546 million in municipal trade tax (prior year: eur 4.330 million), 
eur 4.516 million in corporation tax (prior year: eur 5.034 million), eur 248 thousand in solidarity 
supplement to corporation tax for the 2008 financial year (prior year: eur 277 thousand) and eur 2 
thousand in tax expense for previous years (prior year: eur 2 thousand).

Other taxes amounting to eur 7 thousand (prior year: eur 3 thousand) comprise vehicle tax expenses. 

 
4. Other diSClOSureS 
4.1 COntingent liaBilitieS and Other FinanCial OBligatiOnS

as at the reporting date, there were contingent liabilities amounting to eur 31.756 million (prior year: 
eur 26.811 million).

these obligations are partly conditional bids amounting to eur 4.370 million (prior year: eur 4.209 
million) that CtS ag made in order to acquire additional shares in subsidiaries. the obligation resulting 
from conditional purchase offers relate to put options that have not yet been exercised. 

purchase-price obligations amounting to eur 3.701 million exist in respect of a foreign participating 
interest acquired in the reporting year. this obligation was valued on the basis of future operating results 
of the subsidiary.

another contingent liability concerns a purchase-price obligation entered into by eventim online hold-
ing gmbh, Bremen. this obligation depends on future operating results of the subsidiary and is esti-
mated at eur 16.675 million (prior year: eur 16.988) as at the balance sheet date.
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there is also a contingent liability ensuing from a purchase-price obligation on the part of the MeduSa 
Music group gmbh, Bremen. the latter obligation depends on future operating results of the subsidi-
ary and is estimated at eur 5.810 million (prior year: eur 5.614 million) as at the balance sheet date.

there is a contingent liability resulting from a eur 1.200 million loan commitment made to a subsidiary.

the company also bears liabilities for debts owed to banks by CtS eventim Solutions gmbh, Bremen, 
as at the balance sheet date, CtS eventim Solutions gmbh has no liabilities to banks.

Other financial obligations relating to short- and medium-term rental and lease contracts and other 
contractual agreements amount to eur 5.300 million (prior year: eur 1.729 million). Of that total, eur 
1.798 million (prior year: eur 999 thousand) are due within one year. Future rental obligations account 
for eur 3.816 million (prior year: eur 1.150 million), leasing obligations for eur 164 thousand (prior 
year: eur 143 thousand) and other obligations for eur 1.320 million (prior year: eur 436 thousand).

 
4.2 apprOpriatiOn OF earningS

in the 2008 financial year, CtS ag generated eur 23.199 million in net income (calculated according 
to hgB). the Management Board and Supervisory Board propose to the Shareholders’ Meeting that a 
dividend of eur 14.639 million (eur 0.61 per share) be distributed and that the remaining eur 8.560 
million be carried forward to the new account.

 
4.3 liSt OF SuBSidiarieS

gSO holding gmbh, Bremen 

gSO gesellschaft für Softwareentwicklung  

und Organisation mbh & Co. Kg, Bremen* 

gSO verwaltungsgesellschaft mbh, Bremen 

ticket express gesellschaft zur herstellung  

und zum vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten mbh, vienna, austria 

ÖtS gesellschaft zum vertrieb elektronischer  

eintrittskarten mbh, Stainz, austria 

Ö-ticket-Südost, gesellschaft zur herstellung und zum  

vertrieb elektronischer eintrittskarten mbh, wiener neustadt, austria 

Ö-ticket nord west gmbh, vienna, austria 

Ö-ticket-nordost eintrittskartenvertrieb gmbh, tulln, austria 

ticket express hungary Kft., Budapest, hungary 

teX hungary Kft., Budapest, hungary 

eventim online holding gmbh, Bremen 

rp-eventiM gmbh, düsseldorf

CtS eventim Solutions gmbh, Bremen*

31.12.2008

Net income 

for the year

[EUR]

31.12.2008

Shareholders’ 

capital 

[EUR]

Nominal 

capital

[EUR]

Share 

[ in %]

583,990

0

-2,805

1,210,243

178,603

142,456

287,377

-10,238

24,451

45,843

-101,406

248

0

3,842,442

2,576,711

25,534

3,190,800

586,922

480,242

550,315

-4,281

38,000

73,112

13,900,525

48,375

231.203

50,000

501,000

25,000

36,336

36,336

37,000

36,336

37,000

20,291

59,354

25,000

25,000

226,250

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

86.0%

77.5%

66.7%

51.0%

50.1%

71.0%

71.0%

100.0%

51.0%

100.0%
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CtS eventim nederland B.v., amsterdam, netherlands 

CtS eventim Sports gmbh, hamburg 

eventim Sports Consulting gmbh, Bremen 

CtS eventim Schweiz ag, Basle, Switzerland 

Zritel o.o.o. Moscow, russia 

ticketOne S.p.a., Milan, italy 

panischi S.r.l., Milan, italy 

t.O.S.t. ticketone Sistemi teatrali S.r.l., Milan, italy 

tSC eventiM ticket & tourist-Service-Center gmbh, Bremen 

Cardplus Oy, helsinki, Finland 

lippupiste Oy, tampere, Finland 

CtS eventim Schweden aB, Stockholm, Sweden 

MeduSa Music group gmbh, Bremen 

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur holding gmbh, Frankfurt/Main 

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur gmbh & Co. Kg, Frankfurt/Main* 

Marek lieberberg Konzertagentur verwaltungs gmbh, Frankfurt/Main 

lS Konzertagentur gmbh, vienna, austria 

greensave gmbh, würzburg 

peter rieger Konzertagentur holding gmbh, Cologne 

peter rieger Konzertagentur gmbh & Co. Kg, Cologne* 

peter rieger verwaltungs gmbh, Cologne 

FKp Scorpio Konzertproduktionen gmbh, hamburg 

Crp Konzertagentur gmbh, hamburg 

palazzo produktionen gmbh, hamburg 

palazzo produktionen gmbh, vienna, austria 

palazzo producties B.v., amsterdam, netherlands 

palazzo produktionen Berlin gmbh, hamburg 

Semmelconcerts veranstaltungsservice gmbh, Bayreuth 

argO Konzerte gmbh, würzburg 

pgM promotors group Munich Konzertagentur gmbh, Munich 

dirk Becker entertainment gmbh, Cologne 

act entertainment ag, Basle, Switzerland 

Show-Factory entertainment gmbh, Bregenz, austria 

OCtOpuS gmbh agentur für Kommunikation, hamburg 

eventiM popkurs hamburg gemeinnützige gmbh, hamburg 

greenfield Festival ag, hünenberg, Switzerland

98,837

0

-2,052

-110,514

465,166

582,993

32,688

103,261

347,194

0

213,603

-336,864

8,078,728

8,919,797

0

0

303,086

9,322

-389,298

0

2,035

1,357,379

240,244

-2,400,752

353,295

-156,319

-857,590

2,860,629

1,051,464

162,044

144,676

201,528

497,758

35,471

-1,947

717,795

-173,280

725,826

-11,541

-89,534

1,274,229

5,229,394

82,983

316,982

392,702

26,362

868,241

20,160

27,229,560

12,922,193

158.204

28,870

531,901

108,046

3,733,363

775.000

31,407

539,230

180,876

-2,373,817

497,127

-455,597

-1,419,109

1,116,663

372,971

282,181

497,492

343,271

552,910

189,002

498,053

16,296

18,200

25,000

25,000

63,068

375,463

4,998,702

10,200

90,000

125,000

10,091

8,000

10,296

11,127,250

50,000

100,000

25,000

50,000

25,000

50,000

50,000

25,000

25,565

25,000

50,000

35,000

18,000

25,000

25,565

76,694

25,000

25,000

124,250

35,000

25,000

500,000

67,196

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

51.0%

49.8%

100.0%

60.0%

100.0%

100.0%

70.0%

100.0%

94.4%

51.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

49.0%

70.0%

100.0%

100.0%

50.2%

50.2%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

50.2%

50.2%

100.0%

83.0%

51.0%

51.0%

100.0%

100.0%

50.0%

the list of subsidiaries comprises the group of entities included in consolidation of the CtS group. 

* gSO gesellschaft für Softwareentwicklung und Organisation mbh & Co. Kg, Bremen, Marek lieber-
berg Konzertagentur gmbh & Co. Kg, Frankfurt/Main, peter rieger Konzertagentur gmbh & Co. Kg, 
Cologne, and CtS eventim Solutions gmbh, Bremen make use of the exemption option provided by  
§ 264 (3) and § 264b hgB regarding publication of the annual financial statements.

31.12.2008

Net income 

for the year

[EUR]

31.12.2008

Shareholders’ 

capital 

[EUR]

Nominal 

capital

[EUR]

Share 

[ in %]
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a control and profit transfer agreement exists with CtS eventim Solutions gmbh, Bremen. the amount 
of income generated from the profit transfer agreement in the reporting year was eur 2.160 million 
(prior year: eur 1.869 million). 

a profit transfer agreement was also concluded in the 2007 business year between CtS eventim 
Sports gmbh, hamburg, and gSO gesellschaft für Softwareentwicklung und Organisation gmbh & 
Co. Kg, Bremen. the resultant earnings generated by the latter amounted to eur 928 thousand in the 
reporting year (prior year: eur 1.268 million).

 
4.4 eXeCutive BOdieS OF CtS ag

the members of the Management Board in the financial year were as follows:

 Klaus-Peter Schulenberg, Bremen   – Chief executive Officer –

 dipl.-Ökonom Volker Bischoff, Stuhr

 dipl.-Betriebswirt Christian Alexander Ruoff, Bremen

the amounts of compensation paid to individual members of the Management Board were as follows:

Klaus-peter Schulenberg 

volker Bischoff 

Christian alexander ruoff

Total

Total 

[EUR]

910,951

373,152

371,549

1,655,652

300,000

105,000

105,000

510,000

10,951

18,152

16,549

45,652

600,000

250,000

250,000

1,100,000

Fixed salary

[EUR]

Benefits 

[EUR]

Management Bonus 

[EUR]

Name
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the members of the Supervisory Board in the 2008 financial year were as follows:

Edmund hug, businessman, Oberstenfeld   – Chairman –
 Other supervisory board memberships: 
  • schlott gruppe AG, Freudenstadt 
  • Lidl & Schwarz GmbH, Neckarsulm (until 31 December 2008) 
  • Scholz AG, Aalen

dr. Peter haßkamp, lawyer, Bremen   – vice-Chairman –
 Other supervisory board memberships: 
  • Friedrich Schiefer Emissionshaus AG, Landshut (until 7 November 2008) 
  • EGC EUROGROUP CONSULTING AG, Bad Homburg (since 26 March 2008)

Prof. Jobst w. Plog, lawyer, hamburg 
 Other supervisory board memberships:
  • Wall AG, Berlin (from 1 January 2009)

the members of the Supervisory Board of CtS ag received emoluments totalling eur 80 thousand as 
well as reimbursed expenses of eur 1 thousand for the 2008 financial year.

 
4.5 eMplOyeeS

On average, 141 persons were employed by the company during the year. these were all salaried 
employees.

 
4.6 deClaratiOn COnCerning the COrpOrate gOvernanCe COde

the declaration by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of the company pursuant to  
§ 161 aktg, regarding the extent to which the recommendations of the german Corporate governance 
Code have been and are being complied with, and which recommendations were not or are not applied, 
was submitted in the financial year 2008 and made permanently available to the shareholders on the 
company’s website.

 
4.7 partiCipating perSOnS

the company received notifications under § 21 (1) wphg (Securities trading act) concerning partici-
pations exceeding 3% or 5% of the voting rights, and participations increasing beyond or falling below 
3% or 5% of the voting rights.

J.p. Morgan Securities ltd., london, uK, notified the company on 10 July 2008 that highbridge Capital 
Management llC, new york, uSa, exceeded the 5% threshold on 7 July 2008, that its share of voting 
rights in CtS ag now amounts to 5.02% and that these voting rights are allocated in accordance with 
§ 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.
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J.p. Morgan Securities ltd., london, uK, notified the company on 10 July 2008 that JpMorgan asset 
Management holdings inc., new york, uSa, exceeded the 5% threshold on 7 July 2008, that its share of 
voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 5.02% and that these voting rights are allocated in accordance 
with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg, in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg.

J.p. Morgan Securities ltd., london, uK, notified the company on 10 July 2008 that JpMorgan Chase 
& Co., new york, uSa, exceeded the 5% threshold on 7 July 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS 
ag now amounts to 5.08%, that 0.06% of these voting rights are allocated in accordance with § 22 (1) 
1 no. 1 wphg and that 5.02% of these voting rights are allocated in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 
wphg in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg. 

Fil investment Management limited, hildenborough, uK, notified the company on 1 September 2008 
that it exceeded the 3% threshold on 29 august 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now 
amounts to 3.02%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil investment Management limited in 
accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg.

Fil limited, hamilton hMCX, Bermuda, notified the company on 1 September 2008 that it exceeded 
the 3% threshold on 29 august 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 3.02%, 
and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil limited in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

Fil investments international, hildenborough, uK, notified the company on 9 September 2008 that it 
exceeded the 3% threshold on 8 September 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts 
to 3.03%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil investment international in accordance with 
§ 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

Fil investment Management limited, hildenborough, uK, notified the company on 28 november 2008 
that it exceeded the 5% threshold on 27 november 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now 
amounts to 5.0023%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil investment Management limited 
in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg.

Fil limited, hamilton hMCX, Bermuda, notified the company on 28 november 2008 that it exceeded 
the 5% threshold on 27 november 2008, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 
5.0023%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil limited in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 
wphg.

Fil limited, hamilton hMCX, Bermuda, notified the company on 7 January 2009 that it fell below the 
5% threshold on 6 January 2009, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 4.91%, and 
that these voting rights are allocated to Fil limited in accordance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

Fil investment Management limited, hildenborough, uK, notified the company on 7 January 2009 that 
it fell below the 5% threshold on 6 January 2009, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts 
to 4.91%, and that these voting rights are allocated to Fil investment Management limited in accord-
ance with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg in combination with § 22 (1) 2 wphg.
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william Blair & Company llC, Chicago, uSa, notified the company on 3 March 2009 that it fell below 
the 3% threshold on 27 February 2009, that its share of voting rights in CtS ag now amounts to 2.65% 
and that the voting rights are allocated to william Blair & Company llC, Chicago, uSa, in accordance 
with § 22 (1) 1 no. 6 wphg.

Mr. Klaus-peter Schulenberg, Bremen, held 50.07% of the voting rights in the company as at  
31 december 2008.

 
4.8 auditOr eXpenSeS

in the 2008 financial year, expenses amounting to eur 140 thousand in auditing fees and eur 162 
thousand for other services were recognised.

 
4.9 aSSuranCe By legal repreSentativeS

to the best of our knowledge, the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the company’s 
earnings performance, financial position and cash flow, in accordance with the applicable reporting 
principles, and that the combined management report presents the course of business, including the 
company’s profits and situation, in a way that accurately reflects actual circumstances and truthfully 
describes the main opportunities and risks associated with the company’s expected development.

Bremen, 13 March 2009 
CtS eventiM ag

Christian alexander ruoffvolker BischoffKlaus-peter Schulenberg
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5. auditOr’S repOrt

we have audited the annual financial statements, comprising the balance sheet, the income state-
ment and the notes to the financial statements, together with the management report of CtS eventiM 
aktiengesellschaft, Munich, which is combined with the group management report, for the business year 
from 1 January to 31 december 2008. the maintenance of the books and records and the preparation of 
the annual financial statements and the combined management report in accordance with german com-
mercial law are the responsibility of the Company’s Management Board. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the annual financial statements, together with the bookkeeping system and the combined 
management report on the basis of our audit.

we conducted our audit on the financial statements in accordance with § 317 hgB and the german 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements as promulgated by the institut der 
wirtschaftsprüfer (idw- institute of public auditors in germany). those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the representation of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations in the annual financial statements in accordance with (ger-
man) principles of proper accounting and in the combined management report are detected with reason-
able assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and of the economic and legal environment of the 
Company, and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of 
audit procedures. the effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence 
supporting the disclosures in the annual financial statements and in the combined management report 
are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. the audit includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Company’s Management Board, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual financial statements and the combined man-
agement report. we believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit did not lead to any reservations. 

in our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the annual financial statements comply with the legal 
requirements and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations 
of the Company in accordance with (german) principles of proper accounting. the combined manage-
ment report is consistent with the annual financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of 
the Company’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Osnabrück, 16 March 2009

aktiengesellschaft 
wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(prof. dr. n. winkeljohann) 
german public auditor

(dr. g. Solfrian) 
german public auditor
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